Copyright is owned by the Author of the thesis. Permission is given for a copy to be downloaded by an individual for the purpose of research and private study only. The thesis may not be reproduced elsewhere without the permission of the Author.

A Narrative Inquiry into Primary Caregivers' Understanding of their Child's Psychological Assessment

A thesis presented in partial fulfilment for the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts
In
Psychology

At Massey University, Albany, Auckland, New Zealand.

Jessica Niemand 2010

Abstract

This study explores the ways in which primary caregivers experience the process of having their child psychologically assessed. The research uses a narrative methodology to explore the accounts of seven participants who have supported their child through a process of psychological assessment. Caregivers were interviewed and their interviews were transcribed and analysed by outlining the sequential order of events and the main themes of each of the participants' narratives. Individual stories were then combined to present the overarching themes that emerged from the study. The main themes include the following: suspected "diagnosis" and own expertise, seeing "inside" the child, bittersweet labels, questions of guilt and blame, the "good parent", the distant professionals, problems with communication, challenging the system, inadequate measures, over-assessed, caregiver as the defender and advocate and the helpful professional. This research contributes to the limited literature on client's perspectives of psychological intervention and is intended to improve clinicians understanding of this area.

Keywords: caregivers, assessment process, experience, perspective, child

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors, Kerry Gibson, Kerry Chamberlain and Bev Haarhoff for their support and encouragement through the writing of this thesis. Their input has been invaluable and I have always appreciated their enthusiasm in the project.

I also wish to thank the participants in my study who took the time to share their stories with me and contribute to my research.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge my family who have been a constant support and encouragement to me during this year and every year leading up to this point.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER	Р	AGE
1.	Introduction and Literature Review	1
	Common Psychological Problems Amongst Children	1
	Psychological Assessments from the Clinician's Perspective	3
	Child Assessment in New Zealand	5
	Discourses in which Psychological Assessment is embedded	8
	Eurocentric Discourses relevant to the Psychological	9
	Assessment of Children	
	Discourses around childhood	9
	Discourses around childhood development	10
	Discourses around intellectual functioning	11
	Discourses around appropriate behaviour	12
	Discourses around family relationships	13
	Discourses around children's social relationships	14
	Discourses around emotional development	15
	Laypeople's Potential Views on Psychological Assessment	16
	Aims and Rationale of this Research	17
	Summary	18
2.	Methodology and Method	20
	Theoretical Framework of the Research	20
	Qualitative Research	20
	Social Constructionism	20
	Methodology – Narrative theory	22
	Methodology	22
	What is Narrative?	22
	Narratives in Context	23
	The Functions of Narratives	23
	Characteristics of Narratives	24
	Multiple Interpretations of Narratives	25
	Narrative Research	25
	Narrative Analysis	25
	Issues of Generalisability. Validity and Reliability	26

	Reflexivity	28
	Personal Reflexivity	28
	Ethical Considerations	29
	Method	31
	Participants	31
	Procedure	32
	Interviews	32
	Questions	33
	Critique of Interviews	34
	Transcribing	35
	Data Analysis	36
	Analysis	36
	Summary	37
3.	Participant Narratives	38
	Anne: Gathering Ammunition	38
	Mary: "Total Faith"	42
	Kate: The Pursuit of 'Normality'	44
	Amy: In the Dark	49
	Emma: Guarding the Gates to a Heart	54
	Mark: Action Plans	62
	Jenna: Second Opinions	66
4.	General Themes Analysis	71
	Suspected "Diagnosis" and Own Expertise	71
	Seeing "Inside" the Child	74
	Bittersweet Labels	76
	Questions of Guilt and Blame	81
	The "Good Parent"	84
	The Distant Professional	85
	Problems with Communication	89
	Challenging the System	92
	Inadequate Measures	93
	The Over-Assessed Child	95
	The Caregiver as the Defender and Advocate	97
	The Helpful Professional	100

5.	Discussion and Suggestions for Future Research and Practice	102
	Similar Narrative Groups	102
	General Findings and Implications for Practice	103
	Future Research	110
	Challenge	111
	Conclusion	111
References		113
Appendices		128
Appendix A	Information Sheet	128
Appendix B	Participant Consent Form	133
Appendix C	Letter of Invitation	136
Appendix D	Interview Guidelines	137

Chapter One

Introduction and Literature Review

Psychological assessment has become an increasingly important tool in decision making around children's education and well-being (Reitman, 2006). Much has been written about psychological assessment and its value from the perspective of professionals (Reitman, 2006) but less is understood about how clients might experience this process or as in this case the caregivers of the children undergoing psychological assessment. The question that I ask in this study is: what is this process of psychological assessment like from the perspective of the primary caregivers of these children? What are their reasons for seeking a psychological assessment for their child and how do they understand it or envisage using the outcomes of the assessment process? This study uses a narrative inquiry methodology to better understand child psychological assessment from the perspective of the caregivers.

This chapter provides a background and context for this study and will begin with a brief definition of some of the more common diagnoses given to children today followed by an overview of what a psychological assessment is from the perspective of the clinicians administering them and within the context of Aotearoa/New Zealand. This is followed by an outline of those discourses that surround and inform the social construction of the psychological assessment of children. These include ideas about what Western societies say about childhood, childhood development, intellectual functioning, appropriate behaviour, family relationships, children's social relations and emotional development, all of which impact upon both clinicians and caregivers. Finally a rationale is presented for this study.

Common Psychological Problems amongst Children

New Zealand children are increasingly being assessed to diagnose a range of psychological problems including both those relating to mental health and education and learning. The Ministry of Health (1998) estimates that approximately 11 percent of children in New Zealand experience a disorder, including those of an intellectual or psychological

nature. Some of the more common of these will be described very briefly to provide a background understanding of these disorders.

The Ministry of Health (1998) notes that there is a rise in the incidence of mental health problems amongst children. The most common include depression, substance abuse, eating disorders and anti-social/disruptive behaviour disorders. Depression includes symptoms such as disturbances in eating patterns, sleep patterns, activity levels, concentration and thinking, decision making and energy as well as experiences of feeling guilty and regular thoughts of death or suicide (Sadock & Sadock, 2007, p.527-528). Substance abuse can be defined as the "use of any drug, usually by self-administration, in a manner that deviates from approved social or medical patterns" (Sadock & Sadock, 2007, p.384). Eating disorders include anorexia nervosa, or a dramatic reduction in body weight due to extreme restriction and/or purging of food resulting from a significant fear of becoming overweight, and bulimia nervosa, which involves cycles of binge eating followed by purging behaviours, such as induced vomiting, inappropriate use of laxatives and so forth (Sadock & Sadock, 2007). Finally, anti-social/disruptive behaviour disorders include the diagnoses of oppositional defiant disorder, in which children have angry outbursts, absolutely decline to abide by rules and display irritating behaviour which is not considered appropriate for the age level (Sadock & Sadock, 2007), and conduct disorder, which is defined as meeting the following criteria "physical aggression or threats of harm to people, destruction of their own property or that of others, theft or acts of deceit, and frequent violation of age-appropriate rules (Sadock & Sadock, 2007, p. 1220).

Some of the common diagnoses that are given to children in today's education system include dyslexia, autism spectrum disorder, ADHD and ADD. Firstly, there is a great deal of discussion around whether dyslexia is a "disability, difficulty or difference" relating to issues surrounding literacy and it is yet to be given a definite definition due to it being such a wide reaching topic of which there are a great many opinions (Pavey, Meehan, & Waugh, 2010, p. 6). Brock, Davis, and Christo (2009) compare a number of current definitions of dyslexia and find that on the whole it is considered to be a neurobiological condition and is therefore not influenced by environmental factors, for example teaching instruction. It also involves difficulties with the deciphering and recognition of words and the fluency with which this is done. Reading comprehension is also impacted. These

difficulties appear to be relatively isolated to literacy and do not extend to other academic tasks and other areas of "intelligence".

Secondly, autism spectrum disorder is the name given to a group of disorders that are classified under the umbrella of autism and with which there is a great deal of overlap. The New Zealand Ministry of Health (2008, p. 30) identifies these "subgroups" as being "classical autism", "Asperger's syndrome" and "pervasive developmental disorders". All three of these "subgroups" share common "characteristics" which include "impairment in the ability to understand and use verbal and non-verbal communication, impairment in the ability to understand social behaviour, which affects their ability to interact with other people, impairment in the ability to think and behave flexibly which may be shown in restricted, obsessional or repetitive activities" (Ministry of Health, 2008, p. 30). Although all individuals with autism spectrum disorder experience these difficulties there is a great deal of range in terms of their severity and in terms of the individuals' ability to function (Ministry of Health, 2008).

Thirdly, ADHD, or Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder, is defined by Brock, Jimmerson and Hansen (2009, p. 1) as being a "diagnostic category currently used to describe individuals with clinically significant problems with inattention and/or hyperactivity and impulsivity". ADHD is one of the most prevalent disorders among children today and can lead to a great deal of difficulty at school. ADD, Attention Deficit Disorder, is often used synonymously with ADHD and so is considered to be the same disorder (Peacock, 2002).

Psychological Assessments from the Clinicians' Perspective

Psychological assessment is increasingly being used as a tool in determining whether a child may or may not be experiencing some of the problems described above. Clinicians who administer psychological assessments are likely to have a clear understanding of what it is that they are wanting to achieve. Their understanding is backed by a large body of research in the area of psychological assessments. The literature defines assessment as being the preliminary phase in every clinical setting involving children and their families as it enables the clinician and clients to pinpoint the areas of concern, establish a clinical diagnosis if necessary and make recommendations towards the treatment of these problems while aiding the primary caregivers and children in their cooperation and

engagement with the treatment (American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 1997; La Greca, Kuttler, & Stone, 2001; Reitman, 2006).

Typically children are referred for assessments by teachers, caregivers or medical practitioners who feel that the child is presenting problematic behaviour or is experiencing difficulties in a variety of areas, such as learning difficulties (American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 1997). The clinicians will then investigate these concerns further through the use of the assessment process.

The main aims or goals of the assessment process according to clinicians' understanding, is not to provide treatment from which change can be expected but rather to acquire insight into the presenting problems (Kanfer, Eyberg, & Krahn, 1992). The literature recommends gaining the following information in order to formulate an accurate diagnosis and treatment plan for the child: (1) intellectual and academic functioning, (2) developmental level, (3) personality functioning, (4) family functioning, (5) social functioning, and (6) temperament and affect. This information can be obtained by a number of means including formal psychometric assessments and undertaking structured, or naturalistic, behavioural observations, which are particularly helpful when working with children with conduct problems and attention-deficit difficulties, as well as assessing parenting styles (La Greca et al., 2001). Interviewing the caregivers and child is also helpful since it assists in identifying the difficulties and arriving at a diagnosis as well as building rapport (La Greca et al., 2001). In addition to this contact with other agencies or organisations that may have provided support for the child or family at present or in the past assists in the information gathering process (American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 1997; Kanfer et al., 1992).

The American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry (1997) identify a number of steps involved in the assessment process. The first is interviewing the primary caregivers to discuss any expectations and concerns that they may have as well as obtaining information on the frequency, intensity, duration and circumstances in which the problematic behaviours take place and investigating the primary caregiver, child and others' attitudes toward the issues. The second step involves gaining an understanding of the child's developmental history, which includes facts such as peer relations, physical development and medical history, interests, hobbies and talents amongst others. This is

followed by an assessment of the family and community background of the child, for example the culture in which the child has been brought up. Fourthly, the clinician interviews the child the aim of which is to investigate the child's understanding of the problems and to assess their developmental and mental status, through observation of physical appearance, orientation to time, place and person, motor behaviour, ease of separation and so forth. During this time the clinician makes use of a number of carefully chosen standardised psychometric tests, which "exist for systematically recording and assessing the development of children with respect to various realms of adaptive functioning" (American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 1997, p. 12S). Fifthly, data is obtained on the family's medical and psychiatric history, for example have there been family members with mental illness and so forth. This is followed by a diagnostic formulation, which outlines the presenting problem as well as the predisposing, precipitating, perpetuating and protective factors involved in the case (Eells, 1997). Finally, the findings are communicated to the family and child and the recommendations are presented in a way that is easily understood by both the primary caregivers and the child. This presentation includes the strengths and abilities of the child as well as the difficulties in order to provide a holistic picture. Once permission has been given by the primary caregivers the findings are communicated to the referring parties or organisations (American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 1997).

From this it appears that clinicians have clear guidelines based on the current research on how a psychological assessment should be conducted. We cannot know for certain, however, whether or not this theory translates into their actual practice. Nevertheless it is likely that they will, however, be deriving many of their perceptions from these dominant practice guidelines.

Child Assessment in Aotearoa/New Zealand

While there are generally accepted views on the purpose and practice of psychological assessment each practitioner, service or country may re-interpret these in different ways. In New Zealand there is considerable variation in the way that the purpose of assessment is envisaged and the administration of psychological assessments on children are conducted (Annan, 2010). Various health-related departments and organisations publish more specific descriptions of the assessments used in their particular area, for example

mental health, education and correction services, and clinicians select and adapt assessments according to the context in which they practice (Annan, 2010). It is beyond the scope of this thesis to describe the various assessment forms used within these sectors. It is possible however when exploring these various procedures to see that the general assessment processes within New Zealand, much like the processes in other parts of the world, involve the use of carefully chosen standardised tests and diagnostic criteria, such as the DSM-IV, observation, collaboration with the child's family, including extended family, teachers and any other adults or agencies involved with the child and gathering information from them relating to the child and family's history and the child's school functioning, this may be done by means of formal interviewing (Jimerson, Annan, Skoket, & Renshaw, 2009; Ministry of Education, n.d.; Ministry of Health, 2001; The Werry Centre, 2009). New Zealand therefore appears to be following very similar assessment procedures to those in America (American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 1997). Jimerson et al. (2009) found however that on one point New Zealand differs from the rest of the world in that there exists a general discomfort with the use of psychometric tests that have been developed overseas and may therefore not be culturally appropriate for New Zealand. When psychometric tests are used these are usually supplemented with New Zealand material (Jimerson et al., 2009).

In particular, there is a great deal of discussion around the issue of intelligence testing within New Zealand. Olssen (1988, p. 29) suggests that there is a political agenda behind the mental testing of children and that it is "not based upon neutral criteria". He suggests that the use of mental tests, such as IQ tests, imply inherent intelligence or lack there of, which then allows for inequality within society and for some to be seen as advantaged and others disadvantaged. It also takes the blame for lack of performance off the school and onto individual children, who are seen to simply lack this natural ability. It is this thinking that provides the basis of the deficit model, which portrays the child who is experiencing difficulties as the problem; the teacher's role is then to attempt to change the child to better fit the environment (Thomson, Brown, Jones, Walker, Moore, Anderson, Davies, Medcalf, Glynn, & Koegel, 2003). The inclusion model however suggests that when a child is experiencing challenges in their learning it is as a result of failings within the learning environment (Thomson et, al., 2003). New Zealand psychologists and those in related professions tend to reject the deficit model in favour of ecological assessment, which emphasises the impact of environmental factors on children's learning (Bartleet, 2009;

Ministry of Education, 1998). Herbert and Morrison (2007) also point out that psychological assessments prove inaccurate and inappropriate when working with Māori people and often do not adequately represent the difference between Māori and European individuals. In particular they mention the inadequacy of western IQ tests on Māori (Herbert & Morrison, 2007). There is therefore a great deal of debate within New Zealand around the appropriateness and validity of the use of intelligence testing and the decision to use them by clinicians is generally made on a case-by-case basis (Annan, 2010).

It is also important to note that Aotearoa/New Zealand is a bicultural country and that there is therefore a culture of "inclusion" and integration of cultural worldviews fostered within the assessment process and the conceptualisation thereof (Jimerson et al., 2009, p. 444). In particular the Māori culture has brought with it an emphasis on the addition of whānau/family (Ministry of Health, 2001; Ministry of Education, n.d.). The western view of family speaks mainly of the traditional, nuclear family but the Māori whānau extends beyond the household and into the wider, extended family and out into the community (Durie, 2001). Interdependence within this wide extended whānau is seen to be a positive thing (Harrington & Lui, 2002). The whānau shares the responsibility of child care and therefore it does not fall entirely on one or two parents as is the view among many western people. Psychological assessments in New Zealand therefore place a great deal of importance on the inclusion of extended family when working with Māori clients and it is suggested that clinicians receive cultural support when they are assessing children with Māori heritage (Annan, 2010; Ministry of Health, 2001).

In addition to this the idea of focusing on an individual because of their difficulties is not one that is compatible with the Māori worldview. When there is a problem with one member of the whānau it is seen as being symptomatic of problems within the whānau and there is a balanced focus on both the difficulties of the individual and those of the whānau (Durie, 2001). Question also exists around the appropriateness of using psychometric testing with Māori children and clinicians often tend instead to utilise cultural frameworking when gathering relevant information from Māori clients (Annan, 2010). Once again it is important for clinicians in New Zealand to receive cultural advice when working with Māori clients (Ministry of Health, 2001).

Practitioners are, however, cautioned against applying a one-size-fits-all approach when looking at issues of culture (Hirini, 1997). Not all Māori people will hold to these views and many have adopted a more western outlook. Māori people situate themselves broadly across the spectrum of cultural identity and so it is important for clinicians not to stereotype (Hirini, 1997). While these ideas are specific to Maori, it is likely that psychological practice in New Zealand is constructed with a stronger awareness of the significance of culture than some other Western countries.

Discourses in which Psychological Assessment is embedded

Burman (2008) critiques psychological assessments by arguing that they tend to associate the "cause" of the problem either with the family or the child and neglect to consider the context in which the individuals and family are situated (Burman, 2008). She argues that external social and political factors impact greatly upon the functioning of the family as a whole and should be considered when investigating problematic circumstances. For this reason it is appropriate for this study to acknowledge and explore these contexts. It is important to investigate some of the possible ways in which both caregivers and professionals may have formed their perceptions of psychological assessments. As a context and background for the study a number of discourses that exist around developmental psychology, the psychological assessment process and the concepts that are measured therein are identified and briefly summarised. The following discourses are discussed: childhood, development, intellectual functioning, family relationships, peer relationships and emotional problems.

It is also important to acknowledge that these discourses are, on the whole, discourses that exist within the context of Eurocentric western cultures that are more likely to be influenced by psychological ideas than other cultures (Rose, 1996). For example, the very notion of the self as being an autonomous being with an inner world of emotions, aspirations, abilities, beliefs and so forth is a uniquely Western one and it is out of this cultural context that psychology has been born (Rose, 1996). Psychology, in turn, has provided people with a way of conceptualising themselves. People construct narratives relating to their psyche as a means of coming to a deeper understanding of themselves and in so doing pave the way to an improved and more authentic self (Rose, 1996). The

very words that people use to describe themselves, others and their experiences are steeped in the cultural assumptions of their environment (Rose, 1996).

Eurocentric Discourses Relevant to the Psychological Assessment of Children

There are a number of discourses that may inform the social construction of psychological assessment with children. Particularly relevant discourses may include those around the topics of childhood, development, intellectual functioning, appropriate behaviour, family relationships, peer relationships and emotional problems. These particular societal discourses were chosen because these are some of the primary focuses of psychological assessments. These perspectives will be discussed in more detail below.

Discourses around childhood.

Ideas around childhood help to shape the way that psychological assessment is understood with this particular group of people. Although childhood is a physical state it is also an idea that is constructed through societal discourses around what it means and what it involves or is meant to involve (Moss, Dillon, & Statham, 2000). Burman (2008) argues that it is not 'reality' but particular discourses that have helped to shape childhood in particular ways. It is important to realise that these discourses are narratives created by society and form categories from which point comparisons can be made. The perceptions of childhood vary greatly across cultures and across time; they are not stagnant. These constructs have a significant impact on the advice that is given to those in charge of children and have an impact on the way in which society is managed, for example ensuring that we are raising children who will one day grow up to become "self-governing" and economically valuable adults (Burman, 2008; Hultqvist & Dahlberg, 2001, p. 4; Moss et al., 2000).

The concept of childhood has varied greatly over time. In more recent years two main discourses surrounding childhood have been identified (Prout, 2005). The first discourse around childhood is the notion that it is a time of dependence, purity and innocence (Burman, 2008; Cook, 2005; Prout, 2005). During this time children are to be free of cares and responsibilities and are considered extremely emotionally valuable and precious within the family context (Prout, 2005). They are also entirely dependent on adults to provide

their needs, protect them and to discipline and educate them (Moss et al., 2000). This discourse portrays a stark contrast between adulthood and childhood with childhood being viewed as a time of "incompleteness" (Cook, 2005). It is the caregivers who responsibility it is to lovely guide their children into the maturity and "completeness" of adulthood (Cook, 2005). More recently a new discourse around childhood has begun to appear. In contrast to the view of children being weak, in danger of harm and dependent is the discourse around the empowered child (Cook, 2005). The empowered child is strong, symbolic of hope, significant, intelligent, and socially active and should be given a voice rather than being seen and not heard (Cook, 2005; Prout, 2005). The empowered child is also considered to be "more difficult to manage, less biddable and hence more troublesome and troubling" (Prout, 2005, p. 7). These discourses around childhood are relevant to this study because if a caregiver, teacher or clinician identifies that the child in question does not fit the "criteria" of what a "healthy" childhood is it raises concern.

Discourses around childhood development.

There are some very strong messages around what is appropriate for children to be achieving developmentally at what age and it is considered problematic when certain milestones are not reached within a particular timeframe (Burman, 2008). Weisner (2005, p.1) defines development as being "about children and families engaged in activities within a cultural and community context". He goes on to say that these activities are prescribed to individuals by the culture and sub-culture in which they live and it is the individual's choice to engage in these or not. Well-being for children, Weisner (2005, p. 4) argues, "can be viewed as the engagement by children and parents in everyday routines and activities, part of a life pathway of such activities, that are deemed desirable by them and their community". Within the participant group of this study the culturally expected activities that the children should be engaging in include culturally appropriate academic achievement, appropriate behaviour, appropriate family and social relationships and appropriate emotional development while the caregivers are expected to fulfil a very particular parental role. There are some very fixed and clear guidelines set out for individuals to follow and when these are not met eyebrows are raised (Burman, 2008). Often children are referred for assessment because they have not reached the developmental milestones that are outlined in these kinds of discourses. Autism is an example of a developmental disorder and may be assessed through the use of the Childhood Autism Rating Scale for example (Mental Health Commission, 2000).

Erica Burman (2008) critiques the assessments that have arisen out of developmental psychology. Through the standardisation of expected developmental stages, related directly to the age of the child, and by means of the tests used to measure these stages a social divide between that which is "normal" and that which is "abnormal" has formed. Each serves as a reference point for the other and steps are taken to create classifications through observation to ensure that the undesirable is rooted out. This Morss (1996) argues creates societal inequality, undermines the individual by grouping large numbers of people together and is contrary to liberty. The child then becomes scrutinised by assessments as well as the institutions in which they occur so that social control can be maintained under the guise of guardianship and shelter (Burman, 2008). Burman (2008, p. 22) argues that these notions are simply a socially constructed "myth", "fiction" or "fantasy" based on philosophies and worldviews that are disguised as objective, scientific and standardised facts of normality.

Discourses around intellectual functioning.

The discourses around the notion of intellectual functioning or ability are numerous and familiar to most people in the general public. For the children, who are referred for assessment, questions often exist around their intellectual ability. We are told that the bulk of intelligence tests measure a child's ability in a range of areas including vocabulary, word analysis, reading comprehension, language, mathematics, social sciences and science (Kamphaus, 2009) and are viewed as being connected to the age of the child. In other words there is seen to be an appropriate and acceptable intelligence level for different age groups (Burman, 2008). Research claims that an individual's intellectual ability is influenced primarily by the genetic makeup of the individual but that this is mouldable to a certain extent by environmental factors up until the age of about ten or eleven years. According to this research the environment, or nurture, that the child receives plays only a minor role in a person's cognitive abilities (Bishop, Cherny, & Hewitt, 2003). Caregivers are told, however, that learning begins at home and is fostered by supportive caregivers who provide their children with a wide range of experiences (Dowling, 2010).

While intellectual functioning is highly valued in our society questions are beginning to arise around this idea and some argue that there are other skills and types of intelligence that should not be undervalued (Elias, Arnold, & Hussey, 2003). Murdoch (2007) offers a strong critic of the traditional IQ test saying that it is not worthy of the weight that is given to it thus supporting the growing scepticism towards the notion of measuring intelligence. This idea is gaining in popularity as people recognise the existence of different forms of intelligence. This acknowledgement is evident in debates around disorders such as dyslexia in which it is suggested that the area of intellectual difficulty is limited to literary problems and does not necessarily extend to other areas of intellectual functioning (Brock, Davis, & Christo, 2009; Pavey, Meehan, & Waugh, 2010). In the assessment of autism spectrum disorder it is recognised that there is a great variability in functioning, including intellectual functioning (Ministry of Health, 2008), and in ADHD the issues are primarily around hyperactivity, ability to maintain attention and control impulses and not so much about intellectual functioning (Brock, Jimerson, & Hanson, 2009). Assessments today are therefore not simply determining the intellectual functioning of a child but also identifying specific discrepancies in their ability to learn that suggest a particular learning difficulty, such as dyslexia.

Discourses around appropriate behaviour.

In addition to the notion of academic achievement there is the question of what is considered to be appropriate behaviour. Often the children who undergo these assessments are deemed to have what is considered "inappropriate behaviour" according to the societal discourses that exist and tools such as Conner's Rating Scales or Child Behaviour Checklist are used to assess this (Mental Health Commission, 2000). The discourses around the topic of appropriate behaviour for children say that caregivers need to teach their children to develop an understanding of what is right and wrong by considering the feelings of others and learning about the consequences of behaviour (Dowling, 2010). Children learn about what is appropriate behaviour from the example that is set at home as well as the behaviour of influential adults in their lives. According to this discourse the child's personality and temperament also plays an important role in the way in which they behave and is largely influenced by the emotion that the child is experiencing at the time (Dowling, 2010). Therefore, the social construction of appropriate behaviour is created through our perception of that which is modelled to us by those in authority, by

what is communicated to us by others and also by the emotions that we experience (Dowling, 2010; Smith, Cowie, & Blades, 2003). Skelton and Valentine (1998) suggest that what is considered acceptable and appropriate behaviour varies from person to person and from group to group and that the person or group that wants their behaviour to be considered the "norm" will be intolerant of behaviours that deviate from this. Burman (2008) argues that these constructs exist to ensure that society is controlled and "good citizens", that contribute economically, are raised.

Discourses around family relationships.

There are also some very powerful discourses in our society around family relationships and how they should and should not operate and these change over time (Burman, 2008). When these are considered to be disintegrating the child may be assessed for its impact on them. Family relationships are generally assessed via interviews and observation (La Greca et al., 2001). These societal discourses around family relationships involve the notion that the family is a vitally important part of a child's life, regardless of its imperfections, and will have a long lasting impact on the individual child. What happens at home, according to this view, teaches the child what is important in life, what is right and what is wrong, how one treats others and also how one can expect to be treated, which influences the child's self-perception (Dowling, 2010). It is also recognised, however, that the child has a significant impact upon the rest of the family and the result is an interactive and reciprocal family dynamic to which all members contribute (Shanahan & Sobolewski, 2003).

There has also been a change in the way that the structure of the family is represented according to Burman (2008). In the past the woman has been portrayed as the primary caregiver (Moss et al., 2000) but in more recent years the expectation for men to become more involved in sharing the responsibility of childcare has become very evident. Men and women are now seen to be equally important in the role of raising children (Burman, 2008). Despite this idea that two parents are important in the raising of children Statistics New Zealand (1999) has found that there has been quite a dramatic increase in the number of single-parent families. These discourses around the advantages of having both father and mother participating in the parenting process presents a difficulty for single-

parent families, same-sex couples or other families that are not traditional nuclear families because it emphasises the need for a male and a female parent working together.

In addition to this caregivers may have considerable expectations placed on them through society's discourses around parenting to provide the ideal example and environment in which their children can flourish. Dowling (2010, p. 8) describes the "adequate person", from whom children get their example, as being someone with "good interpersonal skills", someone with a "clear moral code" by which they live, they are able to express their emotions and empathise with the emotions of others, they are confident, decisive, "brave in facing up to difficult situations", "enthusiastic" and persevering. In short these individuals are "equipped both to get the most out of life and to deal with problems". Under such a person's guardianship "the small baby lies ready to reciprocate and blossom in our loving care" (Dowling, 2010, p.8). Parenting is also acknowledged to carry an enormous amount of pressure and that this makes parenting a challenging task at the best of times (Dowling, 2010). This pressure is compounded by the discourse that an individual's childhood needs to be idyllic in order for them to grow up as psychologically healthy adults and avoid the "risk" of pathology (Burman, 2008, p.100).

The socially constructed, ever-changing and culturally and historically contextual purpose of a "good parent" is defined as being "to facilitate the child's optimal development within a safe environment" (Reder, Duncan, & Lucey, 2003). This notion of parenthood is threefold according to Hoghughi (1997). It includes care, which involves meeting the child's needs and protecting them from harm; control, which entails establishing and maintaining appropriate boundaries; and development, which requires fostering growth in areas of potential. Hoghughi (1997) expanded on these core ingredients of good parenting by arguing that in order to parent successfully every parent needs knowledge of their children's needs, how these can be met, their children's potential, what the child is communicating and any possible sources of harm. They also need motivation, resources and opportunity to implement what they have to offer.

Discourses around children's social relationships.

Sometimes children will be referred to services to be assessed because of difficulties in their social relationships. This is usually done by conducting observations of the child in social situations and through interviews with caregivers (La Greca et al., 2001). The discourses that surround the issue of children's social relations include the idea that children's ability to relate to others begins when they develop a relationship with the primary caregiver and others within the family and these early relationships impact on their ability to build relationships later on in life (Dowling, 2010). It is important for children to have exposure to a wide range of people and to be able to develop relationships with adults and children that involve good communication skills (Dowling, 2010). In addition to this it is believed that children develop their social skills primarily before the age of six or seven and that the ability to understand someone else's viewpoint is critical to this process (Dowling, 2010). Being comfortable around others and feeling a sense of empathy towards others is important to society in general since it grows children into "good citizens" (Dowling, 2010, p. 46). Peer relationships also assist children in cultivating social competency by providing an environment in which they learn assertiveness skills, conflict management skills and investigate gender roles. Difficulties in this area, we are told, can have significant effects on the child and can result in depression, anxiety and loneliness (Ladd, 2005).

Discourses around emotional development.

When there is concern around a child's emotional development, for example the possibility of depression or anxiety problems, the child may be referred for assessment, which often under these circumstances includes tools such as the Children's Depression Inventory and the Children's Anxiety Sensitivity Index (Mental Health Commission, 2000). According to the cultural discourses emotional development can be achieved by ensuring that children are able to feel and express a diverse range of emotions, including negative emotions, in whatever way suits them and in a supportive environment (Dowling, 2010). Self esteem and confidence is fostered by influential adults, such as caregivers and if children are loved, recognised, understood, encouraged and supported to master tasks they will develop well in the early years of their personal growth (Dowling, 2010). In addition to this it is believed that children need to be independent. Independence is "an essential life skill" and involves being able to problem solve, make decisions, ask for information and contribute to group discussions (Dowling, 2010, p. 51). The children that are assessed are often thought of as lacking in the area of emotions.

Emotional development is often conceptualised in terms of Emotional intelligence (EI). EI is a concept that has long held the attention of professionals involved in psychology and the public, through its wide publication in the popular media, and is now considered by some to be a fundamental component of cognitive ability and personal achievement (Cassady & Boseck, 2008; Freeland, Terry, & Rodgers, 2008). El is seen as something that can be grown in individuals and encompasses a number of qualities including being aware of ones own emotions and being able to control and adjust them, persevering in the pursuit of goals, seeing things from another person's point of view and having the ability to manage social relationships (Bar-On, Maree, & Elias, 2007; Chang, 2008; Elias et al., 2003). El is also believed to impact on the way in which children are perceived by their peers, their academic work and their behaviour at school (Petrides, Sangareau, Furnham, & Frederickson, 2008). In addition to this EI has been linked to happiness, well being (Furnham & Petrides, 2008) and life satisfaction (Palmer, Donaldson, & Stough, 2008) and is perceived as being influential in individuals' ability to maintain positive interpersonal relationships and lead a fulfilling life (Chang, 2008). According to Bar-On (2007, p.12) by educating children around emotional intelligence "we will help to build more effective, productive and humane organizations, communities and societies". This, Burman (2008) argues, from a more cynical perspective, is part of a social agenda to ensure that society produces children that will contribute effectively to the labour market.

Laypeople's' potential views on psychological assessment.

Western society is saturated with psychological ideas (Rose, 1996). It is likely that the caregivers have some existing ideas about psychological work and it is also possible that these ideas are different from the way in which psychologists and related professions conceptualise their work. The primary caregivers of the children undergoing assessment may hold views of psychology, the study of human emotions and behaviour, that are different from those held by professionals working in the field and may influence their perception and expectations of the assessment process.

While there appears to be no research that focuses specifically on lay people's experiences of the psychological assessment process, research suggests that psychology and related fields have been conceptualised by the western public in very particular and sometimes stereotypical ways. These have influenced and have been influenced to a large

extent by the media and in particular the cinema, which has tended to present psychologists and related professionals as anything from the all-knowing oracle to the lunatic (Orchowski, Spickard, & McNamara, 2006) with a couch (Waska, 2005). Research does however suggest that the public is becoming more and more open to the help of mental health professionals (Angermeyer, Breier, Dietrich, Kenzine, & Matschinger, 2005; Angermeyer & Matschinger, 2005; Lauber, Carlos, & Wulf, 2005). On the other hand Zafar, Jawaid, Ashraf, Fatima, Anjum, and Qureshi (2009) found that although most of the participants in their study had positive attitudes towards psychotherapy as an effective treatment for psychiatric disorders almost half of them failed to identify the professionally accepted definition of the practice thus demonstrating a difference in understanding of the field of psychology between the public and professionals involved in psychological work. It is therefore possible that the primary caregivers involved in this study hold similar perceptions of psychology, which may influence their conceptualisation of the assessment process undergone by their children.

Aims and Rationale of this Research

Interest in this research was prompted by the suspected difference of understanding of the assessment process by the primary caregivers of the children involved from that of the clinicians. Little is known of the perception of caregivers who have brought their children for assessment. This study investigates the perceptions of caregivers after the completion of the psychological assessment of their children to gain further understanding of the experience from their perspective.

There are a number of reasons why an understanding of caregivers' perceptions of the psychological assessment process is relevant. Firstly, a study done within the field of social work found that, to a large extent, primary caregivers feel ill informed of the assessment process and in many cases feel patronised by mental health professionals (Cleaver, Walker, & Meadows, 2004). This research also suggests that increasing the involvement of families when working with children leads to better treatment outcomes. Therefore, this study may be helpful in increasing the families' level of involvement by improving clinicians' understanding of the caregivers' experience of the process. From there clinicians will be more able to provide relevant information to caregivers at the assessment stage in the hopes that it will increase their involvement in the treatment, thus

improving outcomes. It is believed that by having a greater understanding of the primary caregivers' experiences clinicians will be able to provide improved services to these caregivers by potentially addressing some questions that may exist.

Secondly, when looking at the literature on the psychological assessment of children there seems to be little research investigating the understandings, perceptions and experiences of primary caregivers whose children have undergone psychological assessments. There appears to be a gap in the literature regarding this particular angle and for this reason the current research will prove helpful in broadening clinicians' understanding of caregivers' experiences of the process. Thirdly, this study may be able to fill a need within services to gain insight into the service that they are providing and the way that it is experienced by the caregivers of the children they assess. Finally, qualitative research was chosen as the vehicle from which to operate since it allows us to better understand not only the caregivers' personal experiences but also appreciate and consider the context within which these experiences are situated, their significance to the individual and the complexity of these experiences (Gordon, 2000; Kazdin, 2008; Levitt, Butler, & Hill, 2006).

Summary

In summary, the goal of this study is to gain some understanding of the ways in which primary caregivers conceptualise the process of having the child in their care psychologically assessed. The clinicians who administer these assessments appear to be quite clear about what it is that they are hoping to achieve and these practices appear to be supported by a wealth of research. It is from these theories and literature that clinicians construct their perceptions of psychological assessment. It is possible that the clinicians' views of what is involved in the psychological assessment process may influence the caregivers' perspectives as well.

Due to the fact that individuals experience events within the context of their society, culture, beliefs and so on it is possible that the primary caregivers involved in this study are, like clinicians, drawing on a number of discourses surrounding topics such as childhood, intellectual functioning, family relationships, peer relationships, childhood development and emotional development to formulate their own perceptions of the experience. It is likely that caregivers and clinicians draw on many of the same discourses

around these topics. There may, however, be difference in the discourses that exist around the field of psychology in general between clinicians and the caregivers.

I believe that if clinicians are better informed of caregivers perceptions of the process they will be able to address some of the differences in understanding and in so doing increase the family's level of involvement and thus improve treatment outcomes

Chapter Two

Methodology and Method

According to Parker (2005) ethical qualitative research needs to have a good theoretical basis in order to make a study as transparent as possible and thus facilitate a greater level of understanding (Parker, 2005). The aim of this chapter is to describe the qualitative and social constructionist theoretical framework used in this study and provide a rationale for this approach. This is followed by a section which outlines the narrative methodology of this study and finally the method used is described.

Theoretical Framework of the Research

Qualitative research

Qualitative research allows us to explore the meaning of experiences from the viewpoint of participants, who are seen as the ones holding the greatest understanding of a particular experience, and it is from them that we glean some understanding of the phenomenon (Parker, 2005). This was considered an appropriate approach for this study of caregivers' experience of having their child psychologically assessed since it enables researchers to investigate perceptions of the participants within a collaborative partnership in which the participant is the expert on their own experience.

Social constructionism

This study uses an overarching social constructionist approach. According to Gergen (1985) social constructionism is interested in how people go about understanding and describing their environment as well as themselves. Firstly, it argues that every concept is the product of its social and historical context and the interactions among people while at the same time acknowledging the existence of normative rules (Gergen, 1985; Meier, 2002; McLeod, 1997; Speedy, 2000; Squire, 2000). Secondly, social constructionism acknowledges that the meaning making process is three-fold and occurs first by the person telling their story, then by the research and finally by the reader of the research. Each of these individuals will be drawing upon their social environments, their subcultures

and their languages in order to construct meaning (Parker, 1999). This results in highly complex and multifaceted levels of meaning which is appropriate when looking at any human experience. Thirdly, social constructionism asserts that language plays a role in the construction of concepts since it is through this means that people are able to represent their experiences to others and construct concepts within the context of social interaction, construct their futures by creating meaning and gain an understanding of themselves as people (Gergen, 1999; Polkinghorne, 1988; Schwandt, 2000). Fourthly, social constructionism views the researcher as equal to the researched, with no one of the participants in this partnership holding more or less control than the researcher, since they are equal in a social exchange through which new meaning is collaboratively created (Gergen, 1999; Lincoln & Guba, 2000; Snape & Spencer, 2003). Therefore social constructionism seems appropriate for this study since the aim is to engage in an exploration of how each individual caregiver has constructed meaning around the experience of the psychological assessment process and what contextual factors may have influenced this perception, how they have used language in this construction and the influence of others in that process (Crotty, 1998; Lincoln & Guba, 2000).

There are however two factors that may influence the construction of meaning in this study. Firstly, the context in which this study is done may also influence the information that is given by the participants. Parker (2005) argues that because of the general public's familiarity with psychological concepts and areas of interest, through popular media, they are already primed when recruited to participate in psychological research to discuss with the researcher issues related to their feelings, thoughts and psychological state in general. This limits to a certain extent the type of information that qualitative researchers, within psychology, will gain from their participants when interviewing them. Secondly, social constructionism makes the assumption that individuals are speaking freely about their experiences and that therefore the researcher is able to gain some, but not all, insight into their perceptions through the use of language. This is however complicated by relations of power. These power relations limit individuals by placing rules around what is appropriate to say and what is not (Parker, 1999). Therefore we are not entirely in control of the meaning that we create; we are restricted by the boundaries set in place by those in positions of power. Parker (1999) uses 'political correctness' as an example of this.

Methodology – Narrative Theory

The aim of this study is to explore the way in which caregivers experience the process of having their child psychologically assessed and this has been done though the vehicle of narrative methodology. The narrative methodology allows us to explore how people construct their own reality through story telling.

Methodology

What is Narrative?

Narrative research attempts to explore the way in which individuals have used narratives as a means by which to arrive at an understanding that creates meaning around the event for them (Parker, 2005). The 'narrative turn' in psychology began in the 1970's and 1980's (McLeod, 1997) and emerged out of a desire to move away from more traditional forms of research, which were felt to lack a deep understanding of the human experience, and began exploring narrative inquiry as a means of gaining some awareness of the richness of phenomena from the perspective of the ones experiencing it (Parker, 2005). Today narrative research is gaining in credibility and interest within the social sciences (Lieblich, Tuval-Mashiach, & Zilber, 1998; Phoenix, 2008; Squire, Andrews, & Tamboukou, 2008) and it is an appropriate methodology when exploring the ways in which caregivers have constructed meaningful stories around their experience of their child's psychological assessment.

Narrative inquiry has roots in constructionist theory since it calls into question that which was previously taken for granted and asserts that reality is created by the way in which it is represented (Andrews, Sclater, Rustin, Squire, & Treacher, 2000). There is much disagreement on the exact definition of 'narratives' (Meier, 2002; Riessman, 2008; Squire, et al., 2008). The term 'narrative' is often considered synonymous with 'story' but is far more complex than that since it endeavours to take into account the context, purpose and inconsistencies within the narrative. Narratives are also chosen by the teller according to relevance to the hearer and are connected and structured temporally, thematically or episodically (Andrews et al., 2000; Andrews, 2008; Dean, 1998; Gergen & Gergen, 1984; Riessman & Speedy, 2007). Therefore, within narrative research there is also no single

narrative that adequately represents an event; there are numerous possible accounts of an incident (Dean, 1998). Individuals are constantly re-scripting past events, both our own and others', in the light of later events and new ways of understanding the world thus demonstrating the multilayered nature of narratives (Andrews, 2008). I believe therefore that the stories that are told to me by the caregivers I speak to, in whatever form they take, will represent to some extent an aspect of their experiences and how they made meaning of them, thus facilitating the presentation of the complexity of human experience.

Narratives in Context.

In addition to this narrative methodology acknowledges that language and culture cannot be removed from the process of communicating experiences. The ability to be self-aware within a context of history and culture may be a uniquely human quality and these experiences are conveyed in the form of narrative plots (Hinchman & Hinchman, 1997). Narrative research holds that even the most unique stories occur within a 'cultural locus' and have been shaped by societal influences (Squire, 2000; Hiles & Čermák, 2008). Narratives both create and are created by their cultural contexts (Crites, 1997). In addition to this an individual's smaller stories link into the context of their larger life narratives as well as the collective narratives held by those around them (Parker, 2005). Riessman and Speedy (2007) argue that a central focus of narrative research is the interplay between individuals within the context of relationships and the way that individuals represent themselves and thus create yet another level of meaning (Andrews et al., 2004; Dean, 1998; McLeod, 1997; Polkinghorne, 1988; Rennie, 2004). Therefore human subjectivity is varied and fragmented due to the multiple contexts in which we live and as a result narratives can never be entirely coherent and may often appear inconsistent and disjointed (Andrews et al., 2000). The multifaceted character of narratives does, however, allow us to understand individual and social change more adequately (Squire, et al., 2008).

The Functions of Narratives.

Narratives perform a number of functions. Firstly, they allow individuals to organise the past as well as make sense of it (Riessman, 2008). Narratives perform the function of creating meaning and organising experiences, within the mental realm of reality, for both the teller and the hearer by arranging aspects of the past and providing explanation of the

present (Bruner, 1990; Dean, 1998; Gergen & Gergen, 1984; Hiles & Čermák, 2008; Mishler, 1986; Polkinghorne, 1988; Riessman, 1993). Secondly, they can be used to convince others of something, engage listeners in ones own experiences, entertain, mislead and motivate others into action (Riessman, 2008). Thirdly, narratives assist individuals in building identity, or the notion of the self, and understanding unique aspects of their lives while at the same time representing themselves to others (Andrews, Sclater, Squire & Tamboukou, 2004; Dean, 1998; Kerby, 1997; Lieblich et al., 1998; McLeod, 1997; Phoenix, 2008). Parker (2005, p. 71) describes narrative as being "the performance of the self as a story of identity". Finally, values are communicated through narratives by providing examples of those behaviours that are acceptable and those that are best avoided (Polkinghorne, 1988) and by presenting practical and convincing responses to life experiences (Hiles & Čermák, 2008). These instances make a moral point (Riessman, 1993; Salmon & Riessman, 2008). For example the participants in this study may present value judgements on what it means to be a good parent through the stories they tell.

Characteristics of Narratives.

Narratives have certain core characteristics (Bruner, 1990). Firstly, narrative is always part of a social and meaning making interaction (Gergen & Gergen, 1984). They are generally described in a sequence (Gergen & Gergen, 1984), they often account for departures from the norm or an incident in which there has been a break between the idyllic and reality (Riessman, 1993) and they contain a level of ambiguity when assuming that certain ideas will be taken for granted by the hearer and therefore have a moral quality (Polkinghorne, 1988). They reveal something of the teller's inner world and subjective experience and they have a dramatic quality in that they are made up of actors, goals, settings, plot, conflict, resolution etc. (Gergen & Gergen, 1984; Mishler, 1986) Gergen and Gergen (1984) describe a number of different narrative plot structures. The first is stability narrative. In this story the character remains unaffected by the events described. The second is progressive narrative in which the character is developing over time. Thirdly, in regressive narratives the character reverts to less functional behaviours. And finally, dialectic narrative refers to an account in which there is progress despite tension. Narrators also select certain plots according to how they understand the event and also how they wish their hearers to understand it (Riessman, 1993).

Multiple Interpretations of Narratives.

As was mentioned earlier narratives can have multiple meanings and interpretations. Meaning is not created solely by the narrator through the lingual representation of an experience but these narratives are then interpreted by their hearer as well as the reader, thus creating meaning in a collaborative way which ultimately results in the existence of multiple stories of the story rather than one true and absolute understanding (Riessman, 1993). Riessman (1993) describes six stages of representation in narrative inquiry. They include the primary experience by the individual, the individual attending to the experience, the individual telling the story of the experience, the researcher transcribing the narrative, analysing the narrative and, finally, others reading the result of the research. Riessman (1993) suggests that meaning and interpretations are created at each of these levels of representation and that the primary experience can never be re-experienced by anyone directly thus resulting in only vague representations of the event.

Narrative Research.

By studying the narratives of participants investigators gain an understanding of participants' conceptualisation of their experiences and lives (Keats, 2009; McLeod, 1997; Polkinghorne, 1988). Narrative research allows researchers to gain insight into both open and hidden stories of an individual's life (McLeod, 1997; Speedy, 2000). Therefore the study of narratives is complex because of the dynamic, contextual and uniquely individual nature of these stories (Polkinghorne, 2004). Narrative research involves taking a small snap shot of a participant's ever changing sense of identity, the experiences they have and that which influences these perceptions while all the time acknowledging that these will vary across time (Lieblich et al, 1998). For all these reasons I consider narrative to be an appropriate means of investigating the way in which caregivers experience the process of having their child psychologically assessed.

Narrative Analysis

When reading the literature around narrative analysis it became clear to me that there are not set rules about the way in which the information presented in narrative inquiry is analysed. In general narrative analysis involves investigating stories that have

commonalities, such as those of the participants in this study who have all had children undergo psychological assessments. Narrative research explores stories themselves as the primary object of study (Riessman, 1993) and the aim is to explore how experiences are recounted by identifying patterns of meaning making and justifications for the interpretations of experiences rather than individual words, pauses etc. (Andrews et al., 2000; Edvardsson, Rasmussen, & Riessman, 2003) and produce one unified story that accurately represents the main meanings, or key themes, that have been created by the narrators (Phoenix, 2008; Riessman, 1993). The analysis takes note of the way in which each participant chooses to present their narrative, the aim of the narrator, the characteristics of the hearer and the meaning of the account (Riessman, 1993; Riessman, 2008; Riessman & Speedy, 2007; Spencer, Ritchie, & O'Connor, 2003). It also highlights the complexity of individuals' lives and the social and cultural environments that impact upon these (Andrews, et al., 2004). Essentially it is an interpretation of a narrator's interpretation of an experience (Riessman, 1993).

Issues of Generalisability, Validity and Reliability

Narrative research faces a number of difficulties when it comes to traditional measures of generalisability, validity and reliability. Narrative research struggles with its ability to be generalised because of its relatively small sample sizes and unrepresentative pools (Riessman, 1993). Although this can be a limitation, history tells us that many persuasive and long-standing theories have developed through the exploration of just a few individual cases (Riessman, 1993). Narrative inquiry enables researchers to examine personal experiences and how they are conceptualised in a very systematic way that provides extremely rich data (Lieblich et al., 1998; Riessman, 1993). Riessman (2008) argues that the knowledge acquired through narrative cases has underlying principles that can be applied to a more general population and can form the basis for future work in the field.

A second issue faced by narrative research is that of validity and reliability. Advocates of qualitative research and specifically narrative research believe strongly that traditional definitions of these factors do not apply to narrative research or need to be altered dramatically (Parker, 2005; Polkinghorne, 1988; Riessman, 1993; Riessman, 2008). Since narrative research involves the investigation into complex and intricate events and experiences it is not surprising that there is often a great deal of variety in the results of

these studies (Parker, 2004; Riessman, 1993). It is often the changeableness and process of phenomena that grasps the interests of qualitative researchers and it is due to this variability in data that traditional views of reliability, or the consistency of data collected, do not apply in qualitative research (Parker, 2004; Parker, 2005). Validity and reliability have since been reconceptualised within narrative research. Narrative research is considered valid and reliable if the data presented is found to be trustworthy and significant by presenting a narrative that accurately represents the participants' experiences, meaning making, justifications and memories and examines how these have functioned in such a way as to form a unified whole (Polkinghorne, 1988).

As a result of this move away from the traditional methods of measuring the quality of research qualitative researchers have identified three criteria that good qualitative research should meet (Parker, 2004). The first is that the researcher locates their study within a wealth of sound literature and research and explores what has already been done on the topic. The second guideline is that the argument laid out by the researcher needs to be coherent and flow in a logical and natural way in order for the study to be considered of good quality. The final guideline described by Parker (2004) is that researchers need to make the study accessible by being explicit about their own background and that of the study, the process as well as other possible perspectives on the issue, thus ensuring pragmatic use, and by using language that can be understood by non-academic audiences as much as is possible.

In narrative analysis the goal is to discover the mutual ideas in the stories and other researchers given the same narrative should identify similar themes identified by the original researcher (Polkinghorne, 1988). There are, however, many possible interpretations and by getting the input of others the researcher increases the persuasive quality of their work (Squire, 2008) as well as providing a richer and more complex understanding of the phenomenon under investigation (Andrews, 2008). This was achieved by bringing transcripts, already having had identifiable information removed, to supervision meetings with other researchers so that ideas and interpretations could be exchanged thus providing an opportunity for the analysis of the interviews to be viewed from multiple viewpoints.

Reflexivity

In quantitative research the subjective experiences of the researcher are seen as obstacles to discovering knowledge and therefore efforts are made to eradicate their interference. Within the qualitative theoretical framework however researchers are reflexive and locate themselves within particular historical, institutional and personal worldviews, thus allowing the research relationship to be openly situated within these contexts and informing the reader to a greater degree (Parker, 2005). Reflexivity can be achieved by opening the research to other members of the research team so that the interpretations can be made subject to other individuals' conceptualisations of reality (Parker, 2005).

The notion of being explicit about our subjectivity has been questioned, however. This challenge has argued on three points (Parker, 2005). Firstly, Parker (2005) argues that by presenting the researcher's personal beliefs reason and logic is disregarded and therefore the viewpoints presented cannot be argued against. Secondly, they hold that the researcher is able to answer every concern by simply locating the origins of that reasoning and without providing solid justification. Parker (2005) argues, however, that the only alternative is for researchers to claim an imaginary objectivism. It is therefore preferable to simply acknowledge the presence of these difficulties along with the rest and attempt to maximise transparency.

Personal Reflexivity.

It is important to acknowledge when working within this modality that the researcher is not considered to be neutral or objective but rather that the context in which the researcher is situated has an impact on the research. I am a masters student at a university where a number of the participants in this study had their children's psychological assessments done. This may have affected the information that they gave me, for example feeling less comfortable conveying negative experiences of the service to me, and this association may also have prevented people from agreeing to participate in the first place.

The connection that participants may have made between myself and psychologists, psychological theory and related professions may also have had an impact on the

research. Participants may have felt that their parenting was under scrutiny by someone who knows all the "right" ways of bringing up children and as a result may have edited their communication accordingly. In addition to this it may have primed participants to speak to me about psychological concepts such as inner feelings, self-esteem and so forth that they may not otherwise include were they speaking to someone situated in a different context (Parker, 2005).

Another consideration in this study is the fact that I have no children and although most of my participants did not know this it may have impacted on the types of questions I asked and the way in which I interpreted their responses. A parent may have interpreted the interviews differently because of a potential feeling of shared experience.

Ethical Considerations

When thinking about ethics from the perspective of qualitative research there are five factors to consider according to Parker (2005). Firstly, it is important not to enter the research with predetermined judgements on the nature of individuals, whether inherently good or inherently bad, based on any one psychological stand point. Instead the investigation should focus on the ways in which these qualities appear and how they are evaluated. Secondly, researchers should refrain from assuming that they are the same as their participants. Rather researchers should have as their starting block the assumption that everyone is unique and different from one another and that there is no basis on which to expect that we would all be the same. Thirdly, it is advantageous to notice the differences that emerge during the investigation so that assumptions and those notions that are taken for granted can be challenged and in so doing bring about transformation in our research. Fourthly, ethical research does not involve pretending that discrepancies in the findings are not there or that they are the result of some erroneous practice but rather they should be viewed as a demonstration of the wide variety of experiences lived by individuals. Finally, researchers should not view groups of individuals as being homogeneous but instead examine the instances when members rebel against restrictive categorisation of their group as a means of exploring what it is that unites them as a community as well as the problematic areas that may be denied or glossed over (Parker, 2005).

Another ethical issue to be considered when conducting qualitative research is the language that is used in the representation of the data collected (Parker, 2005). Firstly, the participants of the study need to be referred to in a way that adequately describes their valuable contribution to the research. The traditional term "subject" is not acceptable in the context of qualitative research. Instead terms such as "participants" and "co-researchers" are considered more appropriate given the assumption that they are in fact the experts in the topic being explored (Parker, 2005). Secondly, researchers conducting qualitative research should refer to themselves in the first person, which results in the researcher taking responsibility for the work they have done and the decisions they have made (Parker, 2005). Thirdly, and finally, the researcher needs to consider the language that is used to describe members of certain communities. The terms chosen need to be sensitive to the members (Parker, 2005). Originally the participants for this research were referred to as "parents" but it was pointed out by the ethics committee that this is not sensitive to those people who are not the biological parents of children but are the primary caregivers to them. Therefore the language was changed to better accommodate those who do not fit the category of biological parent.

There is also a great deal of debate within the field of qualitative research around the issue of "sensitive topics" of research. Hydén (2008) suggests that there is no concrete definition of what a sensitive topic is but rather that whether or not a story is considered sensitive to the teller is dependent on a number of contextual factors such as the relationship between the teller and the listener, as well as other personal and cultural factors. Lee and Renzetti (1990) argue that any topic that involves investigation into the personal lives of the participants, as is the case in this study, should be considered a "sensitive topic". It cannot however be taken for granted that it will therefore cause distress to the participants but rather an awareness of the potential for distress is necessary (Lee & Renzetti, 1990). Individuals will experience and perceive the sensitivity of the topic differently and to varying degrees and thus there is no fixed definition of what is and what is not considered to be a sensitive topic. Instead it is dealt with on a case-by-case basis (Hydén, 2008; Lee & Renzetti, 1990).

The current study gained ethics approval from the Northern Y Regional Ethics Committee¹. In addition to using the term "primary caregiver" instead of "parent" I made the interview as predictable as possible for the participants by sending them the interview guidelines beforehand so that they knew what to expect. I would also send them a copy of the transcript after I had finished advising them of the changes I had made in order to maintain anonymity and asking that they let me know if there is anything that they would like changed or removed. In addition to this I further disguised the participants' information within the report by changing or generalising particulars relating to the participants and their children, for example age. Since this study has the potential to be considered a "sensitive topic" because it deals with the participants' personal lives (Lee & Renzetti, 1990) there was clinical support available should the study bring up any emotional problems for the participants. This was not however necessary at any point during the study.

Method

This section outlines and describes the participants that were involved in this study, how they were recruited and the interview procedure, including how interviews were structured and the types of questions that were asked. This is followed by a critique of interviews as a data collection method and how I dealt with these difficulties. In addition to this the transcribing and analysis process is outlined.

Participants

The participants in this study were made up of seven caregivers whose children had undergone psychological assessments, thus using homogeneous sampling (Ritchie, Lewis, & Elam, 2003). The only criterion for this study was that they had had a child psychologically assessed. No specific assessment services were focused on.

The sample was made up of six women and one man. They were all the parents of the children they discussed. Most of these participants had experience either in education or in the mental health field and they had had their children assessed at a range of different services. All of the participants identified their children as having had a "psychological

-

¹ Ethics ref: NTY/10/04/035

assessment" although it became clear that for some the assessment process had involved other professionals including teachers, RTLBs, psychiatrists and social workers. I had initially planned to have a slightly larger participant group but it was difficult to find participants who met criteria. In any event, after the seven interviews, the data was generating some repeated themes and it appeared that data saturation had been achieved (Corbin & Strauss, 2008).

Procedure

The participants were recruited through letters that were sent out to individuals who were known to have had their children psychologically assessed. These participants were either recruited directly from a psychology clinic or via word of mouth and through snowball sampling. These letters informed potential participants of the study and invited them to participate.

Once I received word that someone wanted to participate in the study I contacted the individual by phone, answered any questions they had about the study, emailed them a copy of the interview guidelines and arranged a time to meet with them. Participants were given the option of being interviewed at the university or in their own homes. Most participants chose to meet at their homes, I met two individuals at their work place and I held one of the interviews over the phone and the participant emailed me the recording. The one phone interview meant that I was not able to read facial cues and body language but I was able to gain quite a lot of information from the participant's tone of voice.

Interviews

The data collection for this study involved interviewing each of the participants individually since everyday language is the vehicle through which meaning is conveyed and since I was interested in hearing the stories that they had to tell relating to their experience and how they used the stories to make sense of that experience (Andrews, et al., 2000; Parker, 2005; Polkinghorne, 1988). These interviews were tape-recorded, with the permission of the participants (Robson, 2007), so that the content of the interviews could be correctly transcribed and analysed, thus increasing validity (Riessman, 2008). Immediately after each interview I mentally noted initial reflections and analyses (Dogra, Vostanis, Abuateya,

& Jewson, 2007). The aim was to collect the participants' experiences of the psychological assessment process undergone by their children and to ensure that the meaning conveyed is represented accurately through the use of interviews and a systematic analytic system (Polkinghorne, 1988).

During the interviews the participants were allowed a great deal of opportunity and time to describe their story of the assessment process so that I could gain a good understanding of the experience as perceived by the participant within their personal context (Legard, Keegan, & Ward, 2003; McLeod, 1997; Squire, 2008). If interviewees are given this kind of freedom to express their experiences it is likely that they will do so through the use of stories (Polkinghorne, 1988). In order to facilitate this flow of narratives I needed to renounce my control to allow for such unmitigated story-telling (Parker, 2005; Riessman, 2008; Squire, 2008). It has been suggested that having multiple interviews further assists in ensuring the accuracy of the information that is gained but due to time restraints this was not possible in the current study (Legard et al., 2003; Squire, 2008). The interviews were done collaboratively and in the form of a conversation so that both the respondent and I could work as partners in the pursuit of the meaning that is behind the stories (Polkinghorne, 1988; Riessman, 1993; Riessman, 2008; Squire, 2008). In addition to this note was taken of what both the interviewer and interviewee said and in what context, thus beginning the analysis process during the interview (Parker, 2005).

Although these interviews were in many ways conversational they differed from a conversation in that I had determined the kind of information that I wanted to receive from the interviewee beforehand. I was also interested in what extra and unexpected information would result from the interview (Parker, 2005). As the researcher I made it clear that I was interested in hearing about their experience of having their child psychologically assessed and in so doing determined the direction of the interview. There was, however, a great deal of flexibility in terms of what the participants chose to tell me about that experience and I allowed them to take it where they would like believing that whatever they said somehow related to what I was asking from them and was therefore relevant and serving a function in their meaning making process (Robson, 2007).

Questions.

I began the interviews by reminding each participant that I was interested in hearing how they understood the process of having their child psychologically assess and then asking them to tell me how it all began thus creating a starting point from which a narrative can emerge (Polkinghorne, 1988; Riessman, 1993). I asked further open-ended questions around the topic when it was necessary (Riessman, 1993). The interviews covered the main areas of the study (Robson, 2007) and included such questions as: How did you understand the process of psychological assessment? Did it make sense? What was going on during the psychological assessments? Did the assessment make any difference to the child's situation? What do you see your role as being? What was the role of the professional administering the assessment? I asked questions that provided a facilitating environment and laid open the opportunity for respondents to develop answers that were meaningful to them and at the same time listened for the emergence of stories which manifest in the form of examples or instances in which a particular concept is obvious (Riessman, 1993; Riessman, 2008). Questions such as "tell me what happened", "can you remember a particular time when?" were used to create an opportunity for respondents to share narratives (Riessman, 2008, p.25). Questions that were answered by a simple 'yes' or 'no' were elaborated upon to create a narrative if I asked for examples (Riessman, 1993; Squire, 2008).

Critique of Interviews.

Interviews are not, however, without their faults. Firstly, the interviews conducted in qualitative research, such as the current study, are often then transcribed into written text for analysis. Thus the wealth of spoken word is in some ways limited by confining it to that of written text (Parker 1999). I attempted to translate some of the wealth of spoken word into written word by noting down any relevant hesitations, laughter, tone of voice and so forth. Secondly, according to Bevan and Bevan (1999) interviews themselves are problematic since the interviewee will be represented in whatever way is most appropriate within the researcher's chosen theoretical paradigm. When viewed from a narrative research perspective, for example, interviewees are conceptualised as constructing meaning within the interview through the means of story telling. This is the case in this study but because of the nature of narrative research other interpretations are acknowledged and this study does not claim to present the only valid representation of the participants' experiences. A third concern relating to interviews mentioned by Bevan and

Bevan (1999) is that interviewers can be seen by the interviewee as having a level of power, the power to take that which is secret and private to them and place it in the open for others to see. Interviewers may also be connected with institutions or groups, which may hold connotations for the interviewee and influence the relationship that exists between the two. It may have been the case in this research that some of my participants saw me as being connected with clinicians due to the fact that I am a psychology student and that may have influenced what they told me. I tried to minimise this by encouraging them to express their thoughts through non-verbal encouragers and an encouraging facial expression. Within narrative research it is not believed that these factors can somehow be "factored out" to ensure accurate and "truthful" information that comes from an objective viewpoint but rather that the best we can do is to acknowledge these difficulties and the impact that they have on the research and take necessary steps where possible (Parker, 2005).

Transcribing

I transcribed the interviews according to the method laid out in Riessman (1993), which involves identifying aspects of the narrative and the function they serve (Polkinghorne, 1988). This is done through multiple and meticulous listenings and systematic transcribing (Riessman, 1993). Firstly, the interviews were tape-recorded. This was followed by a transcription. I then read and re-read these transcripts to gain an idea of the most striking aspects of the interview and noted down any themes that reoccurred (Riessman, 1993).

I transcribed the interviews myself because it allowed me to take note again of the non-verbal cues that occurred during the interview (Parker, 2005). By identifying these non-verbal aspects of the interview I provide further context and meaning to what was said instead of focussing solely on the spoken word. This increases the level of complexity that is so integral to narrative research. I have also been explicit about what types of information I was looking for while transcribing instead of pretending to be an entirely objective transcriber which is in line with the qualitative theoretical framework (Parker, 2005).

Data Analysis

Analysis.

I decided to work with a version of the experience centred approach, which views narratives as having meaning, being unique to the human experience, representing and describing an experience and demonstrate change over time (Squire, 2008). The analysis of these narratives focuses on the sequence and progression of themes through the interviews, how these change and are resolved (Squire, 2008). This type of analysis also acknowledges that there can be multiple interpretations of a single experience (Squire, 2008).

In addition to this it was my aim that the analysis of the data collected be treated in such a way that investigates the role of thematic and other forms of narrative presented by the participants and what the purpose of that may be (Riessman, 1993). In this respect my analysis was very similar to the categorical-content perspective (Hiles & Čermák, 2008). Once I had transcribed the interview and noted the sequence of events and main themes I wrote individual analyses for each, which follow in the next chapter. This analysis involved firstly, a brief description of the wider context of the interview, for example where it was held, anything that occurred during the interview that was of interest and any contextual information relating to the participant, for example what they did for work (Squire, 2008). This was followed by the representation of events as they occurred across time. These events were seldom presented to me in order but incoherence and inconsistence was tolerated due to my acknowledgement that narratives are very complex and dynamic in nature (Squire, 2008). I therefore rearranged the order in which information was given to me in order to get a sense for the sequence of events. Finally, I identified themes that emerge from each of the individual narratives and these themes were often demonstrated in direct quotations. In the second layer of analysis I noted the themes that were common to the individuals' experiences and thus form the overarching ideas from which conclusions were drawn (Hiles & Čermák, 2008). I understand that each narrative is appreciated for its unique character while also understand that there are a limited number

of plots, due to a finite cultural collection of narratives that re-emerge in individuals' representations of experiences (Polkinghorne, 1988).

Summary

This chapter has outlined the theoretical framework, methodology and method of this study. The theoretical framework is based on qualitative research theory which endeavours to investigate experiences from the perspectives of the individual (Parker, 2005). Social constructionism argues that individuals construct these experiences themselves and these constructions are impacted upon by the context of the individual (Gergen, 1985). Narrative theory then states that individuals make these constructions for themselves and others through the means of story-telling (Parker, 2005). Narratives are also affected to a large extent by context (Squire, 2000), perform a number of functions (Riessman, 2008) and have multiple interpretations (Riessman, 1993). The goal of narrative research is to look at and analysing the commonalities within the stories told by people having experienced a similar phenomenon (Keats, 2008; Riessman, 1993).

This chapter also discussed particular issues of generalisability, validity and reliability as they relate to qualitative research. Parker (2004) and Riessman (1993) both argue that different standards apply to qualitative research and they outline some criteria that good qualitative research should meet. Reflexivity was also discussed in terms of the impact that the researcher can have on the research (Parker, 2005) and general ethical considerations relating to qualitative research, such as being as non-judgemental of participants as possible when going into the research (Parker, 2005), as well as the more specific ethical issues relating to this particular study were outlined. Finally, the method of this study involved seven participants that I interviewed. I recorded these interviews and transcribed them. I then wrote up their individual narratives, outlining the sequence of events and then drawing out the main ideas of each story, followed by an overarching analysis of the commonalities between all the narratives collected.

In the following chapter I present each of the participant's stories individually and begin the first layer of analysis. This involves portraying their narrative in a sequential order and following it with an outline of the main ideas that were brought forward by that individual. In the next chapter I analyse common themes generated in individual narratives.

Chapter Three

Participant Narratives

In this chapter I create individual narratives for each of the participants. This first layer of analysis relies largely on the stories they told to me but also involves some attempt to structure the main events in a somewhat sequential order. I have also attempted to highlight some of the main ideas and themes that emerged out of each individual story.

Anne: Gathering Ammunition

Anne and I met at her home. Anne's story is a tale of a mother who campaigns for her children. It all began when Anne's child was very young and she realised from her own observations as well as her background knowledge and experience in education that her daughter is especially gifted. Anne's daughter was identified as "gifted" by an organisation that provides schooling for gifted children. This was done through observation and not formal testing. Anne then had to go back to work for a few months and her daughter regressed. Anne gave up work as a result and since then has been desperately trying to regain access to her daughter's giftedness by means of a formal assessment but professionals have not been able to identify this in an assessment because of the "regression", which has involved becoming progressively "non-verbal". Her daughter has also received a diagnosis of autism. This assessment process has been a frustrating process for them because they have received a number of diagnoses ranging from extremely autistic to not autistic at all. They had a number of paediatric assessments done "to get anyone to find something that was vaguely close to what [they] thought was right". The most recent assessment was done, like many previous ones, in order to capture her daughter's "giftedness". This journey has been a long one and riddled with difficulties.

While speaking with Anne a number of themes began to emerge. Firstly, Anne suggested that the assessment tools that have been used are inappropriate. Anne believes that her daughter has become "resistant to testing". She described how when her daughter is being assessed she "switches off" and "does not respond", which makes it impossible to

"access" her and gain an adequate measure of her abilities. In addition to this Anne has found that because her daughter is far more non-verbal than she used to be many of the tests are an inappropriate means of gaining information from her because many of them rely on language and verbal communication. Anne also mentioned that her daughter has "got issues around oppositional defiance and compliance issues" and that she has to see the point to, or rationale behind doing the activities involved in the assessments.

Secondly, Anne and her husband had already determined what diagnosis they thought was appropriate for their daughter and wanted confirmation from a professional. Anne told me that she has a number of years teaching experience and had studied in related areas. In addition to this she has done a lot of her own research around the topic of autism and her decisions, for example the utilisation of therapy, have been based on a theoretical knowledge from both her professional training and personal study. Anne wants to be acknowledged for her expertise in the area and wants her views to be respected by professionals.

They were hoping that these formal assessments and their subsequent diagnosis would perform a number of functions. The theme of the assessment as being "ammunition" was a very strong one. Anne has used these numerous assessments as a way of gathering "ammunition" to fight the war against unsympathetic and suspicious professionals and against autism.

Firstly, Anne wanted these assessments in order to get a benchmark of just what her daughter is capable of so that they can stimulate her according to her full potential in order that the "window of opportunity", during which time autistic children are likely to achieve the most improvement, can be maximised. In this regard the "early intervention", which involves huge amounts of time, effort and money that is put into this "window of opportunity", is seen as an investment that will hopefully "pay off in the long run" and is based on research that Anne had done on her own on autism. Anne's mum goes to Anne's home regularly and "she sees her role as just doing therapy stuff" with Anne's daughter "she spends the whole time trying to get her to talk, trying to get her to do things". Here she is using these assessments as a way of maximising her fight against this disorder that she feels is claiming her daughter. Her narrative emphasised the sadness and frustration

of trying to capture the capacities she knows her daughter possesses before she regresses further and becomes more non-verbal.

Secondly, Anne wanted this "ammunition" so that she can ensure that her daughter's giftedness is not "overlooked" or "forgotten" particularly since her daughter's "behaviour is not what is expected of a gifted kid" and may be misunderstood. She hoped that the "baseline" received from the assessments will "keep reminding people that she's got two aspects to her". Her concern is that "everyone's so busy going on and on about her autism and forgetting that she was a smart cookie before it and she's a smart cookie still".

It's frustrating. You know what your child is capable of but you cannot get it out, to get the world to know, to have it on paper, to have an objective, you know, standard to measure her by.

In the school context she hopes that it will result in the school respecting her and making sure that she is given the opportunities that will maximise her potential and so that she doesn't get "bored". Anne aims to use these assessments to give credibility to her expectations of the school that they give her child an individual education plan and acknowledge her abilities.

Anne also wanted to tell me "we're not pushy parents, you know, we don't flash card them and hothouse them" but they want them to get every opportunity available to them. She said this in the context of wanting to ensure that the school respects them and provides them with all that they need in order to do the best that they can academically. It seemed that Anne felt that because she has expectations of the school that she needs to defend herself against some kind of label or stereotype of being a "pushy parent".

Thirdly, Anne hopes that the results of the assessments may give her "some basis to challenge" some parts of the therapy that her daughter is currently receiving "because some of it's too basic". This further demonstrates her concern that her daughter's "giftedness" is being overlooked and ignored and that she is not being presented with the challenges that she is capable of. Anne hopes that by having a formal assessment that says that her daughter is gifted that she will have the "ammunition" to get the therapists to provide her daughter with the level of complexity that she needs.

Finally, Anne has had a number of instances where she has experienced the medical profession to be very suspicious of any claims she makes regarding her daughter, including reporting that her daughter was experiencing physical pain. This has resulted in her feeling "insulted" and that she is being spoken to as though she is "an idiot". This makes her quite angry.

My only hope is that some of these [assessments] will give us some basis to go back to some of these guys and say "I'm not making it up. Here is some other person who says this"...if you're not going to take my word for it please take the word of a professional, you know, who is not related to him

Anne hopes that by having another professional's opinion she can go back to medical professionals with proof of what she is saying.

Anne's protectiveness in relation to her daughter was evident in her narrative. She sees her role as protecting her daughter and advocating for her so that her giftedness is acknowledged and she is not misunderstood. She also sees her role as being one of "carer", someone who resources therapies that will provide "stimulation", "to keep her safe because she runs off, disappears, escapes all the time", "to keep her routine" and to "monitor what she eats, monitor her moods" to ensure that she "keep[s] on top of things" and intervenes early to avoid "melt down and tantrum".

Anne clearly feels a great deal of responsibility towards her daughter and is aware of the weight of her presence in her daughter's life. She said that it "became very obvious that when I wasn't here that she deteriorated", which indicates that she is acutely aware of the link between her absence and her regression. Anne takes her responsibility as carer very seriously and this realisation resulted in her dedicating herself to her daughter's care.

This assessment experience has resulted in Anne feeling very "frustrated". She views it as having been "very very long" and indicates that the journey is going to be an on going one. This was made evident through statements such as "you know, you just have to keep working through and see where you get with her", "we'll probably have to wait until she's a little bit older to try and get more" and when referring to a more appropriate assessment that is available she said "I'll just have to paw around until we've got one". Anne sees this as a "battle" that will continue for many years to come.

Anne's story took on a dialectic narrative form; she spoke of progress despite tension. For years she has campaigned and fought for the welfare of her children and she appears to anticipate that this will be an on-going process. This narrative focuses on themes of frustration at Anne's inability to have her daughter's abilities acknowledged and her desire to have assessment as a form of ammunition that will help her to take care of her daughter's needs in the future.

Mary: "Total Faith"

Mary explained that for years she and her husband, who has been diagnosed with both ADHD and dyslexia, suspected that their son has dyslexia. They became especially concerned because their son would be doing his final exams for secondary school the following year and they knew that if he was diagnosed as dyslexic he would be entitled to a "reader-writer", someone who would sit with him through his exams and write down his verbal responses to the questions. Mary has an acquaintance that is an expert in special needs and suggested that they approach a clinic which conducts psychological assessments. Their son attended the assessments and was diagnosed as having dyslexia. As a result their son has been assigned a reader-writer and has learned some new learning techniques that assist him in his style of learning, for example that it helps him to be able to hear the material that he has to learn rather than simply reading it. Their son is now more hopeful of the future and is more "onto it" when it comes to accumulating credits and knowing how many more he needs and so forth. He is also making plans towards his future career.

During my conversation with Mary a number of themes and ideas emerged. Firstly, Mary seemed to view her and her husband's role as being that of a good parent, being "keen" and "happy" to provide whatever is needed to ensure that their child's needs are met. This was what motivated them when taking action and it was certainly not, Mary stressed, to "label" or "brand" the child. She does however suggest that the "labelling" of her child would be of assistance because it would open up the possibility of receiving the academic assistance that he needs. It seems that Mary was hoping that the assessment would give them some answers to questions around learning styles and diagnoses. She hoped that this would translate into a solution so that she and her husband can do what's best for their child.

Mary's narrative also focused on her concern that her son may have missed out in the context of a busy family. Mary also lamented her own role in relation to her son's difficulties. She felt she had not always said the "appropriate" thing to her son, for example comparing her own experience of reading with her son's. Mary also spoke about how her son was a middle child and described how he had had difficulties with his siblings and struggles at school.

Mary's narrative highlighted her and her husband's knowledge of the area of learning difficulties. Her husband has being diagnosed with ADHD and dyslexia and so has had personal experience of these disabilities and has been quite involved in the assessment process. Mary also mentioned that she has worked in the education field and as a result was able to recognise the dyslexia in her son prior to the assessment. She added that her husband had done a test in his adult life and had finally been diagnosed with ADHD but she had already seen it in him from when they first met and this test simply confirmed it for her. They have also done a great deal of reading up on the subject of dyslexia and so were not surprised when their son was diagnosed with it. Mary was however very surprised to find that they had not diagnosed him with ADHD

She repeatedly mentioned her surprise that her son had not been diagnosed with ADHD despite the fact that she had been quite certain of it, having been able to identifying it in her husband and seeing signs of it in her son. She denied, however, having any doubts that something may have been missed, insisting that she had "total faith" in the psychologists, which she described as being "skilled" and "very thorough" in their "testing", as they fulfil their role of determining whether their son "fits this box or he doesn't fit that box".

Mary described their son as been "exuberant", "full-on", "active" and as having a good sense of humour. She also said that they believe him to be a "bright enough" boy and that the test had shown that he has been very resourceful in coming up with coping strategies to help himself in his learning. He is seen as being very capable but as having a different learning style and if they could just get advice on how to figure that out it would be okay. The assessment has allowed them to gain more knowledge on what their son's learning style is.

The tone of Mary's narrative was sometimes apologetic and unassuming. She appeared

to hold professionals in high regard and did not question their abilities or skill. She

declared having "total faith" in them, that they were "very skilled" and "very thorough". Mary

portrayed the professionals in this story as heroes but in spite of this also revealed some

dissatisfaction with a number of factors relating to the assessment process. The first was

that although the assessment was "very thorough" Mary spoke of how they had expected it

to be purely academic testing but instead they were asked the "type of questions they had

never been asked before" on issues such as family dynamics and how their son's

relationships with his siblings are. She was surprised by this and said that the friend who

had referred her had not mentioned that this would happen but perhaps she did not know

about it. In her narrative, Mary, however paired this kind of implied criticism with praise for

the professionals for their very "thorough" testing which enabled them to get a full

understanding of their son, which they would otherwise not have been able to access

without the insight of a trained professional.

Finally, Mary said that quite a bit of "technical jargon" had been used during her meeting

with the senior psychologist and she had asked for clarification but had been told that "it's

not really important to define what it is but that if you can just understand this graph shows

blah blah" and she left still feeling that she had not understood everything but did have

some advice on what to do, which she was pleased with. Mary justified this by saying that it must be very difficult to put all that information into "layman's terms" to explain to a

"parent who doesn't know a lot about that sort of thing". Again Mary had "faith" in these

professionals despite having unanswered questions.

Mary's story took on the shape of a progressive narrative in which there is development

over time. They sought help for their son, he has received the necessary assistance and

his future is now looking more hopeful as a result. Although she clearly had some doubts

about aspects of the assessment process, she professed faith in the psychologist's opinion

and gratitude for the help she had received. When I thanked Mary for participating she

said that she was only happy to be able to "give back".

Kate: The Pursuit of 'Normality'

44

Kate and I met at her home after she had finished work. Kate works in the education field. She was well dressed and had a beautiful home. Her story of her son's assessment conveyed her thoughtfulness and emotional insight. She is a single mum, who described herself as being busy. She and her husband divorced many years ago. Since then she has been in a long-term relationship which ended fairly recently.

Kate explained to me that her assessment journey had begun when her son first went to primary school and required a RTLB (Resource Teacher for Learning Behaviour) to assist him with some learning and behaviour difficulties he was having. This lasted for one or two years and then he no longer needed the RTLB. During primary school her son was also identified as being gifted and he attended a one day school for gifted children for almost a year. Kate described the experience of having her son in a gifted school as being a positive one because she was "pleased" at the thought that "perhaps one of the reason's for [son]'s difficulties was because he was very bright". Next her son moved on to intermediate school and once again required RTLB support as he was "having difficulties with the transition" and he "wasn't performing in the way that normal children do", which raised concerns for Kate. The issues her son was experiencing at that time involved "behavioural" difficulties, problems with "social skills" and an "emotional lack of maturity". The fact that her son required a RTLB also confirmed to Kate that he was having problems because RTLBs are not called in unnecessarily; having worked in the education field she is familiar of these processes.

At this stage Kate decided that she wanted to have her son psychologically assessed. She sought out this help for a number of reasons. Firstly, she was concerned about his progress at school. In particular her son "was doing a few silly things at school that were inappropriate, some behavioural things, making noises, disruptive, kind of, attention-seeking things" and having "behavioural" difficulties, problems with "social skills" and an "emotional lack of maturity".

Secondly, she wanted to make the right choice of college for her son; whether he should go into a co-ed school or a single-sex school. Thus, for Kate, the assessment was prompted by a turning point in her son's schooling career and she felt that by getting to know more about her son through the assessment that she would be better informed to make this decision. Kate sees her role as a parent to ensure that her son's educational

needs are met to the best of her ability. She wants him to be in an environment that facilitates his learning.

Thirdly, Kate wanted to find out if her son had Asperger's syndrome. When Kate and her ex-partner's relationship came to an end Kate said that things "came to a head because he indicated that he was having some difficulties with [son] and that he thought that it might be appropriate if I found out whether he was Asperger's". This suggestion was made because her ex-partner had been to his doctor and had discussed Kate's son with him and together, with the aid of google, had "self-diagnosed" Kate's son. Kate wanted to find out for herself whether this was true or not and if so what she was to do about it and what the school was to do about it. Here Kate indicated that by having this diagnosis of "Asperger's" given to her son that it would then result in action both by herself and also by the school, thus suggested that labels equate to solutions.

Finally, Kate also wanted to find out if it was her parenting that had caused these difficulties in her child. She felt solely responsible because she is a busy, solo parent and her son has little contact with his father. She felt that because he spends all his time with her and is raised entirely by her that the fault must also then lie with her. She also seemed to express some regret about the fact that her son had had to grow up without his father around and said "I didn't quite know the impact of that on a child". So as Kate said "there were lots of things that I just needed some answers to".

So the assessment was done at a clinic and Kate reports that the difficulties that they were experiencing have "improved significantly" and her son no longer requires a RTLB. She believes that this improvement is due to a number of factors. Firstly, the fact that they were able to spend a couple of months "really focussing in on everything that was happening for [son] and [son]'s life outside of school, inside of school, friendships, our home situation". This Kate said "gave him, and me also I think, a chance to really focus on what was necessary for [son] and why he was going through what he was going through, how he was achieving or underachieving or overachieving in some areas". In addition to this she felt that it was helpful for her son to be able to talk to someone about what was going on for him.

Secondly, Kate found the "guidance" that was given by the clinician very helpful. In particular her son was given some coping mechanisms and some recommendations were made such as developing a good routine, re-doing a previously tried bed wetting programme and providing an opportunity for there to be continuous dialogue between her and her son so that he is provided with the necessary support. Kate suggested that a professional's guidance was very of great value and resulted in improvement. Thirdly, Kate spoke of feeling "stronger" in her ability to deal with her son and that she is becoming more consistent in her parenting. Fourthly, Kate attributed some of the improvement to environmental factors, such as her son having "grown up" and become "more mature". In addition to this she thought that the fact that he no longer has the previous conflict with her ex-partner has also contributed to his progress.

Kate also found that the assessment was quite enlightening and that her knowledge of her son has improved. Firstly, she discovered that in fact her son displays "none of the features of Asperger's" which at first she described as being "reassuring". But when I enquired a little more on the subject Kate said "I suppose if there'd been a label that I could have put on him to explain some of his difficulties that might have maybe made it easier for me but then I didn't really do this to make it easier for me". She also indicated that this label would result in someone giving them a solution that she and the school could apply to the problem. This conflict between wanting a "label" and not wanting the "label" appeared a few times during our interview. On a number of occasions when she mentioned "Asperger's syndrome", "suffering from" or "normal" she would follow it immediately with the phrase "for want of a better word" implying some regret at having to use these labels.

Kate also found out that her son is very thorough in his work but as a result he works quite slowly. She said that she had been quite "surprised" to learn this and that there is "almost a bit of controversy there in [her son]'s ability". It was also confirmed to her that "in some areas he's very bright and in other areas he really struggles" and she described this as being "two extremes", which she thought would be good for the school to know.

As a result of the assessment Kate has also decided to send her son to a co-ed school because the assessment found that he gets on well with girls because he finds them to be more mature and easier to talk to. He also tends to feel "intimidated" and "bullied" by "boy-

boys", her son "is not a boy-boy". He is more of an "intellectual" and "not at all sporty". As a result she doesn't "want [son] to get lost in the system" in a single-sex school were sport may be more of a priority and he may be perceived as different. Here Kate conceptualises her son as being "intellectual" rather than "sporty", which places a positive light on the before mentioned difficulties.

When I asked Kate how she found the assessment experience emotionally she replied by saying that she was "proud" of her son. She thought that her son had "presented himself" well and "was able to talk reasonably articulately about things". She had also mentioned earlier that she had found it "really reassuring for [clinician] to be able to say that [son] was actually a really nice, young boy who she found quite a delight to deal with and that had a lovely sense of humour and despite the fact that he would often be tired when he went to see her" "So that was nice to know that even when conditions aren't optimum that [son] can perform in the way that you would want a child to". She also said when describing her son's behaviour during the assessment process that it was "good for me to know that, you know, that despite the fact that he has difficulties that he's a good kid really". Kate strongly desires that her son be acceptable to others and that he be perceived in a positive way.

This process of gaining insight into her son seems to have been a positive experience although it has not come without its struggles. She has now found that he "has a different approach" and "his way of thinking is different to many children". She feels she now has to grieve the dream she had for her son. In particular she described her frustration at the fact that his "interests are very very limited" and she said "there are things that I think as a parents you wish for your children and then obviously I wish that [son] was more sociable and more involved in activities". She said that at his age all she can do is encourage him and present him with options, which she has done for years with no success. Kate feels, however, that she cannot force him to do what he is not interested in. This has been a "challenge" for her since as a child she was "involved in lots of extramural things" and she sees "that as being making a whole person". She desperately wants him to "have an allround experience of being a kid and what it's like being in a team, being a team player". She is also concerned that "as an adult his experiences will continue to be narrow as well". But after the assessment Kate said that she is "just accepting that [son] is who he is" and "just accepting the fact that [son]'s not ever going to be a sporty person or somebody who does extremely well or who is self-motivated in anything other than what he is particularly interested in, which is computers [laughs]". Again Kate presented a picture of what she had hoped for her son. Instead she has to grieve these dreams and reconceptualise her son in a way that fits him and reconciles his differences to her hopes, for example as an "intellectual".

Kate was very clear about her role as a mum. She described her role as follows: "I've just worked my hardest to make him a helpful, respectful, kind, you know, trustworthy, honest person and just guiding him as best as I can" "For me as a mum I think it's what I'd like to achieve with...my kids. To make sure that they grew into adulthood being respectful of others, and kind and helpful and honest and all those things that will help be good, reasonable human beings". Alongside this she also seems, as was previously mentioned, to have an expectation that they have a wide variety of interests and abilities and that she provide these. Kate wants to provide all that her children need to be happy and productive in their adult lives. It may be that to her another form of provision is for her to see to their psychological needs and in order to do this she has ensured that her child has access to a psychologist. Kate portrayed her son as being problematic in terms of his behaviour and that she would like to see him being more sociable, outgoing and having more interests and activities but that she is learning to accept who he is. She also sees that he is a "good kid" despite all this.

Kate expressed to me that she "was *really* happy with the process that [they] went through" and that the clinician "welcomed [son] so warmly and built up such a lovely relationship with him very quickly, which was nice and in a nice environment that we were able to go to and [she] felt safe leaving him there with her". She also had no problems getting her son to go along.

Kate's story of the assessment process is a progressive narrative since the characters in this story improves over time. Her son has experienced improvement both through his behaviour and through her choice to accept him for who he is. As a result their home becomes more like what she would like it to be.

Amy: In the Dark

Amy and I met at her workplace. She reported that much of her daughter's assessment had taken place a number of years ago and so her memory of it is not very clear. Amy

presented herself as being very familiar with mental health issues and with the systems and organisations that operate within this field. This familiarity comes as a result of working within the mental health field herself. She has not always been aware of the workings of this area, however, and it was before her mental health work that her daughter was psychologically assessed. Amy emphasised the importance of family involvement and "early intervention", which further demonstrated to me her knowledge of the area.

Amy explained to me that it all began with her daughter showing signs of withdrawing and playing a lot of computer games. Amy had a sense that something was wrong but because her daughter "was actually getting up in the morning and doing that most days. [she] thought well, you know, she's going to school". And this comforted her until one day she received a phone call from the school her daughter attended saying that their daughter was in the counsellor's office and was suicidal and appeared to be catatonic. Amy then had an interview with the counsellor. After this she made an appointment to see the principle and only then was she told that her daughter had been absent from school for two thirds of that year. This had not been communicated to Amy at any stage prior to the interview. "The school just really wanted, at that stage, [daughter] not to be there" and so Amy and her husband had to sign her out for health reasons. Amy then took her daughter to the GP who referred them to a local clinic which did an assessment on Amy's daughter. including a neuro-psychological assessment, and diagnosed her as being clinically depressed. They prescribed medication but this made no difference to her daughter's mood. She was then given the option of either one-on-one psychological counselling or family therapy; "One or the other". Amy's daughter went for the one-on-one counselling but because her sleep cycles were "upside down" she was often not able to attend the appointments due to being asleep. Amy described the process of "trying to pull a sleeping child out of bed to try and get to the counselling sessions" as being "very distressing for both her [daughter] and family members". The clinic's response was "well it appears that she doesn't want our service so if she doesn't come, then we can't do anything". They did some family therapy since Amy felt that family meetings "would be important to get us all on the same page and, because I had also come to suicide-prevention group at [agency] and...learnt that including families was important". She also believed that "having everybody maybe change behaviours that were not proving fruitful or having a good outcome would be perhaps a good in road into learning how we could address some of the issues that maybe weren't being helpful for our daughter". The outcome of the family

therapy "wasn't what [she] thought it would be" and her daughter was discharged from the service.

Some years later her daughter arrived at the decision to stop smoking, drinking and taking a drug similar in properties to marijuana. She did this without consultation with anyone, including family. "She thought that that was a good thing. 'I'll make a fresh start'" and the result was a sleepless three days and a psychotic episode. Amy once again took her daughter to the GP who referred her to the local mental health service and also to a drug and alcohol service. The drug and alcohol service said that she needed a psychological service and did not accept her into their service but the mental health service built up a good rapport with Amy's daughter and used to visit her at home. She was then referred by the mental health service to a psychosis service and then on to a residential service. Her daughter left the residential service and has now moved to another city. She "hasn't linked herself in with mental health", which Amy feels she should do but she does appear to be doing better. "She's going for job interviews. She's eating well and joined a gym."

From my conversation with Amy it appeared that there were a number of aspects to this experience that was very "distressing" for her as a parent. Firstly, she felt that the clinic at which her daughter was originally assessed had dismissed her because she wasn't showing the expected behaviour. She explained that she "had a sense" that "because [their] daughter wasn't showing outward signs of" wanting the service "turning up for meetings for example, or appointments" they just dismissed her because "[they]'ve got plenty of other people that do want the treatment so, you know, your choice sort of thing." This was distressing for Amy because her daughter "wasn't able to make those appointments due to "having sleep cycles upside-down"

Secondly, Amy felt that the process of having her daughter psychologically assessed was out of her control and she felt very much "in the dark". She reports that she "would have liked to have had a bit more direction at the time", "not knowing which direction or what support could support us as a family" and "what supports there are out there for [daughter]". Amy paints a desperate picture here. She presented herself as seeking some control, understanding and direction and finding none.

When her daughter was initially referred to the drug and alcohol service and they dismissed her as needing a psychological service, when Amy felt that it was a "dual-diagnosis thing", and they referred her daughter on without explanation and in a "very clinical" way. This only served to exacerbate the experience of feeling "in the dark". Amy wonders "if I had had some more help, support, knowledge about that time then maybe the intervention process could have...had a better outcome". Amy wonders even now if things might have been different had someone shed some light on that dark place and there is a sense of grief that comes with this question.

Thirdly, Amy found that the options presented to her at the time were very limited. This was evident during her first assessment experience when her daughter was not able to attend appointments due to being "too sick" and no alternatives were given. There were very limited options regarding her treatment. One medication was prescribed, they offered either family therapy or personal counselling, not both, and were only able to meet at the service itself and did not offer home visits.

Fourthly, lack of communication from the services providing the assessments was another aspect that was distressing for Amy. Firstly, when the school reported that her daughter had been absent for two-thirds of the year without any prior communication of the issue. And again in the original experience at the clinic Amy was not explained to about the medication her daughter was put on and she has no recollection of ever receiving a reported back from the psychologist, although she thinks that her daughter may have not wanted her to under the Code of Rights at the time. In addition to this, years later, when Amy wanted to be included in meetings regarding her daughter in the residential service, she asked for minutes of meetings, audits, plans and reviews but none were given. Amy also felt that to request to be involved was "frowned upon" because it was seen as "challenging the system".

Fifthly, Amy repeatedly referred to what she considered to be "big gaps". These appeared on a number of occasions. The first time was when her daughter was "too sick" to attend counselling appointments due to her sleep cycles being "upside-down". She felt "the problem wasn't really addressed" and that there was a gap in the system regarding treating people that were "too sick". More recently this was evident when her daughter was referred to the drug and alcohol service and told that it was not appropriate for her despite

the fact that "she had obvious problems with drugs and alcohol" and Amy felt that the service would be a beneficial addition. Once again in the residential service Amy's daughter's flat mate was replaced by an individual who had "serious *drug* and *alcohol* problems and he caused a problem for the *whole* residential service". These "big gaps" were also experienced in a "lack of fluency and continuity". This was evident when her daughter was promised CBT at the psychosis service but had to wait for a number of weeks because the therapist was unavailable.

All of these experiences ultimately resulted in a feeling of broken trust. Being in a vulnerable position Amy explained that "you naturally put your trust, you want to put your trust in someone because you're not able to do it yourself" and at the clinic this trust was broken when they were "too busy" to deal with someone as unwell as her daughter. Experiences of having her daughter referred to other services without explanation and services appearing "very clinical" served to break this trust for both herself and her daughter.

Amy's experience of having her daughter assessed by the mental health service in more recent years was more positive, however because on the whole she felt that there was a more positive treatment of her daughter, there was better communication and that information that was transferred to herself was very good. This resulted in her feeling more "secure" and that she "could trust that they were actually genuine". But on the whole Amy described these encounters as being an "alien type experience" in which as a family they were "thrust all together", having expectations and yet not knowing what to expect and wanting to know "what can we do or not do or not say". She found the experience "scary" due to "not knowing fully how the systems all work" "or what you can be doing to aid the person that you're trying to care for". She also found it "lonely and isolating" because she did not know what support she could have called on. She described herself as feeling "powerless and helpless" and the process as being "consuming" for them as parents and for their family as a whole.

Amy had a great number of questions that she wanted answered around their parenting by the experience of having her daughter psychologically assessed. They included: "what have we done wrong?" "what could we do better?" "How do we put things right?" "How can we be a...better support?" "What are some skills that we can take on board to improve our

relationship with our...daughter?". "You make mistakes and then you wonder, well, how

can I change that outcome or can I change the outcome?" "Or is there something I can do

to make whatever that outcome has been, turn it into a positive experience?". Amy

appears to feel that their mistakes may have had a negative impact on their daughter and

that they are in some way to blame. Unfortunately Amy never had these questions

answered during the process of having her daughter psychologically assessed. Instead

she has come to her own answers through her work in mental health.

Finally, Amy described her role in the process as a "support" and "advocate". She was an

"advocate" in that she was there "asking questions" and being "somebody that can be the

voice of someone who doesn't feel like they have a voice". In addition to this Amy saw her

role as being quite practical as she attended meetings and tried to get her daughter to her

appointments.

The siblings in the family Amy also saw as playing a role. She wanted her daughter to be

able "to voice how they could support her". She wanted them to be given "skills and

strategies" and "education around the whole psychosis experience, or clinical depression

experience, so they could know...what they could say". She wanted them to be told if there

was "anything that they were doing or not doing that would...make family life better for

their sister". She also wanted them to know that there was "no blame" and she wanted

someone to say this to her children. Amy wanted help but the experts that she so badly

needed were apparently unavailable during this frightening and out of control experience

and answers to these questions were never provided by the professionals involved.

Amy's story took on a dialectic narrative form as she spoke of progress despite tension.

This journey has been a long, hard one and it continues to be. She felt she had had little

support from professionals involved in the assessment process. She felt that there had

been some improvement in her daughter's condition as she looks for employment,

exercises and associates with better people but she feels that this is a result of factors

other than the assessment process.

Emma: Guarding the Gates to a Heart

54

Emma and I met at her work place. Emma's story is steeped in emotion and at one point she was brought to tears as she told me of her experience. Emma paints a picture of herself as the guardian of her child as she beats back wave upon wave of professionals seeking to do an assessment or implement an intervention on her son, with little respect for either of them. The result has been that Emma is exhausted and feels that her son, despite her best efforts, has experienced damage to his ability to trust and his self esteem.

It all began when Emma's son was aged five and went to school for the first time. Within a very short space of time his teacher identified "behavioural aspects that she thought needed further investigation". The school wanted to bring the school psychologist in to assess him but Emma decided to get a private psychologist herself because she felt "no, I actually need some kind of control here". This psychologist "observed him in his classroom, in the playground, three times at different times of the day, in different settings" and wrote up a report to the school in which he said that in his opinion no intervention was required. The school disagreed with this decision and decided to do its own assessments. "They did assessments on sight, on sound, on hearing...spatial assessments were done on him, cognitive assessments were done on him. All sorts of assessments were done. It was just on-going". In addition to this teacher aids and a RTLB teacher was assigned to Emma's son and "every quarter" there would be a "big meeting were there would just be a room full of people, basically saying gobbledy-gook stuff, which you didn't really understand and then after your input there would be people that would come around to the house and you knew that you were being observed at home". This continued throughout Emma's son's primary school years and he saw the psychologist when necessary during that time.

In intermediate the school made a referral to a clinic to have Emma's son assessed again. The psychiatrist at this service saw the report and said that there was nothing wrong with him and that "he didn't know why he'd been brought in" but a psychologist at the service also read the report and said that she would like to investigate the possibility of brain injury. She met with Emma on a number of occasions and had someone from a brain injury service come and speak to Emma and they applied for accident compensation cover and did some tests but at that point Emma's son's father said that he would not allow the process to go any further. "His father has never been in agreement to anything, to any kind of intervention at all, ever. And he disagreed with everything that's ever been done."

There are a number of characters in Emma's story: villains, heroes, victims and defenders. Firstly, Emma presented the professionals, those with whom she met in the quarterly meetings, and some of the teachers as being the villains. Emma seemed to think of them as lofty in the sense that they presented themselves as being "so knowledgeable" and having very "educated opinions" and in front of whom she didn't want to "look like an idiot" by asking "excuse me what does that mean?". One way in which this power relation was played out was through a lack of communication from the professionals and consequentially a sense of lack of control for Emma. Every school term she would find herself in "a big meeting were there would just be a room full of people, basically saying gobbledy-gook stuff' and she found it "scary because you didn't actually really know what was going on". She said "I didn't know what was happening, I didn't know what was happening and it wasn't explained to me properly. It was more like "you son's got a problem and this person, and now he's doing this, and now he's doing that" and they're going" even to the point at which they asked her to "sign papers and say that [service] would have the say as to his medication". She refused to do this and when she asked if that meant that she wouldn't be able to appose an intervention they did not answer her. Emma, when talking about this lack of communication, explained that

It would have been helpful if they had engaged with *him* at *his* age-group level and said "this is what we're doing" or, you know, made it more *user-friendly*...it was always like all those little isolated satellites that were done and you were left to go and try figure it out, now why would they be doing that?...You know, so it was a bit confusing at times

Emma also reported that there was "a fair amount of jargon" and "for the first couple of years [she] thought "what is RTLB?". "And then you sit in a big meeting with a whole heap of people and their all giving their educated opinions on certain things and you're thinking "I don't know what that means and what's the acronym of that?""

These professionals also came across as being very cold and clinical in their interactions and Emma was left feeling powerless in the face of their interference. Emma described them as "doing their job, you know, they come in, tick the boxes, done the assessment, move on, next one, write the report, off we go" and that "they rather do to you rather than with you" and that her son perceived these professionals as being "another person coming in and doing another thing to him". Emma tried to regain some control by having a private

psychologist come in and also by acting as a protector and advocate for her son but there were times when it "wasn't always in [her] power to do".

These professionals also presented to Emma a picture of her son that she did not recognise and she found this very confusing. At times it even seemed to Emma that they were talking about a different person and she couldn't "believe it". She even went back to her son's old kindergarten and asked them what they thought and the director of the kindergarten said that he couldn't understand the reports that the professionals were presenting because Emma's son had never presented these behaviours at the kindergarten. Emma said that it was "*very* confusing, *very* confusing". At the same time she said that she didn't "completely disagree with the reports, it was just a shock with the way they were given to [her] in the beginning".

Emma also found that "it was *difficult* to get answers and it was *difficult* to get explanations and it was *difficult* to challenge because then you could be seen as being a difficult parent and that wasn't the situation" and that "if you tried to actually put across that that sounded unlike your son because that wasn't behaviour he'd displayed at home then they would almost brush you aside and discount".

To cope with this Emma had to become strategic in her interactions with these professionals in these big meetings. She described how she learnt how to communicate with them so that she felt more heard and could voice her disagreement. She said that "it was almost having to *learn* how to speak their language to be able to get in and understand what they were saying about your child" and that "as a mother to actually try and understand the processes and assessments you actually have to, you have to learn the language, you have to get your head in the ring, you have to check and make sure that things are going fair and people are doing their job". Emma's use of the words "them", "their" and "they" suggest that she views them as a collective, faceless enemy that she needs to overcome.

Emma felt that her questioning of the system did not come without a price however. She explained that she "did feel that when [she] didn't comply with them there would be a pulling back in a sense". She said that "if I didn't comply with them completely and say "yes, yes," and "I'll do what you want" then the support for [son] in terms of when I

wasn't around didn't seem to be put in place". Emma felt that this was a passive manipulation to ensure that she did what the professionals wanted her to do. She refused to do what she did not agree with but would cooperate when she could see that something may be helpful.

Emma also described that even now when she has "approached the school and said that there are behavioural issues" and asked for support it has also been a struggle. They say "well he has to *want* it. He has to *ask* for it' or he has to do something seriously *wrong* when they can then force him into it". She has found this "extremely difficult" and "a struggle all the way through". When she hasn't wanted the help they have given it and when she wants it, it is withheld.

There was also a teacher that Emma spoke of who was a villain in this story. She described to me that this teacher wanted to put Emma's son on Ritalin and Emma was very apposed to this because her view of Ritalin is that "if your child doesn't sit and behave himself like a little *girl* we'll put you on Ritalin and *make* you behave like a little *girl*". Emma also reported that this teacher also caused a great deal of psychological distress in her son, that he was seen by the psychologist and that that teacher "was not allowed to have any further contact" with her son.

In addition to this teacher her son's father was portrayed as hindering her son from potentially receiving the help he needed in the form of the brain injury investigation. Emma also felt that his disagreement with the interventions that had taken place in the past had "rubbed off on" her son and this made this option even less likely to be pursued. Although the psychologist at the clinic offered a glimmer of hope and was "good in staying linked in" with Emma and continually saying "Are you sure you don't want this?"", when she hear that the father had refused to allow further investigation "she didn't really understand or attempt to understand the situation that I was in" and sent Emma on a "guilt trip". Emma felt that she "wasn't that understanding and if...she had attempted to understand there might have been another way that we could have engaged and brought him in". So as a result of her lack of understanding and empathy came a lost opportunity for Emma.

In this story Emma was the defender. During this time Emma saw her role "as a big *guard* dog at the door. That's how I saw my role because I had the feeling that if I just let them all come in I didn't know what would happen to him. I felt like a big guard 'cause he's so sensitive" Emma reiterates this protective sentiment later on when she said "I'm quite protective about him" and when the option of the brain injury investigation came up and her son did not want to engage she expressed that she was trying to "balance" all these "different elements", including difficulties at home, and "all of that in the best interests of your son" and to her this meant to "still allow him to have some kind of self-esteem going 'cause if I had overridden everything I would have just been either classified and put in the same box as he put everybody else who did that to him and undermined him. So I had to allow him to have some kind of feeling that he was of worth and that I believed what he said". Her narrative expressed her strong desire to protect her son and his emotions. Part of this protecting, guarding role involved being an advocate. In addition to this Emma saw her role as "just to love him, just to *try* and encourage him and *try* reinforce and help him".

Emma also presented her son's strengths during our conversation together. She told me of how initially her son had "refused to read" and then when he "decided" to learn to read he jumped nine levels in one year, which the teachers said was "impossible". She then told me that he has been "above average" in his reading ever since. In addition to this she told me that "the psychologists who did an assessment on him on the intelligence side said that he's above average". Emma equated the initial difficulties around her son's reading as being as the result of a schooling system that doesn't suit her son. Emma also suggested that perhaps her son's difficulties were more to do with others' perception of his behaviour than an actual problem when she mentioned that "if your child doesn't sit and behave himself like a little *girl* we'll put you on Ritalin and *make* you behave like a little girl and then we can teach you and the rest of the class" as if to suggest that he was behaving just as he should because he's not a little girl, he's a little *boy*. She also told me that "he's a very popular boy today. He's got heaps and heaps of friends" and "he's got a *fantastic* sense of humour".

This has been particularly hard for Emma because she is an immigrant and was unfamiliar with the school system in New Zealand at the time. This resulted in her feeling "a bit overwhelmed". She reported that she didn't "have the support structures so you actually draw back and let them do". She also said that she didn't have the opportunity to then take

the information and reports that she was given during this time and seek a second opinion from family members who knew her son well.

Emma described this process as being never-ending. She said "it just never stopped really. It *never* stopped", "It's *always* difficult", "it just goes on and on, and the next step and the next step" and "in the end [she] just thought, "ah, this is just *so exhausting*". And with this comes a sense of hopelessness and a feeling that she may never know what the problem for her son actually is. She asked "Does he have a psychological problem? I *still don't know* with *all* the assessments that he's had going over the years" and little hope of finding out because she no longer feels that she can "force" him to cooperate with assessments.

The emotions that Emma has associated with this experience are "sadness, deep sadness, weariness, anger...because...I was trusting the people in authority within the school and over the years there have been so many times they've failed me and failed my son. So I'm angry at myself as well for allowing myself to trust". In addition to a sense of betrayed trust there also appears to be a level of regret here as well as she speaks of being "angry with [herself] for allowing [herself] to trust". She also mentioned that the psychologist at the clinic had given her a "guilt trip" and she laments that "If [she] could [investigate the possibility of brain injury] [she] would *go* for it but it's not that *easy*". Emma also said "you never know if you've done the right thing or not".

The result of these continual assessments has had severe consequences on her son. Emma portrayed her son as being the victim of the system. Early on in his schooling Emma's son went for extra lessons for his reading and "from an early age he was always taken out the classroom for certain things, which made him *feel* like he was *different*, which just compounded the problem". As a result of the constant assessments her son has become quite distrusting of professionals. She explained that by the time he was referred to the clinic he had become "pretty scathing" of professionals and saw them as people that had never "really *helped* in any way, they had just made his life quite difficult at school".

These ongoing assessments have also had an impact on her son's emotional development. Not only is her son distrusting of professionals but of most other people as well. Emma feels that these assessments have "just made him *very very* sceptical and he

doesn't trust easily...he doesn't let anybody get close. He will *not* let people get close to him" and "some of that has got to answer for it". Emma feels that the experience has "undermined who he is and...it's undermined his ability to try and to give it a go...I think he's scared to try in case he fails because he might get another intervention happening or another assessment happening". Emma also said that her son now believes that he is "stupid" because of the way in which he was treated differently during his years at school, for example having to "sit in the separate chair from everybody else...[being] put on the edge of the mat when everybody sat in the centre of the mat". Emma feels that "that a lot of damage has been done in terms of his...self image and his...perception of what he *can* achieve or not achieve".

Emma told me of an experience which reflects the bigger narrative but within a smaller story.

One day he had to see with some woman with spatial stuff and she had all these little pots of different colours and that looked really difficult...I thought "oh my gosh"... "he's not going to be able to put those in order"... she mixed them all up and gave him a stick and said "don't put your finger on this", she was really like really "rrrr, don't put your finger on the pots, use the stick and move it with the stick" [tone changed to depict a grumpy person]. And he sat there with one arm, had his chin in his hand and he took the stick in the other and he looked at her and he just like moved each on into exact order and the whole time he looked at her as if to say "and now?" and her attitude just became quite authoritative...he became disengaged but still gave what was expected but from a distance...I...actually thought "good for you my boy" because there wasn't any *empathy* there or trying to engage with him at his *level*...it was another person coming in and *doing* another thing to him and he was, in his defence, showing displeasure that way.

This tale shows all the above mentioned elements: an cold, clinical, authoritative, disconnected and insensitive professional, a clever, sensitive boy who has been victimised and misunderstood but is still fighting back in his own way and a protective mother who supports and understands him and admires and empathises with his feeling that he needs to challenge.

Thankfully there have been some heroes in this story. Emma told me that "there were some people along the way...in this journey that...did have a good understanding of him" and that "there's been the odd person who...have been amazing but then you only have them for a while...so you do get those breaks where you have people who will explain to you, will listen, who will try and come on board and understand your son and his environment and work with that". "Through the schooling system with him there have been some good teachers...If I could have had them all the way through with him, wow, what a difference". The RTLB teacher played a particularly powerfully role in this story because she validated Emma's son and was encouraging and positive towards him.

The private psychologist that Emma got to assess her son during his primary school years is also a hero in this story. Emma saw his role as being her guide, "guiding [her] to what he felt would be best" particularly since she had no family in the country she "really relied heavily on his input". He was also "non-biased, going in and observing [her son] in different situations, with different people and *professionally* putting forward his findings as well as suggestions for any resources or personalities in terms of teacher that [her son] might benefit from or not benefit from".

Emma also wanted a label from the psychologist. She said "if you can classify [my son] as ADHD or having a mental illness or whatever, then I will work with you on that" but in the end "he wasn't prepared to give him a diagnosis". She seems to be saying that it would almost be easier to have a label because it can be seen as a "ticket" to some solution for her.

The story that Emma presented to me took on the form of a regressive narrative in that over time things have not improved in fact in some ways irreparable damage has been done. Due to these ongoing assessments Emma's son has become progressively more fragile and emotionally damaged. This narrative almost takes on the form of a tragedy.

Mark: Action Plans

I had originally arranged to meet with Mark and his wife together because they had both been very involved in the process of having their child assessed but I received a call before the interview that Mark's wife was not well and would not be able to meet with us. Mark suggested that we conduct our interview over the phone that evening.

His assessment journey began when Mark's daughter was in preschool. "There were some factors at preschool and one of the preschool teachers suggested that maybe she's ADHD". These difficulties were also apparent during her times with a speech therapist. Mark and his wife then decided to have their daughter assessed by a psychologist just before she went to school in order to find out "how she was going to work in a learning environment" but found that it was "a little bit too early to really determine every nuance...she was just a bit too young". Their daughter was also then involved with two programmes that assist people with ADHD, one of which she didn't finish because she was doing it "everyday twice a day" and it required a great deal of "focus and concentration" and eventually she was no long "making forward progress" due to "choosing to be able to be distracted 'cause she didn't feel she wanted to do this anymore" but "fortunately there had been some improvement by that stage". Then in Year One things came to a head because the Year One teacher found that "she was very difficult for her to handle...because she didn't have her medication and just didn't stay anywhere near what she was supposed to be focused on at that point" and Mark and his wife felt at their "wits end". This pushed them to seek "external professional help, some more" and this resulted in a formal diagnosis of ADHD by a paediatrician that was suggested by the family's GP. Their daughter was then put onto medication. Since then she has had a second psychological assessment. During this assessment their daughter had to stop her medication for a day or two before the assessment so that the psychologist could see her in her "native condition".

Since this time their daughter has made some progress in reading and she is working on improving her maths skills and her ability to complete tasks without becoming distracted. Mark and his wife have to be careful not to "push" her when she does not want to do something to avoid "melt-down". Mark reports that "progress is slow".

Mark presented himself as being a very organised and involved parent who is familiar with what has gone into helping his daughter, knew just were to find all the information relating to his daughter's assessments and told me that each of their children have a "help file". He appeared to actively engage in what is needed in order to give his daughter all that she

needs. He also reported that he has acquired quite a lot of knowledge on ADHD by means of his own personal reading, listening to audio books and attending conferences. He also made use of some very sensitive phrases such as saying that his son had "made wrong choices" regarding his behaviour, which shows his familiarity with the language used in today's education sector. Mark described their role as parents as follows:

I think our role has always been: "Let's find out what we can about [daughter], she's a special girl, and how she works. Let's try to figure out what things we can do to most help her with...the way she works and how she approaches things and both through the resources that may be available...or techniques and information that can help *us...*I guess our objective is: "Let's understand her the best we can and let's do everything we reasonably can to give her the *best* grounding and the *best* opportunities to learn and develop and become all that she can be"

Mark and I also discussed the fact that their daughter has been diagnosed with ADHD and when I asked him how they had felt about the diagnosis he said:

in the beginning, I would have thought "well, I just want to be sure that...she's not just being labelled for the sake of being labelled with something, what does it actually *mean*, what does this involve? And how does it affect her and how can we support her with this "thing" [laughter].

Mark makes a connection here between a diagnosis or label and what they can do about it. Here there is a direct link between labels and solutions. Mark then described how once they had received the diagnosis a lot of questions came up for them, including questions around "was it because of the way [they] brought her up?".

I explored the question "was it because of the way we brought her up?" with Mark a little further and Mark said "I think one of the questions that...I think we probably imagined early on in the process of us being told that she has ADHD is 'is there something that we've done? Could we have done things differently?" But through his own research and input from their GP Mark has come to the conclusion that it is not due to anything that they have done wrong. Mark also mentioned that his wife had suggested before that there may be a connection to when their daughter was new born and there were difficulties with breast-feeding which resulted in their daughter being undernourished. She wonders if there is a link there and they do not have an answer to this at this point.

Mark also told me that he had found the reports they received helpful. He explained that the reports firstly outline the tests that were used, what the results and measurements of those were and how they compare to the wider average. Mark said that from this information he gain the following insight: "Ok she's more capable in some aspects than others and she's less capable in some aspects than others. And that's sort of interesting and helps to give insights". The next section Mark explained outlines some practical suggestions for what can be done about the difficulties identified. Here Mark demonstrates his knowledge of the assessments, how they are laid out and what they mean.

Mark feels that "the information is most useful when it helps us to a) better understand how [daughter] thinks, and b) better be able to do something that's going to help things". Neither Mark nor his wife have ever questioned the accuracy of the reports. They have found that sometimes their own knowledge of their daughter is confirmed and sometimes they gain more insight into the way her mind works.

It's more been a case of some aspects that yeah, we can understand and relate to that and we see that particular factor and "oh, that's something we hadn't really known about. Probably it's been there all along but it's been measured in a more scientific way so that's interesting", sort of thing.

The main emotion that Mark expressed relating to the experience that they have been through was frustration. Initially, when their daughter first went to school and was taught by someone who they "felt was not at all suitable for new entrants, just in terms of her approach and strictness with them and things". This teacher had a difficult time with their daughter and would meet with Mark and his wife regularly and would "draw a scale out of sort of 1 to 10, or something along those lines as to how well [their daughter] was staying on track or whatever. And [they] were always getting *right* down at the bottom of the scale and she's disruptive and difficult and so on and that was emotionally...quite frustrating for [them]" and resulted in them feeling "at [their] wits-end" and asking themselves "What can we do?", "well, what's wrong with our child?", "is this teacher going out of their way to make it difficult for us in anyway?" and "are we getting a fair run here sort of thing?". This frustration lead to Mark seeking other options and it was out of this that they sought out the paediatrician and their daughter was diagnosed as ADHD.

Another theme that emerged while we spoke was that of concern for their daughter's self-esteem. Firstly Mark mentioned that the results of the assessments had helped them to be able to say: "Ah, well [daughter] you've got some areas that are challenges and you've got some areas that you're particularly good at too". He also mentioned that their GP had said that "there's kind of an age when she's not aware of what other's think very much and then as she grows up there could be a time that comes when she starts to brand herself as being "dumb" because she can start to see the contrast between her and her peers in some areas. And particularly if her peers at school came up with that idea and started to say derogatory things to her". The suggestion was that they work on creating "little islands of competence, little things that she can do well, that she can feel good about and sort of hang her self worth on". Mark has made an effort to spend some time with his daughter doing things that she does well and enjoys.

Mark also mentioned that the communication with the school over the years has been very helpful and that every term or two they "talk about strategy and compare notes with teachers", which "has been valuable". Mark also said that their daughter has not minded having so many assessments done and thinks that "probably to the extent that she can she sort of probably enjoys doing interesting and different things".

The story that Mark told me was a dialectic narrative because it spoke of progress despite tension. The process of having their daughter psychologically assessed, diagnosed as ADHD and assisted has been a long one and one that Mark expects will continue for many years to come. Although there has been progress Mark has described some issues that have made it a difficult journey, for example having unsympathetic teachers, slow progress with their son and questions around their own blame as parents.

Jenna: Second Opinions

Jenna and I met at her home and she told me of her experience of having her daughter psychologically assessed. Jenna told me that when her daughter was very little they had not thought that there was any problem with her ability because she appeared to be more advanced than other children in some areas, for example "she talked so early and she seemed really advanced". Then at age four they got her to do phoenix and at this point Jenna noticed that she was struggling to read and would often mix up d's and b's as well

as confusing words like "was" with "saw". Throughout her early years at school her daughter had difficulty with reading and one year her teacher came to Jenna and said that she thought that her daughter may be dyslexic. Her daughter was then sent to the school psychologist, who said that she was not dyslexic but instead had some concentration difficulties, which were making it hard for her to read and write. She also identified "quite a few little issues", including the fact that "visually...it's harder for her...she sees things differently". Jenna said of her daughter "she's not stupid but it's just she can't sort of get it down what she's trying to do" and that there are "quite a few little things that she needs work on". The result of the assessment has been that the psychologist wanted Jenna's daughter to see an occupational therapist and a paediatrician. The psychologist wants the paediatrician to give Jenna's daughter an official diagnosis of ADD, which Jenna does not agree with. Since the assessment the psychologist and Jenna have still not met to discuss what can be done for her daughter, for example meeting with teachers and so on. This has been very frustrating for Jenna. As a result Jenna has decided to go ahead on her own and has arranged an occupational therapist herself. She has also discussed her daughter's situation with a relative, who is very knowledgeable and holds a high position within the education sector and she is going to do her own assessment with her as well. Once Jenna has heard from all of the people involved then she feels she will be able to make an informed decision.

A number of ideas emerged during my conversation with Jenna which stood out to me. The first was her perception of labels, both that of "dyslexia" and "ADD". Although her daughter does not have dyslexia and she doubts very much that she will be diagnosed as ADD the possibility of these diagnoses does not concern her at all. Of dyslexia she said "Probably not so bad *now*. I think years ago, it was kind of like "oh my goodness"...But now it's...not so big a deal really. So I wasn't too concerned" and of ADD she said "we've got a few friends with kids that have it and so it doesn't worry me at all but I do know that some people do judge...Some people that don't understand, like they haven't had children with that or they've never heard of it and they're kind of think "oh my goodness that kid's", you know [laughs]. But because I've been around it I don't". From this it appears that Jenna has come to a place where what some people may consider "abnormal" she is considering to be "normal" and is therefore not concerned about the possibility of either "labels". In the end her daughter was not diagnosed as dyslexic and has not yet received a diagnosis of ADD, although Jenna very much doubts that she will be given this.

Jenna's only concern relating to the diagnosis of ADD was that she not be put on any "drugs" because of it. She said "it's harder to concentrate on things...I certainly wouldn't want to put her on drugs for it" and "I don't really want to put her on any medication". She seemed to see that as an imminent threat that would come with a diagnosis of ADD.

An issue that arose during our conversation was that Jenna was not satisfied with the report she received from the psychologist. She found it "very intellectual", that she felt that it was "a bit above [her]" and that the report was in language that "people like [the psychologist] would understand". In fact she had shown it to her cousin, who is a teacher and she had said "oh my goodness I don't even understand half that stuff' you know, and she's a teacher". She also said that others, who she had showed the report to, had thought that it was quite "negative".

Jenna presented the psychologist, who did the assessment, in both a positive and negative light. In addition to finding the report to be in language she struggled to understand she felt that a lot of time had been wasted. She had contacted the psychologist in term two and it is now term four and they are yet to come up with any concrete solutions, for example meeting with teachers, arranging an occupational therapist and paediatrician.

So it's...a little but frustrated 'cause I kind of think well if there's a problem the sooner we get onto it the better...it's more just how long it's taken that been frustrating because you kind of think "well, come on we need to help her".

Jenna also suggested that she had not received what she was hoping for from the psychologist when she said that she saw the psychologist's role as being "the professional that would hopefully...at the end of the day comes back with something for us...that we can see what's been happening, in [daughter's] little brain and come up with any solutions". This indicates that she was hoping for solutions and has not been given any. Jenna also implicated the psychologist when she said that "it's not really the school's fault because they've just got to wait for what [the psychologist] comes back with". Another frustration that Jenna brought up was that the psychologist had actually used an incorrect name in the report. She had said "Jane is not dyslexic" when Jenna's daughter's name is

not Jane. So Jenna is going to check that they have in fact received the correct information.

In addition to these things Jenna appeared very doubtful of the psychologist's suggestion that her daughter may have ADD. She did not feel that the evidence that the psychologist gave to support her argument was valid. The psychologist said that:

she's got ADD because when the bell rung she was looking out the window, and you kind of think, "Well any kid's going to be looking out the window when the bell rings 'cause they think they're missing out on morning tea"...And then...she was looking at pictures on the walls so and it's like, well any kid if there things...around they have to sort of look at everything. So I kind of felt...any kids like that. You can't really say they've got ADD because of that...it's harder to concentrate on things...if she likes what she's doing, she can definitely concentrate".

Jenna would, however, balance her criticisms of the psychologist by saying "She's actually a *really* lovely lady and she was really good. She was very good. Yeah, she was really good" and "I think she was very good and she made [daughter] feel really comfortable." However, Jenna provided little evidence of what it was that she found so helpful and it may be that her praise of the psychologist's manner was a way of softening her critique.

Jenna described her role as a good parent who wants to find out what the problem is with her child so that she can find a solution and "help as much as [she] can, 'cause [she doesn't] want her struggling". If her daughter is given a diagnosis of ADD she said that "if they said, yes, there is a problem well then we'll have to do something about that to". Jenna described her role as "the one who has to kind of make the decisions". She hopes to make these decisions with the aid of as much information as possible. In order to do this she has gone ahead and arranged for an occupational therapist and her relative to assess her daughter so that she can have a number of opinions to consider. She said that "if they all say the same thing" then she will have to do something about whatever it is that they suggest. She has pursued solutions on her own because the psychologist has taken so long and she does not want anymore time "wasted". In addition to involving other professionals Jenna has discovered that she can motivate her daughter to read by paying her. She has therefore found a solution without the input of the psychologist.

Despite her confidence in seeking out external help because of the psychologist's apparent lack of involvement, Jenna appeared to desire confirmation from others. For example, referring to the report she received, she said "I showed a couple of people [the report] actually", "Like even my cousin, who's a teacher at [school], she was like "oh my goodness I don't even understand half that stuff" you know, and she's a teacher, you know", "so did other people that read it". When referring to the fact that she felt that her daughter was quite advanced as a baby she said that "she seemed really advanced to everybody else", which seemed to be a way of confirming that her own perception was correct.

Jenna's narrative fits the description: progress despite tension because although there has been progress in that her daughter has been psychologically assessed and there has been a little advice given as to how to improve her situation there have also been a number of difficulties. These tensions have included poor communication from the psychologist, very slow progress and the possibility of a diagnosis that Jenna does not feel is at all appropriate for her daughter. Jenna is doing her best, however, to ensure that progress does continue despite these difficulties. Thus Jenna's story takes on the form of a dialectic narrative because there has been some progress but there have also been a number of obstacles.

Chapter Four

General Themes Analysis

In this chapter I intend on moving onto the second layer of analysis, which involves identifying the overarching themes that have emerged from the previously analysed individual narratives and presenting them as a collective narrative that represents participants' shared experience. I approach this analysis from a categorical-content perspective, which emphasises the shared content of the individual narratives. Although each story was unique and individual in many ways there were also some commonalities in the participants' experiences perhaps because the participants were drawing on very similar social and cultural discourses (Polkinghorne, 1988). It is important to acknowledge these broader social discourses and contexts because they too have an impact on perceptions and experiences and should not be overlooked within the context of psychological assessment (Burman, 2008). The main themes identified are suspected "diagnosis" and own expertise, seeing "inside" the child, bittersweet labels, questions of guilt and blame, the "good parent", the distant professionals, problems with communication, challenging the system, inadequate measures, the over-assessed child, the caregiver as the defender and advocate and the helpful professional. I will expand upon these ideas in this chapter.

Suspected "Diagnosis" and Own Expertise

The first thing that I asked each of my participants to do when we first started the interview was to tell me how the assessment process all began. The vast majority told of a suspicion that was held, either by themselves or by others involved with the child, relating to specific diagnoses. Many of the participants in this study appear to have come into the assessment process having already made up their mind about what their child's diagnosis is, or should

be. Several participants had had personal experience and/or education in the areas of education, psychology and mental health. Participants explained how when their child had a particular difficulty that they would then go and read up on it to find out more information about the problem. By the time they had the assessment done, many seem to have already made up their mind about what the problem was that their child was experiencing. For these participants the process of having their child assessed was to get professional validation of their own views which would entitle them to services and ultimately to some kind of solution. In the following examples participants describe how they use the assessment as a form of warranting for their own assessment.

We had three paediatric assessments to get anyone to find...something that was vaguely close to what we thought was right (Anne)

Probably for a few years...my husband and I have been concerned that [son] may be dyslexic...and so we thought if we could have [son] officially tested (Mary)

It came to a head because [my ex-partner] indicated that he was having some difficulties with [son] and that he thought that it might be appropriate if I found out whether he was Asperger's...So I thought, well, I really need to find out for myself whether he is or not (Kate)

I saw [the psychologist's] role as confirming for *me*, my believe in that maybe there were issues and maybe there are still issues with my son, and probably always will be (Emma)

There were some factors at preschool and one of the preschool teachers suggested that maybe she's ADHD (Mark)

I had kind of wondered [if she had dyslexia] because she still gets her d's and b's mixed up...and it'll say "was" and she'll say "saw" or things like that (Jenna)

In the above section it is clear that many of the participants in this study already had an opinion as to what the diagnosis may be for their child. In some cases they had come up with it themselves or, in others, it had been suggested to them. Many of these participants appeared only to want confirmation of their concerns by a professional.

In addition to presenting their suspected diagnosis many parents spoke about their own knowledge and expertise in the area surrounding their child's difficulties, whether this was acquired through professional training or their personal research.

As soon as you get a diagnosis of autism you start researching it (Anne)

I mean, I've read a lot about dyslexia and my husband has it also...Being [involved in the education system] I'm aware of special needs in children so I believe that...I'd recognised the signs of dyslexia (Mary)

I thought well...having family meetings would be important to get us all on the same page...because I had also come to suicide-prevention group at [agency] and...learnt that including families was important (Amy)

A certain amount [was learnt about ADHD] from a couple of books I've worked through about ADHD and an audio book I've listened to about the whole thing. I went to a [conference] meeting once and a bit more about ADHD and so on at that (Mark)

The narratives suggested that the parents of these children either already had knowledge or expertise in the areas of difficulty that their child is experiencing or they have gone about obtaining it themselves. This finding is consistent with research which indicates that the activity of diagnosing is increasingly moving into the hands of the general public. A number of authors have noted increasing use of self-diagnosis, particularly of mental illnesses, and especially with the aid of the internet (Ahmad, Hudak, Bercovitz, Hollenberg, & Levinson, 2006; Emmons, 2010).

Many researchers have highlighted the way that lay people may feel disempowered in dealing with professionals (Jakobsen & Severinsson, 2006). It is possible that this

experience of disempowerment may have been actively resisted by participants in their narrative accounts of the assessment process. Their discussion of their qualifications and experience and use of psychological language may have been designed to ensure that their views had credibility and an attempt to counteract the experience that some had had of being disregarded by the professionals they encountered.

Seeing "Inside" the Child

In addition to already having a hypothesis about what was the matter with their child, many caregivers hoped that the assessment would give them some insight into the mysterious inner works of their child, those parts that only someone trained in psychological theory can reach. They seemed to be hopeful that this professional insight into their child would result in a strategy for dealing with problems and a helpful outcome. For many of the caregivers that I spoke to there was a hope that through the assessment they would come to a deeper knowledge of their child and that this would then translate into a formal, written document by a professional that would capture what the problem was for their child, what their child was capable of and what would be the best thing for them to do for their child.

We tried lots of different things to try and access her...To illicit the information from her that she knows because it's a matter of finding the right way to approach her to get the information out of her (Anne)

One participant seemed to want a professional to 'see' what potentials existed in their child in the hope of convincing others who were unable to see this:

It's frustrating. You know what your child is capable of but you cannot get it out, to get the world to know, to have it on paper, to have an objective, you know, standard to measure her by (Anne)

Participants seemed to be hopeful that an assessment could somehow be able to reveal to both themselves and others what their children are capable of as though psychological assessments have the ability to "access" that which would ordinarily be out of reach. Another participant found the assessment process quite enlightening and informative because for a couple of months they could spend time "really focussing in on everything

that was happening for [son] and [son]'s life outside of school, inside of school, friendships, [their] home situation" and these things were "captured" by an assessment.

It just gave him, and me also I think, a chance to really focus on what was necessary for [son] and why he was going through what he was going through, how he was achieving or underachieving or overachieving in some areas (Kate)

I did this to try and understand [son] a little bit better and...to have some knowledge to at least make good choices (Kate)

Again this participant hoped that the psychological assessment would be able to give her information and insight that she would not be able to gain without the assistance of a professional who can draw out this information through the process of talking, "focusing" on problems and so on. This idea is steeped in societal discourses which suggest that the process of speaking about our emotions and understanding ourselves better is helpful (Rose, 1996). Participants seemed to believe that professionals had particular skills and strategies that would allow them to understand aspects of their children that they were unable to access:

I saw his role as really being non-biased, going in and observing him in different situations, with different people and *professionally* putting forward his findings...And guiding me, I saw him as guiding me to what he felt would be best (Emma)

I was hoping that she would at the end of the day come back with something for us, you know, that we can see what's been happening, in [daughter's] little brain (Jenna)

It's more been a case of some aspects that yeah, we can understand and relate to that and we see that particular factor and "oh, that's something we hadn't really known about. Probably it's been there all along but it's been measured in a more scientific way so that's interesting, sort of thing"...I think the information is most useful when it helps us to a) better understand how

[daughter] thinks, and b) better be able to do something that's going to help things (Mark)

These participants present the psychology professionals as using "scientific", objective and "non-biased" measurements to obtain "findings" that will reflect what is going on inside the mind of their child. The parents' hope is then that these "findings" will ultimately result in a solution presented by this professional. Hughes (2009) suggests that by coming to a psychological understanding, with the help of psychological professionals, of the reasons motivating their child's behaviour caregivers will be able to solve the presenting problems. Hoghughi (1997) also argues that in order for caregivers to fulfil their role of providing and caring they need to have a good understanding of their child's needs and potential. It is interesting to note however that an apparent inconsistency exists between the earlier theme, which states that the participants felt that they wanted to be acknowledged for their expertise on issues relating to their child, and this idea that a professional is needed to gain a complete knowledge of their child.

Bittersweet Labels

Despite the fact that many caregivers had already come up with a tentative diagnosis themselves and were wanting to gain a greater level of insight into their child the experience of having one's child given a "label" or a diagnosis, or even the possibility thereof, was often presented to me as being a "bittersweet" experience. Participants seemed to express some ambivalence about the value of a diagnostic label for their child. This may appear to be an inconsistency in their story but within narrative inquiry this is simply seen as an individual making sense of a deeply intricate experience that is multifaceted and as a result does not always at first glance seem coherent (Andrews et al., 2000).

When discussing the diagnosing of their child caregivers who had sought out the assessments themselves would often say, almost in their defence, that their motive was not to "label" their child and would often present these "labels" in a negative light. One participant in particular would immediately follow the use of terms such as "Asperger's syndrome", "suffering from" or "normal" with the phrase "for want of a better word" implying some regret at having to use such insensitive language.

I'd recognised the signs of dyslexia and so we thought if we could have [son] officially tested, not to much as to, you know, like brand him dyslexic (Mary)

I guess for me, in the beginning, I would have thought "well, I just want to be sure that, that she's not just being labelled for the sake of being labelled with something (Mark)

Clearly, many of the caregivers I spoke to had a negative initial reaction to the idea of "labelling" their child and, one in particular, wanted to assure me that that was not their motivation. It also seemed that when there was the possibility of a diagnosis of ADD or ADHD that the issue of medication raised some difficulties for participants.

If your child doesn't sit and behave himself like a little *girl* we'll put you on Ritalin and *make* you behave like a little girl and then we can teach you and the rest of the class...I'm not prepared to actually just have my son medicated for the sake of pacifying a teacher (Emma)

They also want her to see a paediatrician about her having ADD...but I'm sure about that because I don't really want to put her on any medication when it's *not* a problem (Jenna)

[Husband] has had bad experiences...he spent most of his teenage years on Ritalin. So that was always his thing: "I don't want my children to go on Ritalin"...I guess they don't dish it out as easily as they did back in the 60's, "ah your child may be ADHD, we'll put you on Ritalin", sort of thing (Mary)

From these quotes it appears that participants had a concern about medication being a possible consequence of a diagnosis of attention and hyperactivity difficulties. The administration of medication was portrayed as being the "easy way out" for professionals.

For one participant however the idea of a label was not something that she was at all concerned about. The reason from this was that she has become used to the idea of the

labels "dyslexia" and "ADD" specifically due to a lot of exposure to these disorders and they were no longer considered "abnormal" from her perspective.

Probably not so bad *now*. I think years ago, [dyslexia] was kind of like "oh my goodness"...But now it's...not so big a deal really. So I wasn't too concerned...we've got a few friends with kids that have [ADD] and so it doesn't worry me at all but I do know that some people do judge...Some people that don't understand, like they haven't had children with that or they've never heard of it and they're kind of think "oh my goodness that kid's", you know [laughs]. But because I've been around it I don't (Jenna)

This participant appears to have normalised what others may consider "abnormal" because she has seen so much of it in the children of people she knows. It may be that normalising these diagnoses has helped her to cope with the possibility of these labels belonging to her child.

In contrast to the earlier notion of labels being a negative thing many caregivers seemed to also view the diagnosing, or labelling, of their child has being somewhat comforting and reassuring because it either absolved guilt or opened up possibilities in terms of solutions. For one participant it would indicate to her that it was not her fault that her child is the way he is but instead that it was because of this diagnosis or "label".

I suppose if there'd been a label that I could have put on him to explain some of his difficulties that might have maybe made it easier for me but then I didn't really do this to make it easier for me (Kate)

Others portrayed these "labels" as being the key to a solution for the problems their child faced. That once one has a diagnosis one has access to services, one can be told what to do about the problem as though with a "label" also comes a list of solutions, for both the school and the caregivers.

I needed to know whether he *was* suffer from...Asperger's syndrome, what we would then *do* about it and what the *school* would do about it if he was (Kate)

If [the psychologist]...can classify him as ADHD or having a mental illness or whatever, then I will work with you on that (Emma)

Let's find out if he is ADHD so that we can put things into place for him if he is (Mary)

What does [this label] actually *mean*, what does this involve? And how does it affect her and how can we support her with this "thing" [laughter] (Mark)

Another participant considered acquiring a formal "label", which in this case was a "gifted" label, from a "professional" as being "ammunition" when dealing with the school, with the therapists and with other professionals. She saw it as a way of gaining credibility in the eyes of the professionals so that she could get for her daughter what she so desperately believes she needs.

I want the schools to respect them...they're...really smart and we don't want them to get bored at school...So I just want to make sure that they get opportunities at school and don't get bored and that their abilities are acknowledged (Anne)

My hope that it would give me some basis to challenge some parts of [the therapy] programme...we need to move faster in certain areas...they need to speed up on the things that they're doing because some of it's too basic (Anne)

My only hope is that some of these things will give us some basis to go back to some of these guys and say "I'm not making it up. Here is some other person who says this". You know, if you're not going to take my word for it please take the word of a professional...who is not related to him (Anne)

So, you know, you look to these things, the psychology, the assessments and things, you look to them to give you some evidence to show to some of these wankers, quite frankly, that you are not the only one who thinks that your child can do things, you know (Anne)

This participant is hoping that the label "gifted" will enable her to challenge and fight for what she believes her daughter needs. For many of the people that I spoke to this process of getting some kind of "label" or description of their child has in fact helped them to come to some sort of resolution, for example one caregiver found the assessment results helpful in making the decision of which school would be best suited to her child.

Just by knowing and reading some of the things that [clinician] had put into her assessment indicating that [son] at times doesn't like being with boys all the time because he found that they were all, [son]'s not sporty at all and he often found, he felt a bit bullied and intimidated by the big, sort of, *boy-boys*. He's not a *boy-boy* and it came out that he enjoys the company of girls. He finds them much more mature than boys...he's quite intellectual (Kate)

In this case although the child was never given a diagnosis the mother came up with her own label, by means of the assessment process, that helped her to better understand her son. The label of "intellectual" and "not a *boy-boy*" assisted her in coming to terms with who he is despite the fact that she had hoped that he would be different. She wished that he "was more sociable and more involved in activities". This new way of looking at her son, through the use of a self-made label, also helped her to make the decision to send him to a co-ed school. The fact that issues to do with her son's social relationships is of concern to her shows that this participant is drawing on societal discourses which emphasise the importance of friendships in children's development (Dowling, 2010).

Another participant explained that by having their child diagnosed, or "labelled", as being dyslexic, as well as identifying that their child had a different "style" of learning, the idea of which is drawn from current societal discourses around intellectual functioning (Elias et al., 2003), there have been some quite practical steps that have been put in place following the assessment that have helped him to achieve more academically, which in turn has given him hope for his future career.

He's very onto it...he's been earning lots of credits towards [his secondary school qualification] and he'll say "ah, I only need so many more credits to

get my maths or whatever and I've got this many" and so he's totally aware of his goals to achieve (Mary)

Not only buddying up with somebody but also they said actually recording it, having it recorded and played back and he listens to it and takes it in that way. So, those, although they may seem like little things, really sort of clicked with me and I thought "Oo, yeah, that sounds good". It's another way of learning for [son] (Mary)

Another caregiver told me that when they had their son diagnosed as ADHD they were then able to utilise a number of services, which have helped considerably over the years. Once again a "label" has served a function in that it is often followed by some practical assistance and help.

We felt like his involvement with the [ADHD organisation] made a significant improvement in some areas. Previously to that, we had *enormous* difficulties with her in trying to make progress in reading and now she loves reading and that's just been an *enormous* relieve for [wife] and I (Mark)

Caregivers may seek a "label", which they may already have suspected, from a professional as a means of gaining some assistance so that they can ensure that their child is given the best opportunities that they can. Current research confirms these strong views relating to the "labelling" of individuals particularly due to concerns around stigmatisation and discrimination (Jones, 2010; Overholser, 2010; Ho, 2004). The idea of labelling and diagnosing has similarities to the way in which developmental psychology has created categories and boxes or "normality" and "abnormality" and it may be this label of "abnormality" which may make people feel uncomfortable (Burman, 2008). It is also acknowledged within the research that despite the discomfort that the idea of a "label" can give caregivers because of the potential for discrimination diagnoses or labels often do result in a solution of some kind via various interventions or treatments (Haghighat, 2008; Ho, 2004).

Questions of Guilt and Blame

As well as gaining insight into their child, determining whether they meet the criteria for a diagnosis or not, many of the caregivers' narratives made reference to some feeling of guilt or remorse at the actions they had taken or that they are not good enough caregivers and that is why their child is having difficulties. They often reported wanting to be told by a professional that they were not to blame. "Have I done something wrong?" seems to be an extremely common question that caregivers are desperately seeking an answer to. While some participants did not speak specifically about guilt, a number suggested ways in which they felt they might have done more to help their child:

I kinda have a lot on my plate and so I actually really value the times at the therapist when I know she's getting one-on-one and that she's not getting a distracted parent who's still trying to, you know, pay the bills and sort out work from home and so on, so when she's with the therapist I know she's getting lots of one-on-one (Anne)

Then I had to go into full time work and there was no one to take her. So she stopped going [to gifted school] but we knew, we knew she was gifted before she was one so when she started to regress it was quite noticeable (Anne)

Others spoke about how they felt that, as parents, they may not have been able to give their child everything they needed.

So I left feeling that once that's put in place for him at school we're supporting him that way and lot of encouragement too cause [son]'s our middle child...even though he's got lots of confidence his older siblings really give him a hard time and so for [son] to have, to know that "oh, I do have this available to me" would also take some of the stress off of him (Mary)

It was particularly common for participants to express some questions around their ability and success as caregivers. They often wanted to know if they had done something to cause the problems in their child.

What have we done wrong?" "What could we do better?" "How do we put things right?" "How can we be a...better support?" (Amy)

Often the natural thing to do is to blame yourself and, you know, 'cause parenting doesn't come with a *handbook* [chuckle] so, you know, you make mistakes and then you wonder, well, how can I change that outcome or *can* I change the outcome? (Amy)

I'm angry at myself as well for allowing myself to trust [people in authority]...you never know if you've done the right thing or not (Emma)

I wanted to know whether it was something other than poor parenting (Kate)

Was it because of the way we brought her up?... I think one of the questions that...I think we probably imagined early on in the process of us being told that she has ADHD is "is there something that we've done? Could we have done things differently?" (Mark)

These parents all express a concern that it is due to their mistakes or faults that their child is having difficulty. It is interesting to note that often when parents spoke about this feeling of guilt they would change their language to include the use of the second person. It seems that they may be a bit embarrassed by the fact that they doubt their ability as parents and in order to cope with this they normalise it by speaking in general terms.

One participant seemed to find it reassuring that the clinician her son had seen had liked him. This may have made her feel that in fact she was a success as a caregiver. She reported feeling "proud" of her son and that

He presented himself well...was able to talk reasonably articulately about things...it was really reassuring for [clinician] to be able to say that [son] was actually a really nice, young boy who she found quite a delight to deal with and that had a lovely sense of humour and despite the fact that he would often be tired when he went to see her...So that was nice to know that even when conditions aren't optimum that [son] can perform in the way that you would want a child to...it was good for me to know that, you know, that despite the fact that he has difficulties that he's a good kid really (Kate)

This participant found it reassuring that at least in this sense she was doing a good job as a parent because she was fulfilling her role as she saw it. This comforted her because she could then set aside some of those questions of guilt and blame. In this she seemed to draw on societal discourses around what appropriate behaviour is within a particular context (Dowling, 2010; Skelton & Valentine, 1998). Seeing appropriate behaviour in her son was a comfort to this participant because it reassured her that she was doing a good job as a parent. The research that has investigated the experiences of parents whose children are experiencing difficulties of various kinds confirms that feelings of guilt and self-blame are extremely common (Hale, 2007; Nixon, 1993; Yingling, 1997). These feelings also echo societal discourses around childhood and parenting, for example the notions that unless a child has a picture perfect childhood they are at risk of becoming deficient human beings and that caregiver's mistakes and shortcomings can have implications for their child (Burman, 2008).

The "Good Parent"

All of the caregivers I interviewed described their role as being that of a carer, provider, the one who meets their children's practical needs and does everything in their power to ensure that they do the best that they can and reach their full potential. This may well be influenced by the societal discourses around what a "good parent" is and how that is played out (Hoghughi, 1997). Many of the parents conceptualised the assessment process as being yet another way that they meet the needs of their child. If their child needs assistance in an area relating to their behaviour or emotions then they need to take them to a psychologist in the same way that they may take their child to the doctor when they are physically sick. The quotes below demonstrate the various ways in which the participants verbalised their role.

Definitely her carer...So I see my role as keeping her safe... I try to keep her routine...trying to monitor what she eats, monitor her moods (Anne)

So we were very keen and happy to do whatever we had to do...Anything positive that we can do that helps we want to do...We're ready and happy to support him (Mary)

And just to love him, just to *try* and encourage him and *try* reinforce and help him...[to do] all of that in the best interests of your son (Emma)

I think our role has always been: "Let's find out what we can about [daughter], she's a special girl, and how she works. Let's try to figure out what things we can do to most help her with her, the way she works and how she approaches things and both through the resources that may be available one way or another or techniques and information that can help *us...*I guess our objective is: "Let's understand her the best we can and let's do everything we reasonably can to give her the *best* grounding and the *best* opportunities to learn and develop and become all that she can be (Mark)

I want to help her as much as I can, you know, 'cause I don't want her struggling (Jenna)

Each of these parents appears to be motivated by a desire to do what is best for their child. Where there may be a need they want to meet it. One of the ways that this may have manifested is in their desire to see to it that whatever solutions come out of the psychological assessment that they implement them. The roles that these caregivers have assigned themselves are consistent with the discourses discussed previously around family relationships and particularly parenting, which state that a caregiver's role is to care for, control and develop their child in an environment that is conducive to the child's growth (Hoghughi, 1997; Reder et al., 2003). This theme also appears to be drawing from discourses that depict children as "needy" and entirely dependent on their caregiver's provision (Burman, 2008; Moss, 2000).

The Distant Professional

Some participant narratives conveyed a somewhat negative perception of some of the professionals who were administering their children's assessments, were involved in the intervention afterwards or were assisting the family in a more general capacity. They were seen as being very "clinical" and unsympathetic in their approach. In some of these cases the professionals involved in the assessments were within government funded

organisations and are therefore likely to have large case-loads and limited time periods with each client.

One participant told me of her difficulties with medical professionals and getting them to take her seriously when she spoke to them about her son.

Well, you know, you also get the feeling...from a lot of them...that you're *making it up*, that you're, you know, a very *subjective*, you know, that as a parent you can't be objective about your child's abilities or levels and as...years in the education sector person I find that quite insulting...And the number of doctors I've spoken to who have talked to me like an idiot...And I find the medical profession in dealing with her rude and abusive and, I mean the things they've done to her have been totally uncalled for and have caused more problems than anything else. I find their manner towards her absolutely upsetting and their manner towards me, their suspicions, their assumptions that I don't know what I'm talking about, that I am just making stuff up. I find that incredibly insulting (Anne)

This participant portrayed medical professionals as being insensitive to her plight and also suspicious of her claims. This has been a difficult experience for her and left her feeling invalidated and insulted. Jakobsen and Severinsson (2006) found that caregivers often feel that health professionals are "suspicious" of their involvement in the process and so this participant's experience is not uncommon. Another participant told me of their experience of professionals in government funded services.

They actually said "we've got plenty of other people that do want the treatment so, you know, your choice" sort of thing (Amy)

There were also appointments to go back and have some psychological counselling, which proved very difficult because...her sleep cycles were totally upside-down...and the response from [clinic] at the time was "well it appears that she doesn't want our service so if she doesn't come, then we can't do anything...it wasn't a case that she didn't want it, it was the case that she was too sick. She was too sick (Amy)

This participant found that when dealing with these professionals that they were unsympathetic, that there were large gaps in the system through which her child fell and that there was little communication and limited options. Another of the participants seemed to think of the professionals she dealt with as lofty in the sense that they presented themselves as being "so knowledgeable" and having very "educated opinions" and in front of whom she didn't want to "look like an idiot" by asking "excuse me what does that mean?".

Doing their job, you know, they come in, tick the boxes, done the assessment, move on, next one, write the report, off we go, you know...they rather do *to* you rather than with you, kind of thing (Emma)

When she first started at school she didn't have medication at that stage, she also had a teacher, who...was not at all suitable for new entrants [chuckled], just in terms of her approach and strictness with them and things. And she was very difficult for her to handle as well...we met with the teacher a few times and...in our communication book with the teacher she'd draw a scale out of sort of 1 to 10, or something along those lines as to how well she was staying on track or whatever. And we were always getting *right* down at the bottom of the scale and she's disruptive and difficult and so on and that was emotionally, I guess, quite frustrating for us and little bit of well at our wits-end here. "What can we do?"..."is this teacher going out of their way to make it difficult for us in anyway?" or "are we getting a fair run here sort of thing? (Mark)

[Psychologist] didn't really understand or attempt to understand the situation that I was in, you know, it was really in the end it was, you know, "you need to do this" "do you realise what you're doing if you don't do this?" so you got that sort of guilt trip going on...wasn't that understanding (Emma)

These participants presented these professionals as being mechanical in their dealings with their children and unsympathetic, uncooperative and negative in their

dealings with them. The result of this perceived coldness and lack of understanding was a break in trust.

You naturally put your trust, you want to put your trust in someone because you're not able to do it yourself but I quickly got a sense that...the service was too busy to, perhaps, cope with people that were *very* sick but I wondered, well, where, there must be a *gap*. My daughter was too sick to even get *up*, you know, nothings changed so, you know, what are the options? There didn't appear to be one (Amy)

A bit of anger there because...I was trusting the people in authority within the school and over the years there have been so many times they've failed me and failed my son (Emma)

The participants in this study reported that they felt very vulnerable during this process and in some ways at the mercy of the professionals they encountered.

It's quite an alien-type experience to be, sort of, *thrust* all together, having expectations or what do we expect. We haven't experienced this before so what's the expectation and what can we *do* or *not* do or *not* say or *not*, you know. The feelings are quite *high*, you know, as to feeling a bit helpless in the situation. You know, if you don't know how you can best manage the situation...you feel a bit powerless and helpless (Amy)

Quite...scary...not knowing fully how the systems all work. You know, not, perhaps, understanding how effective, or what you can be doing to aid the person that you're trying to care for (Amy)

I did feel quite just in the dark and not knowing which direction or what support could support us as a family and what...supports there are out there for [daughter]. So it was quite a lonely or isolating, I felt isolated and not knowing what other support I could call on that could support through that time (Amy)

When caregivers had their child psychologically assessed it was often a distressing time before which they have a lot of questions and often felt alone and "in the dark". As a result they were seeking someone that they would be able to trust and in some cases this trust was felt to have been betrayed. This is not an uncommon experience since research shows that when professionals appear cold and unsympathetic their clients find it very distressing and it results in a breakdown of trust (Berwick, 2003; Westbrook, Nordholm, & McGee, 1984).

Problems with Communication

One way in which this power relation between these professionals and the caregivers played out was through a perceived lack of communication between the clinician and the caregiver. This was a theme that emerged a number of times in the narratives of the participants. When it was lacking, whether in the form of little explanation or the use of psychological jargon, the caregivers appeared to feel it sorely and it resulted in a feeling of lack of control. Many of the participants found the psychological jargon difficult to understand and that even when they asked for an explanation that it wasn't always given in a way that made sense to them.

I wanted to ask how can they say she doesn't have ADHD. She did explain it to me but I didn't understand...when we had the final meeting...she spoke in a lot of technical jargon, which kind of went over my head a little bit...So actually even when I asked her to explain things I didn't understand...I still left feeling a little bit like I didn't know... (Mary)

It was very intellectual...a bit above me...[it was in a language that] people like [the psychologist] would understand... (Jenna)

We would every quarter have a big meeting were there would just be a *room* full of people, basically saying gobbeldy-gook stuff...[it was] scary because you didn't actually really know what was going on...I didn't know what was happening, I didn't know what was happening and it wasn't explained to me properly (Emma)

A fair amount of jargon...you're thinking "I don't know what that means and what's the acronym of that?" (Emma)

Another participant told me that after being contacted by the school counsellor she had made an appointment to see the principle and only then was she told that her daughter had been absent from school for two thirds of that year. This had not been communicated to her at any stage prior to the interview. The medication her daughter was put on was not explained to this participant at all and she has no recollection of ever receiving a report back from the psychologist, although she thinks that he daughter may have not wanted her to under the Code of Rights at the time. In addition to this, years later, when she wanted to be included in meetings regarding her daughter in the residential service, she asked for minutes of meetings, audits, plans and reviews but none were given.

Another participant felt that the communication that she was given about her son by these professionals was not representative of him at all and resulted in her feeling very confused.

Hearing them talk about your son, and most of the time it was like another person so you didn't know *where* this other person came from that they were talking about...in the beginning you just can't believe it.... "where the problems? What's going on?", you know, and *very* confusing, *very* confusing (Emma)

This participant chose to have a private psychologist, as a means of feeling more in control of the process, rather than a school psychologist assess her son because she felt that ""no, I actually need some kind of control here". As an immigrant and "being new to the country" and with schools having a "different system" compounded the feeling of being out of control. This resulted in her feeling "a bit *overwhelmed* and you don't have the support structures so you actually draw *back* and let them *do*". She developed a strategy to cope with this lack of communication and confusion by learning how to strategically interact with the professionals who weren't giving her the information she needed.

over the years you learnt how to start interacting with them ...it was almost having to *learn* how to speak their language to be able to get in and understand what they were saying about your child...as a mother to actually

try and understand the processes and assessments you actually have to, you have to learn the language, you have to get your head in the ring, you have to check and make sure that things are going fair and people are doing their job...This is your son (Emma)

This lack of communication, particularly the communication of what resources and supports there are in the community as well as a lack of psychoeducation, often resulted in a feeling of lack of control for the caregivers of the children and a feeling of being "in the dark" and without direction.

I would have liked to have had a bit more direction at the time. Yeah, I did feel quite just in the dark and not knowing which direction or what support could support us as a family and...what supports there are out there for [daughter]. So it was quite a lonely...I felt isolated and not knowing what other support I could call on that could support through that time (Amy)

For [siblings] to have, to be given skills and strategies to have some education around the whole psychosis experience, or clinical depression experience, so they could know...what they could say...Was there anything that they were doing or not doing that would...make family life better for their sister (Amy)

If I had had some more help, support, knowledge about that time then maybe the intervention process could have...had a better outcome (Amy)

When participants did experience good communication from the professionals involved it was seen as being very positive. It made these parents feel "secure" and as though they had someone that they could "trust" who was "genuine" and wanted to help.

Communications between [daughter] and the service was a lot better and the information that was transferred across to me was very good as well...[this made me feel] a lot more secure. The fact that they were, you know, that I could trust that they were actually genuine (Amy)

So you do get those *breaks* where you have people who *will* explain to you, *will* listen, who will *try* and come on *board* and *understand* you son and his environment and work *with* that (Emma)

The school has been great and having meetings once a term or every couple of terms to talk about strategy and compare notes with teachers has been valuable (Mark)

Stewart (1995) published a literature review on the issue of communication between health professionals and their clients and found that communication is vitally important in this interaction and that good communication can have an empowering influence on the clients involved because they feel better informed to make decisions. The participants in this study also clearly found communication an important part of their experience of having their child psychologically assessed. When communication is absent or unclear it results in confusion and a feeling of lack of control but when there is clear communication these parents have really appreciated it. Effective communication with the psychologist seemed to give participants a greater sense of their own power and control over what could be an otherwise confusing and distressing experience.

Challenging the System

There were other ways in which participants narratives suggested an unequal power relationship between them and the psychologist who conducted the assessment. They described having experienced intolerance for any attempt to challenge the 'system'. A number of participants talked about how it was quite difficult to disagree with the professionals involved in the assessment process because it could be perceived as an affront and they felt that there would be negative consequences for doing so.

When we had tried to have family meeting it just appeared that it was frowned upon because we were challenging the system (Amy)

It was *difficult* to challenge because then you could be seen as being a difficult parent and that wasn't the situation...they would almost brush you aside and discount (Emma)

Not only did these parents find it difficult to challenge the system but they were worried that they would be labelled as being "difficult". One participant said to me "we're not pushy parents, you know, we don't flash card them and hothouse them" and this was said in the context of wanting schools to respect their children. This implies that she feels that by having expectations of a school they may be labelled as "pushy". In addition to this one participant felt that her son was passively "punished" for her challenging the system.

I did feel that when I didn't comply with them there would be a pulling back in a sense...if I didn't comply with them completely and say "yes, yes, yes" and "I'll do what you want" then the support for [son] in terms of when I wasn't around didn't seem to be put in place...So it was almost a passive way of making you comply to what *they* felt was best but I didn't agree with everything they said so I wasn't going to comply 100%. I supported and complied with what I felt aligned to my son (Emma)

In this quote the professionals are presented as manipulating and blackmailing the participant into compliance. This participant felt that this was not only directed at her but also at her son, which she found very difficult since she too identifies with her role as being the caring and providing parent. Experiencing negative reactions to challenging health professionals and their systems has been reported in other research and appears to be a cause for great frustration among parents who want to be involved in the care of their children (Jakobsen & Severinsson, 2006). It is interesting to note that although caregivers may appear to be compliant they are likely to resist decisions that they do not support.

Inadequate Measures

One of the things the caregivers may want to challenge is the assessment itself. Some seemed doubtful about whether it was the best way of finding out the relevant information for their children. Some participants felt that in some ways the assessments they had gone through had been an inappropriate means of measuring the difficulties that their child is experiencing.

One participant felt that assessments that required a lot of verbal communication were not appropriate for her child, who has autism and is increasingly non-verbal.

I know that some of the stuff they were trying to get wasn't stuff that she can really *give* because she's not verbal enough. And of course some of the tests protocols use language or requests that are not something she can cope with (Anne)

Another appeared to feel that the assessments were a bit intrusive although she would not say so directly. Reading between the lines there seems to be an indication that there may have been some feeling that they were being asked for irrelevant information that they may not ordinarily feel comfortable giving:

It was quite thorough. Yeah it was quite long and thorough...Yeah, sometimes they weren't exactly black and white questions though. They would take a bit of thought. Especially when they were questions about our family dynamic and that sort of thing. I found I had to think a bit harder about that...I thought it was going to be sort of very focused on education but she, [clinician], also asked a lot of questions about our family, how [son] feels about his siblings and how they feel about him and the type of question that, you know, [son] and we had never been asked before. You know, to get a really thorough all-round idea of who this boy [son] is...I was surprised because I didn't think it was going to be like that although, I mean, my [acquaintance] had told me that it's a long thing, but she didn't go into much detail. I don't know if she didn't know or just, you know, that she knew it was long. And we had forms to fill out. My husband found that a bit difficult being dyslexic himself but it's good when it's like tick the box questions. He's very articulate verbally but when it comes to putting it in writing it doesn't reflect his ability (Mary)

This participant appeared to have questions around the ability of the test to pick up on what she seemed to be sure was there. Yet another participant felt that the psychologist's suggestion that her daughter may have ADD was based on a misinterpretation of her child's responses during the testing. She reported that the psychologist had described

behaviours that the she felt were grounds for a diagnosis of ADD. Jenna, however, felt that these behaviours were appropriate behaviours for a child and not signs of a disorder. These participants appeared to feel that the assessments were flawed. It is not usual for there to be disagreement on issues relating to the assessment of children by caregivers and has been encountered in other research (Szatmari, Archer, Fisman, & Streiner, 1994).

The Over-Assessed Child

Some caregivers, whose children had undergone a number of assessments over years and years, reported that their children had reached a point at which they had been over-assessed, had become "resistant to testing", were now no longer cooperating and, in one case, had suffered psychologically as a result.

When she might respond under normal circumstance she switches off when the testing process starts... so she is quite resistant to testing...she can't get her to respond (Anne)

She has issues around oppositional defiance and compliance issues so there's lots of things that make it difficult to get around her. She has to feel like it's a game or that it's something she wants to do. So, you know, you have to sort of tippee-toe around trying to get her to complete any tests. That's made it very difficult (Anne)

For one child this experience of being over-assessed has had some quite severe consequences for his psychological well-being. This participant's emphasis on the psychological impact that this has had on her son demonstrates the discourses around emotional development and what it means to be emotionally healthy or unhealthy (Dowling, 2010).

So he went for extra lessons for that...within the school and from an early age he was always taken out the classroom for certain things, which made him *feel* like he was *different*, which just compounded the problem (Emma)

He had had so many assessments over the years and he was pretty scathing of them because they always took him out of class, he would have people make fun of him because of that and he just saw another psychologist, psychiatrist or whoever doing another assessment on him as "one of those people". No one had ever really helped in any way; they had just made his life quite difficult at school (Emma)

Did all the intervention make a difference? I think it's just made him *very very* sceptical and he doesn't trust easily. He's a *very* private boy. It will take *ages* for you to break through before he'll let you in...he doesn't let anybody get close. He will *not* let people get close to him...some of that has got to answer for it...I think he's scared to try in case he fails because he might get another intervention happening or another assessment happening (Emma)

he thinks he's stupid and he'll tell you that, "I am stupid so don't think I can do it Mum because otherwise I wouldn't have been pulled out of the class and I wouldn't have been isolated and I wouldn't have had to sit in the separate chair from everybody else and I wouldn't have been put on the edge of the mat when everybody sat in the centre of the mat" and, there were lots of little things that were done to him that he just says "I'm different" and "I'm stupid" and he's not...So yeah I do think that a lot of damage has been done in terms of his own self image and his own perception of what he can achieve or not achieve (Emma)

This participant's narrative suggested that the assessment process could in fact have a negative impact on children who began to see themselves through the lens of psychologists and other professionals. Some believed that their children had had strongly negative reactions to their experience of being over-assessed. The problems associated with over-assessment of a child seem to give weight to the arguments presented by Burman (2008) and Morss (1996) when they suggest that assessments create inequality by allocating labels of "normality" and "abnormality" to children.

For these participants for whom the process of having their child assessed has gone on for years and may well continue into the future at a later stage. They expressed a feeling of exhaustion and "weariness".

Very very long...you know, you just have to keep working through and see where you get with her...we'll probably have to wait until she's a little bit older to try and get more (Anne)

It just never stopped really. It *never* stopped...It's *always* difficult...it just goes on and on, and the next step and the next step...in the end I just thought, "ah, this is just *so exhausting*"...Does he have a psychological problem? I *still don't know* with *all* the assessments that he's had going over the years (Emma)

We've just be working on [having her complete tasks without getting distracted] for ten years I think already [laughed]. And progress is pretty slow (Mark)

The words "very very long", "it never stopped", "it just goes on and on" and it's "so exhausting" speaks volumes. These parents have done the best that they can for their children for years and it has, in some cases, been a struggle. For many of them this struggle will continue and they do not know when it will end.

The Caregiver as the Defender and Advocate

Some of the caregivers that I interviewed responded to what they perceived as being distant professions, who didn't communicate adequately, would not tolerate the questioning of their findings, used inappropriate measures and, in one case, caused harm through the use of repeated assessments and interventions, by taking on the role of defender, campaigner and advocate for the children.

One of the participants that I interviewed was concerned that her daughter's giftedness is not "overlooked" or "forgotten" particularly since her daughter's "behaviour is not what is expected of a gifted kid". She wanted the assessment to act as a means by which to "keep

reminding people that she's got two aspects to her". Her concern is that "everyone's so busy going on and on about her autism and forgetting that she was a smart cookie before it and she's a smart cookie still".

I want the schools to respect them...I just want to make sure that they get opportunities at school and don't get bored and that their abilities are acknowledged (Anne)

My main concern with going to [clinician] was to make sure that even with a diagnosis of autism I didn't want her giftedness overlooked or ignored because she is a very smart little girl (Anne)

This parent is clearly acting as an advocate for her child to systems and people that may not see her for all that she is. Another participant described herself as her daughter's "advocate" and that her role involved "asking questions" and being "somebody that can be the voice of someone who doesn't feel like they have a voice".

One participant in particular, whose experience of the assessment process felt especially out of her control, saw herself as the defender and guard of her child.

As a big *guard* dog at the door. That's how I saw my role because I had the feeling that if I just let them all come in I didn't know what would happen to him. I felt like a big guard 'cause he's so sensitive that I had needed to be really guarding who came near him and that wasn't always in my power to do that...I'm quite protective about him...you do advocate...this is your son (Emma)

This participant was concerned that without her being there to protect and defend her child that his vulnerable heart may get hurt. Many of the participants in this study would also tell me the good qualities in their children as though to defend them even to me in case the difficulties they were telling me somehow painted their children in a bad light.

Then when he decided to learn to read he jumped nine levels in one year, which the teachers said was "impossible"... and he's been above average

since then in reading...the psychologists who did an assessment on him on the intelligence side said that he's above average...he's a very popular boy today. He's got heaps and heaps and heaps of friends...he's got a *fantastic* sense of humour (Emma)

She also defended her son by suggesting that his perceived problematic behaviour was due to the fact that he was not a "little girl" he is a boy and that is why his behaviour is thought to be out of control.

If your child doesn't sit and behave himself like a little *girl* we'll put you on Ritalin and *make* you behave like a little girl and then we can teach you and the rest of the class (Emma)

Another participant told me of how her son is "exuberant", "active" and has a good sense of humour. She also said that they believed him to be a "bright enough" boy and that the test had shown that he has been very resourceful in coming up with coping strategies to help himself in his learning. He is seen as being very capable but as having a different learning style

Yet another participant told me how "proud" she was of her son and the way that presented himself during the assessment process.

Really reassuring for [clinician] to be able to say that [son] was actually a really nice, young boy who she found quite a delight to deal with and that had a lovely sense of humour and despite the fact that he would often be tired when he went to see her...So that was nice to know that even when conditions aren't optimum that [son] can perform in the way that you would want a child to...it was good for me to know that, you know, that despite the fact that he has difficulties that he's a good kid really (Kate)

Some of the participants that I spoke to saw their role as being the protector and defender of their children against the cold and distant professionals or systems that influence them. Some even appeared to defend their children to me by ensuring that they portrayed them in a positive way perhaps to ensure that I did not have a bad impression of their child

because of the difficulties they had told me about. This role presented by the participants again reflects the discourses around parenthood, which emphasise the provision of protection from harm (Hoghughi, 1997). It also draws on childhood discourses, such as those presented by Burman (2008) and Moss (2000), which depict childhood as being a very vulnerable period in which children need protection and defence.

The Helpful Professional

Not all of my participants had negative experiences of having their child psychologically however and those who did have experiences that were, on the whole, very distressing, did also have times when professionals were perceived to be very helpful and made a positive contribution to their child's development.

[Clinician] persisted *manfully* [laughter] and got as much as she could... she was very good (Anne)

[Clinician] was pretty down to earth and she didn't use a lot of technical jargon (Mary)

Had a very good GP, who had experience in the ADHD area (Mark)

There were things that he spoke to about with [clinician] that he obviously felt comfortable speaking to her. So I thought that was, that was really good for [son] to have somebody to talk to (Kate)

I was *really* happy with the process that we went through with [son], you know, [clinician] just welcomed [son] so warmly and built up such a lovely relationship with him very quickly, which was nice and in a nice environment that we were able to go to and I felt safe leaving him there with her and he always spoke positively (Kate)

They treated [daughter] a lot more like, better communications between [daughter] and the service was a lot better and the information that was transferred across to me was very good as well (Amy)

So that assessment process was very positive, they reviewed, although they didn't have the notes from the time she was at [clinic] but the process was quite different, there was quite a good rapport built up and they visited her at home (Amy)

There were some people along the way...in this journey that...did have a good understanding of him...there's been the odd person who has been absolute, they have been amazing but then you only have them for a while...so you do get those breaks where you have people who will explain to you, will listen, who will try and come on board and understand you son and his environment and work with that (Emma)

These parents have indicated that when a clinician is down to earth, speaks to them in language that they can understand, is positive and understanding and who makes the effort to build good rapport and make them and their children feel comfortable that they make a considerable difference. Professionals clearly have the power to take a vulnerable, confused parent and provide them with the reassure that they need in this sometimes difficult situation. The narratives of participants did suggest that psychology professionals were, at times, able to provide their clients with the assistance and encouragement needed through their journey of making sense of their child's difficulties (Jakobsen & Severinsson, 2006).

Chapter Five

Discussion and Suggestions for Future Research and Practice

The aim of this study was to gain some understanding of the way in which caregivers experience the process of having their child psychologically assessed. The purpose of this study was to look more specifically, through the use of narrative inquiry, into the ways in which these individuals have made sense of the experience of having their child psychologically assessed and the stories that they tell about this. This chapter summarises the themes that emerged from the narratives in this study. This is done, firstly, by grouping narratives together in terms of their general similarities and, secondly, by outlining the overarching themes of all the narratives. The societal discourses and broader contexts that impact upon these themes will also be identified as they assist in the construction of meaning and should not be excluded when considering factors relating to assessment (Burman, 2008; Squire, 2000).

Similar Narrative Groups

Although each of the narratives that have been shared in this study are unique in many ways and each individual has had differing experiences of the process it is possible to group the stories not only according to themes, which has been done in the previous chapter and summarised below, but also according to more general types. For two of the participants the experience of having their child psychologically assessed involved feelings of powerlessness. It was not something that they sought on their own but was instead thrust on them either by professionals or out of necessity due to a crisis. They felt that they

were "in the dark", the process was out of their control and they didn't understand a lot of what was going on or what the future held. Professionals, who were generally portrayed as the villains in the stories, came across to them as being cold, unsympathetic and distant at a time when they felt vulnerable and all they wanted was support and direction. For one of these participants there has been an improvement in their child's mental health despite these difficulties and therefore takes on a dialectic structure. For the other there has in fact been a decline in her son's psychological well-being and therefore has a regressive narrative structure.

For three of the other participants the psychological assessment process was initiated by themselves. They identified a need in their child and actively sought outside help. These participants portrayed the professionals administering the assessments as being the heroes of their stories and for most of these individuals the assessment equipped them with some practical strategies that had resulted in improvement in their child's situation. On the whole these participants found the process of having their child psychologically assessed a positive experience that gave them some direction for the future. Two of these narratives took on a progressive structure in that the characters in the story experienced an improvement in their situation. Only one of these stories took on a dialectic narrative structure because despite these improvements there had been struggles along the way, such as difficulty finding appropriate assessment tools for her child.

The final group includes two participants who had not initiated the assessment process but who had been supported through it rather than left alone to figure it out. They had both been informed of their child's learning difficulties by teachers and had in many cases been referred to a school psychologist for psychological assessment. Although both of these participants did seek outside help as well the primary source of the assessment was within the school their child attended and there was direct communication between the psychologist and the teachers. For these individuals it seemed that although there were some frustrations along the way, such as slow processing and lack of understanding from some teachers, the process of having their child psychologically assessed was supported by teachers and systems within the school and progress has been seen or is expected to be seen. These narratives have both therefore taken on a dialectic narrative structure in which the caregivers and some of the professionals are the heroes.

General Findings and Implications for Practice

A number of themes emerged from the narratives of the caregivers who participated in this study. The first was that of "suspected 'diagnosis and own expertise". I found that some of the caregivers who had their child psychologically assessed had already made up their minds as to the diagnosis that they were expecting to receive for their child, at the very least they had a suspicion or hypothesis, and many either had personal or professional experience that had informed this hypothesis or they had taken it upon themselves to research these diagnoses prior to the assessment in order to be better informed. These caregivers then wanted confirmation of their concerns from a professional. This theme is quite consistent with the research that has found that the general public are increasingly making use of the internet to self-diagnose (Ahmad et al., 2006; Emmons, 2010). Once they had received the confirmation they were seeking this would then give them licence to pursue solutions, whether that be through personal means, such as ways of behaving at home, or through referrals to appropriate services. The difficulty that access to materials that allow self-diagnosis presents is that it can result in caregivers feeling uneasy about the diagnoses that are inconsistent with their own hypotheses and they may seek multiple opinions until their own is confirmed, which may lead to a great deal of frustration for the caregivers. A way that clinicians may be able to deal with this situation is for them to acknowledge the caregivers' possible expertise and potential hypotheses regarding what the difficulties may be relating to their child and ask for their input. This more collaborative approach may inform the professional's assessment of the child and in some cases the caregiver may be correct in their suspicions. When they are found to be mistaken the reasons for this should be clearly outlined so that caregivers do not feel that their insights have been disregarded. It is important for the caregivers of children to be very involved in the assessment process to maintain a "family-centred perspective" as this reduces stress and increases the family's feeling of empowerment (Minke & Scott, 1995).

The second category was "seeing 'inside' the child". Many of the caregivers that I spoke to sought an assessment in order to gain insight into their child. This insight appeared to be out of their reach without the assistance of a psychology professional, who apparently has the key to unlocking the inner mysteries of their child. Once they have acquired a greater knowledge of their child caregivers appear to feel better equipped to know what to do about their child's difficulties and in one case the caregiver seemed to feel that the very

process of "focusing" on her son for an extended period had in itself been a helpful experience because she gained insight and he was able to have someone to talk to. Rose (1986) has discussed how people's understanding of themselves is increasingly mediated through the 'psy-disciplines'. While psychological discourses increasingly give people access to understanding motives and behaviour it can also lead to a situation in which people feel disempowered and less able to rely on their own judgements and perceptions even of those closest to them.

The third idea that surfaced during this process was that of "bittersweet labels". There seemed to be some ambivalence around the topic of diagnoses as initially when caregivers spoke about diagnoses or "labels", whether these were formally given by a psychologist or whether the caregiver had had a suspicion that they may be, they were portrayed in a negative light and described as "labelling" or "branding". On further discuss, however, it appeared that although these diagnoses had unpleasant connotations for many of them they also held some aspects that were considered favourable. For one participant the "label" meant that she may not be entirely to blame for her child's difficulties. For others it held the hope of a solution, almost as though once it has a name it also has a range of possible resolutions. For another caregiver it meant that she could get other professionals, particularly medical professionals, to take her seriously. For her the assessment and the subsequent "label" was "ammunition". In many cases these diagnoses or the process of the assessment, and the suggestions that were made, did in fact result in positive progress and the caregivers have perceived some improvement. Thus the process of having a diagnosis assigned to their child was on one hand negative because it involved the label of "abnormality", which Burman (2008) and Moss (1996) would argue is a social construct that creates inequality, and possible stigma (Jones, 2010; Overholser, 2010) but positive on the other hand because it brought with it answers to the problem (Haghighat, 2008). Thus there appears to be a sense of ambivalence around the issue of "labelling" individuals because it comes with both its advantages and disadvantages (Ho, 2004). In practice it may therefore be helpful to discuss with caregivers their thoughts and possible concerns around diagnoses and their child's "label". If they are having difficulty with the idea of a diagnosis it may be beneficial to work with them towards a new way of constructing it, for example, supporting them to see it as "diversity" rather than abnormality and deficit as well as emphasising the support that is now available to them (Ho, 2004).

The fourth theme that was identified in this study was that of "Questions of guilt and blame". Most of the participants mentioned either directly or indirectly feelings of guilt and questions of blame. They wanted to know if it was because of something that they had done that their child was now having these problems. They also wanted to know what they could do to make things right if they had indeed fallen short of the mark. These concerns are extremely common according to the research on parent's experiences of their children's difficulties particularly since societal discourses tell us that children need to have perfect lives in order to grow up to be "healthy" adults (Burman, 2008; Hale, 2007; Nixon, 1993; Yingling, 1997). Caregivers therefore appear to seek answers to these questions so that they can rectify what they may perceive to have been mistakes or inadequacies. Nixon and Singer (2002) suggest that caregivers may take on blame as a way of feeling that the situation is in some way under their control and that there is someone to blame because it may be easier to deal with than to have no answers and no one to blame. They suggest that the best way to support caregivers in this position is to work with them on the false beliefs that they may hold regarding their involvement in the cause of their child's difficulty and find more factual answers that will still allow them to feel a sense of control. In practice it may therefore be helpful to ask if this is a concern and to address it directly.

The fifth notion that arose, "The good parent", was a unanimous one and was in response to the question: what do you see your role as being in the process? All of the participants in this study saw their role as caring for their children, both practically and through love and support. They also saw their role as providing all that their child needs in order to give them the best opportunity that they possibly can and so that they grow up to be the best people that they can be. Again these ideas are consistent with the discourses which prescribe the role of provider and carer of children to parents (Hoghughi, 1997; Reder et al., 2003) and depict children as vulnerable and in need of provision (Burman, 2008; Moss, 2000). This puts a tremendous amount of pressure on caregivers and may impact on the previous theme around guilt and blame. It appears that these caregivers felt guilty if they perceived that they had fallen short of being the "good parent". In practice it may therefore be helpful for clinicians to acknowledge and applaud caregivers for their efforts to provide and care for their children.

The sixth theme that came out of the study was more negative and was that of "distant professionals". Not all of the participants had had this experience but some perceived the professionals involved in the assessment process, whether they were medical professionals, psychologists or teachers, as being clinical, unsympathetic, patronising, lofty and distrusting of the caregivers' views. This resulted a feeling of broken trust for many of the caregivers that I spoke to because when in this vulnerable position they were looking for someone to put their trust in and when they were disappointed in the response they received, broken trust was the consequence. Unfortunately these experiences are not uncommon, according to current research, and do often result in individuals feeling a loss of trust. Researchers have shown how some people have had difficulties with the perception that professionals are cold and lacking in empathy, which results in a breakdown in the client-practitioner relationship (Berwick, 2003; Westbrook, Nordholm, & McGee, 1984). Thus professionals administering psychological assessments need to be constantly aware of the culture that they create through their work. From this study it is clear that the caregivers of children being assessed feel very vulnerable and are seeking a professional who is warm, caring and empathetic.

One of the other ways that this apparent power relation is made manifest is through a lack of communication to the caregivers from these professionals. Therefore, "communication" was the seventh category that was identified. Many participants commented on the use of jargon and acronyms that they could not understand. Some said that they felt unfamiliar with how systems worked, what resources were available and what they could do as a family to help the situation but were not given the desired information. Some caregivers reported having had decisions made relating to their child's treatment without explanation. This resulted in a feeling that they had no control which the caregivers found very distressing. There were however times when the communication between caregivers and professionals was present and effective and the impact of that on the caregivers was extremely positive. This further emphasises the importance of good communication. One participant reporting having to come up with strategic ways of interacting with these professionals in order to gain some information and in that way some control. It is therefore vitally important that professionals maintain good, clear communication with the caregivers of children they assess so that they feel empowered to make decisions and seek appropriate support (Stewart, 1995).

Another way in which the power relation between caregivers and professionals was played out was through the perceived disapproval when caregiver challenged or questioned what the professionals were saying. This idea is titled "challenging the system". Some participants reported that it was difficult for them to express disagreement with the professionals because it was "frowned upon" and would often result in them being "discounted" or "brushed aside". One participant in particular felt that when she did not "comply" with all that the professionals said that there would be a "passive" withdrawing of support. This experience of being disregarded because of challenging the system has been identified in previous research as well (Jakobsen & Severinsson, 2006). Being disregarded can have a very disempowering affect on caregivers because it results in a limited communication and therefore limited decision making ability (Stewart, 1995). Professionals need to ensure that they have an open, positive attitude towards challenges and questioning by the caregivers of child with whom they are working so that caregivers are not left "in the dark" and isolated.

A ninth theme that emerged was that of "inadequate measures". Some participants expressed the idea that they did not feel that the assessments were necessarily relevant, for example asking for information that did not seem necessary, appropriate, such as using assessments that had a lot of verbal content with an autistic child who was becoming increasingly non-verbal or accurate, for instance suggesting the existence of a diagnosis what the caregiver was convinced was inappropriate. Once again the inconsistency of opinion between caregivers and professionals is one that has been noted in a previous study and therefore is not an unusual experience for these participants to have had (Szatmari et al., 1994). It is likely that caregivers' increased access to diagnostic and related information has resulted in an increased likelihood of discrepancies between professionals and their clients' opinions because their clients are now more likely to have an opinion on these topics than before (Ahmad et al., 2006; Emmons, 2010). It may therefore be beneficial for professionals to ask caregivers if they felt that the assessment was an appropriate means of gaining the relevant information and if not to discuss it with them. This may mean that the professional gains some insight from the caregiver and together they come up with a solution or for the professional to provide a more suitable explanation of what the assessment has entailed and address specific concerns.

A couple of participants also reported that their child had been "Over assessed". This is the tenth theme in this study. This feeling of being "over assessed" has resulted in the children refusing to cooperate during assessments, "switching off" and becoming very "scathing" and "sceptical" of the professionals administering the tests. For one child in particular, these repeated and ongoing assessments have resulted in some permanent psychological damage, according to his mother. He now feels "different", is fearful of trying new things lest he fails, thinks he is "stupid" and is distrusting of others. This damage according to Burman (2008) and Morss (1996) would be due to the process, typical of assessments, of classifying children as "normal" and "abnormal". It also emphasises the importance that is given to emotional development within children by the societal discourses which have influenced this experience (Dowling, 2010). For many of these caregivers the assessment process has been "a never ending story". It has been going for years and they expect that it will continue for many years to come. This thought leaves them feeling exhausted and weary. To address these concerns professionals administering assessments should consider carefully before assessing a child who has already been assessed numerous times. Being creative in their approach towards the collection of data may be helpful as well as making every effort to validate the child and praise them for their strengths and not simply focus on their difficulties (American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 1997).

As a result of these negative experiences many of the caregivers in this study identified yet a second role that they took on. This, the eleventh category, is titled "The caregiver as the defender and advocate". It involves ensuring that their child is "respected", acknowledged and not misunderstood. It also means that the caregiver acts as the "voice" for their child, who they feel may not be able to represent themselves in these situations. This role also entails being a "guard" for their child to protect them from the wave upon wave of assessments and interventions that were administered and seemed beyond the caregivers control in some instances. These caregivers even displayed this role in their conversations with me in which they would regularly tell me of their children's good qualities and strengths as through to ensure that they were still really likable despite these difficulties. Here discourses around the parental role of protector are made evident (Hoghughi, 1997) as well as discourses around childhood being a time of total dependence on caregivers' protection (Burman, 2008; Moss, 2000). By fostering a sense of trust and control in the caregivers through good communication and open discuss professionals are likely to

create an environment in which caregivers may no longer feel the need to defend and advocate for their child but instead will feel that they have an ally in the clinician. This sense of security could be facilitated further by speaking regularly of the strengths and abilities of the caregiver's child, which creates a more holistic picture for both the caregiver and the professional (American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 1997).

Finally, although many of the professionals that these participants encountered were perceived in a negative light there were some who had a very positive effect on the children and on their caregivers during this time. This category is entitled "the helpful professional". These individuals who helped both caregivers and children along the way included medical professionals, psychologists and teachers and seemed to have had a profound influence on the lives of these individuals. According to Jakobsen and Severinsson (2006) many people do report having positive experiences involving caring and supportive health professionals. The qualities that were described included good, clear communication, understanding, empathy, warmth and a willingness to support and listen to the caregivers. This serves as a good reminder to all professionals of the importance of these in practice.

Although each of the stories that were told in this study are unique in many ways one thing is common throughout and that is that for every one of the individuals the process of having their child psychologically assessed has had a considerable impact on them. For some it was felt more than others but for all of them it would appear that it was a significant event in their lives. This is a good reminder to clinicians working with caregivers in the context of the psychological assessment of their child that although this may feel routine within professional practice it is something that is having a profound impact on the caregivers of the children. This knowledge may enhance professional empathy in these situations.

Future Research

This study has brought with it some insights but it has also opened up some questions which could be explored in future research. Firstly, future research could explore the ways in which the children who are being assessed experience the process. It may be helpful to use methods of data collection that are more appropriate for children, for example drawing

pictures that represent their experience, since this is considered one of the ways in which children can represent their emotions and experiences (Sadock & Sadock, 2007), and comparing them. It would also be necessary to conduct the data collection as soon after the assessment as possible so that the experience is still fresh in their minds. Secondly, the same could be done with the teachers involved with the process. It would also be helpful for the same study to be done with parents but within specific services that deal with specific difficulties to determine if there is any variety between services and diagnoses.

Challenge

The main challenge that came up during this study was that of recruiting participants. This may have resulted, firstly, due to ethical constraints which prevented me from contacting potential participants from the clinic myself as their details are confidential. Had I been able to personally invite and talk to potential participants I may have had a better response. A second possible reason for this challenge, when thinking reflexively, may have been my association with psychologists and related fields. This may have prevented some people from agreeing to participate because they may have had a negative experience and did not wish to share this with someone they may have perceived as being very closely connected to the clinic or to professions with which they had had contact. In the end I applied to ethics and was given permission to use snowball sampling to recruit more participants.

Conclusion

This study has used a narrative inquiry methodology to explore the ways in which primary caregivers experience the process of having their child psychologically assessed. This study has a qualitative and social constructionist theoretical framework which allowed me to investigate these caregivers' perceptions and the way in which they constructed these in order to create meaning of their experiences (Gergen, 1985; Parker, 2005). In particular this study investigated that way in which these caregivers used narratives to construct meaning (Parker, 2005). I have endeavoured to note the context in which these stories take place (Squire, 2000), the function that they are serving for the participant (Riessman,

2008) as well as acknowledging that mine is only one of a number of possible interpretations of these narratives. The analysis has involved exploring each of the narratives individually by outlining sequential events and main themes. This was followed by identifying and analysing the overarching themes that are present within all the narratives as well as noting similar types of stories. Therefore, this study utilised an analysis method very similar to the categorical-content perspective (Hiles & Čermák, 2008). Burman (2008) has criticised psychological assessments for neglecting to consider the broader social contexts in which families and individuals are situated and instead tend to think of the root of the problem as being within the individual or family. For this reason I have identified social discourses around concepts, such as childhood and intellectual functioning, and their impact on the narratives in this study.

References

- Ahmad, F., Hudak, P.L., Bercovitz, K., Hollenberg, E., & Levinson, W. (2006). Are physicians ready for patients with Internet-based health information? *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 8(3), 46-53. Retrieved from http://ovidsp.tx.ovid.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. (1997). Practice Parameters for The Psychiatric Assessment of Children and Adolescents. *American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 36(10), 4S-20S.
- Andrews, M., Sclater, S.D., Rustin, M., Squire, C., & Treacher, A. (2000). Introduction. In M. Andrews, S.D. Sclater, C. Squire & A. Treacher (Eds.), *Lines of Narrative:*Psychosocial Perspectives (pp. 1-10). London: Routledge
- Andrews, M., Sclater, S.D., Squire, C., & Tamboukou, M. (2004). Narrative research. In C.Seale, G. Gobo, J.F. Gubrium, & D. Silverman (Eds.), *Qualitative research practice* (pp. 109-124). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Andrews, M. (2008) Never the last word: revisiting data. In M. Andrews, C. Squire & M. Tamboukou (Eds.), *Doing Narrative Research* (pp. 86-101). London: Sage Publishers Ltd.
- Angermeyer, M.C., Breier, P., Dietrich, S., Kenzine, D., & Matschinger, H. (2005). Public

- attitudes toward psychiatric treatment: an international comparison. *Soc Psychiatry* and *Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *40*, 855-864. doi: 10.1007/s00127-005-0958-x
- Angermeyer, M.C., & Matschinger, H. (2005). Have there been any changes in the public's attitudes towards psychiatric treatment? Results from representative population surveys in Germany in the years 1990 and 2001. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 111, 68–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2004.00441.x
- Annan, J. (2010). Test Use by Educational Psychologists' in New Zealand. *International Association of Applied Psychologists Bulletin*, 22(2-3), 15-17.
- Bar-On, R. (2007). How important is it to educate people to be emotionally intelligent and can it be done? In R. Bar-On, J.G. Maree & M.J. Elias (Eds.), *Educating People to be Emotionally Intelligent* (pp. 1-14). Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.
- Bar-On, R., Maree, J.G., & Elias, M.J. (2007). What this book is about. In R. Bar-On, J.G. Maree & M.J. Elias (Eds.), *Educating People to be Emotionally Intelligent* (pp. xiii-xvi). Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.
- Bartleet, R. (2009). The Ongoing and Reviewable Resourcing Scheme: Policy and Outcomes Mismatch? *New Zealand Journal of Teachers' Work, 6*(2), 123-128. Retrieved from http://www.teacherswork.ac.nz/
- Berwick, D.M. (2003). Improvement, trust, and the healthcare workforce. *Quality and Safety in Health Care, 12*, i2-i6. doi:10.1136/qhc.12.suppl_1.i2
- Bevan, S., & Bevan, K. (1999). Interviews: meaning in groups. In I. Parker & The Boston Discourse Network (Eds.), *Critical Textwork: An Introduction to Varieties of Discourse and Analysis* (pp. 16-28). PA, USA: Open University Press.
- Bishop, E.G., Cherny, S.S., & Hewitt, J.K. (2003). Development analysis of IQ. In S.A. Petrill, R. Plomin, J.C. DeFries, & J.K. Hewitt (Eds.), *Nature, Nurture, and the Transition to Early Adolescence* (pp.13-27). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Brock, S.E., Davis, J., & Christo, C. (2009). *Identifying, assessing and treating dyslexia at school.* New York: Springer. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-88600-8
- Brock, S.E., Jimerson, S.R., & Hansen, R.L. (2009). *Identifying, assessing and treating ADHD at school.* New York: Springer. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-0501-7
- Bruner, J. (1990). Acts of meaning. MA, USA: Harvard University Press.
- Burman, E. (2008). *Deconstructing Developmental Psychology* (2nd ed.). New York: Routledge.
- Cassady, J.C., & Boseck, J.J. (2008). Educational psychology and emotional intelligence: Toward a functional model for emotional information processing in schools. In J.C. Cassady & M.A. Eissa (Eds.), *Emotional Intelligence: Perspectives on Educational and Positive Psychology* (pp. 3-24). New York: Peter Lang Publishing, Inc.
- Chang, K.B.T. (2008). Can we improve emotional intelligence? Addressing the positive psychology goal of enhancing strengths. In J.C. Cassady & M.A. Eissa (Eds.), *Emotional Intelligence: Perspectives on Educational and Positive Psychology* (pp. 25-46). New York: Peter Lang Publishing, Inc.
- Cleaver, H., Walker, S., & Meadows, P. (2004). *Assessing Children's needs and circumstances*. London: Jessica Knightley Publishers.
- Cook, D.T. (2005). The dichotomous child in and of commercial culture. *Childhood: A Global Journal of Child Research. Vol.12*(2), 155-159. Retrieved from http://ejournals.ebsco.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (2008). *Basics of qualitative research* (3rd ed.). LA, USA: Sage Publications, Inc
- Crites, S. (1997). The narrative quality of experience. In L.P. Hinchman & S.K.

- Hinchman (Eds.), *Memory, Identity, Community: The Idea of Narrative in the Human Sciences* (pp. 1-5). New York: State University of New York Press.
- Crotty, M. (1998). *The foundations of social research: Meaning and perspective in the research process.* Australia: Allen & Unwin.
- Dean, R.G. (1998). A narrative approach to groups. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 26 (1), 23-37. Retrieved from http://www.springerlink.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- Dogra, N., Vostanis, P., Abuateya, H., & Jewson, N. (2007). Children's mental health services and ethnic diversity: Gujarati families' perspectives of service provision for mental health problems. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, *44*(2), 275-291. doi: 10.1177/1363461507077727.
- Dowling, M. (2010). *Young children's personal, social and emotional development* (3rd ed.). London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Durie, M. (2001). *Mauri Ora: The Dynamics of Māori Health*. Auckland, NZ: Oxford University Press.
- Edvardsson, D., Rasmussen, B.H., Riessman, C.K. (2003). Ward atmospheres of horror and healing: a comparative analysis of narrative. Health: An Interdisciplinary Journal for the Social Study of Health, Illness and Medicine 7(4), 377-396.

 Retrieved from http://ejournals.ebsco.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- Eells, T. (1997). Psychotherapy case formulation: History and current status. In T. Eells (Ed.), *Handbook of psychotherapy case formulation* (pp.1-25). New York/London: Guilford.
- Elias, M.J., Arnold, H., & Hussey, C.S. (2003). Introduction: EQ, IQ, and effective

- learning and citizenship. In M.J. Elias, H. Arnold & C.S. Hussey (Eds.), $EQ + IQ = Best \ Leadership \ Practices for \ Caring and \ Successful \ Schools (pp.3-10). Thousand Oaks, California: Corwin Press, Inc.$
- Emmons, K.K. (2010). *Black dogs and blue words: Depression and gender in the age of self-care*. Piscataway, NJ: Rutgers University Press. Retrieved from http://ovidsp.tx.ovid.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- Freeland, E.M., Terry, R.A., & Rodgers, J.L. (2008). Emotional intelligence: what's in a name? In J.C. Cassady & M.A. Eissa (Eds.), *Emotional Intelligence: Perspectives on Educational and Positive Psychology* (pp. 93-120). New York: Peter Lang Publishing, Inc.
- Frunham, A., & Petrides, K.V. (2008). Trait emotional intelligence and happiness. In J.C. Cassady & M.A. Eissa (Eds.), *Emotional Intelligence: Perspectives on Educational and Positive Psychology* (pp. 121-130). New York: Peter Lang Publishing, Inc.
- Gergen, M.M., & Gergen, K.J. (1984). The social construction of narrative accounts. In K.J. Gergen & M.M. Gergen (Eds.), *Historical Social Psychology* (pp.173-189). NJ, USA: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Gergen, K. (1985). The social constructionist movement in modern psychology. *American Psychologist, 40*, 266-275.
- Gergen, K. (1999). An invitation to social constructionism. London: Sage.
- Gordon, N. S. (2000). Researching Psychotherapy, the Importance of the Client's View: A Methodological Challenge. *The Qualitative Report, 4* (3&4).
- Haghighat, R. (2008). Schizophrenia as social discourse: How do people use their diagnosis for social action? *European Psychiatry*, *23*(8), 549-560. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- Hale, B. (2007). Culpability and blame after pregnancy loss. Journal of Medical Ethics:

- Journal of the Institute of Medical Ethics, 33(1), 24-27. Retrieved from http://jme.bmj.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- Harrington, L., & Lui, J.H. (2002). Self-enhancement and attitudes toward high achievers: A bicultural view of the independent and interdependent self. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 33 (1), 37-55. doi: 10.1177/0022022102033001003
- Herbert, A.M.L., & Morrison, L.E. (2007). Practice of Psychology in Aotearoa New Zealand: A Māori perspective. In I.M. Evans, J.J. Rucklidge and M. O'Driscoll (Eds.), *Professional Practice of Psychology in Aotearoa New Zealand* (pp. 35-47). Wellington, New Zealand: The New Zealand Psychological Society, Inc.
- Hiles, D., & Čermák, I. (2008). Narrative Psychology. In C. Willig and W. Stainton-Rogers (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research in psychology* (pp. 147-164). London: Sage Publications, Inc
- Hinchman, L.P., & Hinchman, S.K. (1997). Memory. In L.P. Hinchman & S.K. Hinchman (Eds.), *Memory, Identity, Community: The Idea of Narrative in the Human Sciences* (pp. 1-5). New York: State University of New York Press.
- Hirini, P. (1997). Counselling Maori clients. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 26 (2), 13-18.
- Ho, A. (2004). To be labelled, or not to be labelled: that is the question. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *32*(2), 86-92. doi/10.1111/j.1468-3156.2004.00284
- Hoghughi, M. (1997). Parenting at the margins: some consequences of inequality. In K.N. Dwivedi (Ed.), *Enhancing Parenting Skills: A Guide Book for Professionals Working with Parents* (pp. 21-42). Chichester: Wiley
- Hughes, D.A. (2009). Attachment focused parenting: Effective strategies to care for children. New York: W. W. Norton & Co. Retrieved from http://ovidsp.tx.ovid.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/

- Hultqvist, K., & Dahlberg, G. (2001). *Governing the Child in the New Millennium*. New York: RoutledgeFalmer. Retrieved from http://books.google.co.nz/
- Hydén, M. (2008). Narrating sensitive topics. In M. Andrews, C. Squire & M. Tamboukou (Eds.), *Doing Narrative Research* (pp. 121-136). London: Sage Publishers Ltd.
- Jakobsen E.S., & Severinsson, E. (2006). Parents' experiences of collaboration with community healthcare professionals. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, *13*(5), 498–505. doi/10.1111/j.1365-2850.2006.00971.x/pdf
- Jimerson, S.R., Annan, J., Skokut, M., & Renshaw, T.L. (2009). Educational Psychology in New Zealand: Results of the 2006 International School Psychology Survey. School Psychology International, 30(5), 443–455. doi: 10.1177/0143034309341617
- Jones, J.P. (2010). Implicit and explicit attitudes of educators toward the emotional disturbance label. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences*, 71(2-A), 446. Retrieved from http://ovidsp.tx.ovid.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- Kamphaus, R.W. (2009). Assessment of intelligence and achievement. In T.B. Gutkin & C.R. Reynolds (Eds.), *The Handbook of School Psychology* (4th ed., pp. 230-246). USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Kanfer, R., Eyberg, S.M., & Krahn, G.L. (1992). Interviewing Strategies in ChildAssessment. In C.E. Walker & M.C. Roberts (Eds.), *Handbook of clinical child*psychology (2nd ed., pp. 49-62). Oxford, England: John Wiley & Sons.
- Kazdin, A. E. (2008). Evidence-Based Treatment and Practice: new Opportunities to Bridge Clinical Research and Practice, Enhance the Knowledge Base, and Improve Patient Care. *American Psychologist*, *63*(3), 146-159.

- Keats, P.A. (2009). Multiples text analysis in narrative research: visual, written, and spoken stories of experience. *Qualitative Research*, *9*, 181-195. doi: 10.1177/1468794108099320
- Kerby, A.P. (1997). The language of the self. In L.P. Hinchman & S.K. Hinchman (Eds.),Memory, Identity, Community: The Idea of Narrative in the Human Sciences (pp. 1-5). New York: State University of New York Press.
- Ladd, G.W. (2005). *Children's Peer Relations and Social Competence: A Century of Progress*. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- La Greca, A.M., Kuttler, A.F., & Stone, W.L. (2001). Assessing Children through interviews and behavioural observations. In C.E. Walker & M.C. Roberts (Eds.). Handbook of clinical child psychology (3rd ed., pp. 90-110). New York: John Wiley & Sons. Inc.
- Lauber, C., Carlos, N., & Rossier Wulf, R. (2005). Lay beliefs about treatments for people with mental illness and their implications for antistigma strategies. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *50*(12), 745-752. Retrieved from http://web.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- Lee, R.M., & Renzetti, C.M. (1990). The problems of researching sensitive topics: An overview and introduction. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *33*(5), 510-528. doi: 10.1177/0002764290033005002
- Legard, R., Keegan, J., & Ward, K. (2003). In-depth interviews. In J. Ritchie & J. Lewis (Eds.), *Qualitative research practice: a guide for social science students and researchers* (pp.138-169). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Levitt, H., Butler, M., & Hill, T. (2006). What Clients Find Helpful in Psychotherapy: Developing Principles for Facilitating Moment-to Moment Change. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, *53*(3), 314-324.

- Lieblich, A., Tubal-Mashiach, R., & Zilber, T. (1998). *Narrative Research: Reading, Analysing and Interpretation*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Lincon, Y.S., & Guba, E.G. (2000). Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging confluences. In N.K. Denzin, & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (2nd ed., pp. 163-188). CA, USA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- McLeod, J. (1997). Narrative and Psychotherapy. London: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Meier, A. (2002). Narrative in psychotherapy theory, practice, and research: A critical review. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research, 2*(4), 239-251. doi: 10.1080/14733140212331384725
- Mental Health Commission (2000). Clinical Assessment of Infants, Children & Youth with Mental Health Problems. Wellington: New Zealand.
- Ministry of Education (n.d.). *Referral and Assessment*. Retrieved from http://www.minedu.govt.nz/
- Ministry of Education (1998). *Individual Education Programme (IEP) Guidelines*. Retrieved from http://www.minedu.govt.nz/
- Ministry of Health (1998). *Child Health Strategy*. Retrieved from http://www.moh.govt.nz/
- Ministry of Health (2008). New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline. Retrieved from http://kea.massey.ac.nz/
- Ministry of Health (2001). New Zealand Guidelines for the Assessment and Treatment of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. Retrieved from http://www.moh.govt.nz/
- Minke, K.M., & Scott, M.M. (1995). Parent-professional relationships in early

- intervention: A qualitative investigation. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 15*(3), 335-352. Retrieved from http://web.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- Mishler, E.G. (1986). Research Interviewing: Context and Narrative. MA, USA: Harvard University Press.
- Morss, J.R. (1996). *Growing Critical: Alternatives to Developmental Psychology*. London: Routledge. Retrieved from http://books.google.co.nz/
- Moss, P., Dillon, J., & Statham, J. (2000). The 'child in need' and the 'rich child': discourses, constructs and practice. *Critical Social Policy*, *20*(2), 233-254. doi: 10.1177/026101830002000203
- Murdoch, S. (2007). *IQ: A Smart History of a Failed Idea*. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Nixon, C.D. (1993). Reducing self-blame and guilt in parents of children with severe disabilities. In G.H.S. Singer & L.E. Powers (Eds.), *Families, disability, and empowerment: Active coping skills and strategies for family interventions* (pp. 175-201). Baltimore, MD: Paul H Brookes Publishing. Retrieved from http://ovidsp.tx.ovid.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- Nixon, C.D., & Singer, G.H.S. (2002). Group cognitive-behavioral treatment for excessive parental self-blame and guilt. In J. Blacher, B.L. Baker, & D. Braddock (Eds.), Families and Mental Retardation: A Collection of Notable AAMR Journal Articles Across the 20th Century (pp. 331-338). Washington, DC: American Association on Mental Retardation.
- Olssen, M. (1988). The social and political logic of psychometrics. In M. Olssen (Ed.),

 Mental Testing in New Zealand: Critical and Oppositional Perspectives (pp. 29-59).

 Otago, New Zealand: The University of Otago Press.

- Orchowski, L.M., Spickard, B.A., & McNamara J.R. (2006). Cinema and the valuing of psychotherapy: implications for clinical practice. *Professional Psychology:*Research and Practice, 37(5), 506-514. doi: 10.1037/0735-7028.37.5.506
- Overholser, J.C. (2010). You've got to believe: Core beliefs that underlie effective psychotherapy. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, *40*(4), 185-194. Retrieved from http://www.springerlink.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/

- Palmer, B., Donaldson, C., & Stough, C. (2008). Emotional intelligence and life satisfaction. In J.C. Cassady & M.A. Eissa (Eds.), *Emotional Intelligence:*Perspectives on Educational and Positive Psychology (pp. 131-144). New York:
 Peter Lang Publishing, Inc.
- Parker, I. (2005). *Qualitative Psychology: Introducing Radical Research*. Berkshire, UK: Open University Press.
- Parker I. (2004). Criteria for qualitative research in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *1*, 95-106.
- Parker, I. (1999). Introduction: varieties of discourse and analysis. In I. Parker & The Boston Discourse Network (Eds.), *Critical Textwork: An Introduction to Varieties of Discourse and Analysis* (pp. 1-12). PA, USA: Open University Press.
- Pavey, B., Meehan, M., & Waugh, A. (2010). *Dyslexia-Friendly Further and Higher Education*. London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Peacock, J. (2002). *ADD and ADHD*. Bloomington, MS: Capstone Press. Retrieved October 26, 2010, from http://kea.massey.ac.nz/
- Petrides, K.V., Sangareau, Y., Furnham, A., & Frederickson, N. (2008). Trait emotional

- intelligence and children's peer relations at school. In J.C. Cassady & M.A. Eissa (Eds.), *Emotional Intelligence: Perspectives on Educational and Positive Psychology* (pp. 63-76). New York: Peter Lang Publishing, Inc.
- Phoenix, A. (2008). Analysing narrative contexts. In M. Andrews, C. Squire & M. Tamboukou (Eds.), *Doing Narrative Research* (pp. 64-77). London: Sage Publishers Ltd.
- Polkinghorne, D.E. (1988). *Narrative Knowing and the Human Sciences*. USA: State University of New York Press.
- Prout, A. (2005). The Future of Childhood. New York: Routledge Falmer.
- Reder, R., Duncan, S., & Lucey, C. (2003). What principles guide parenting assessments? In P. Reder, S. Duncan, & C. Lucey (Eds.), *Studies in the Assessment of Parenting* (pp. 3-26). New York: Brunner-Routledge.
- Rennie, D.L. (2004). Anglo-North American qualitative counseling and psychotherapy research. *Psychotherapy Research*, *14*(1), 37-55. doi: 10.1093/ptr/kph003
- Riessman, C.K. (1993). Narrative analysis. CA, USA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Riessman, C.K. (2008). *Narrative methods for the human sciences*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Riessman, C.K., & Speedy, J. (2007). Narrative inquiry in the psychotherapy professions:

 A critical review. In D.J. Clandinin (Ed.), *Handbook of narrative inquiry: Mapping a methodology* (pp. 426-456). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publishers, Inc.
- Reitman, D. (2006). Overview of behavioral assessment with children. In M. Hersen (Ed.), *Clinician's Handbook of Child Behavioral Assessment* (pp. 3-24). CA, US: Elsevier Academic Press. Retrieved from http://ovidsp.tx.ovid.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/

- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., & Elam (2003). Designing and selecting samples. In J. Ritchie & J. Lewis (Eds.), *Qualitative research practice: a guide for social science students and researchers* (pp.77-108). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Robson, C. (2007). How to do a research project: A guide for undergraduate students.

 MA, USA: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.
- Rose, N. (1996). *Inventing Our Selves: Psychology, Power, and Personhood.*Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Sadock, B.J., & Sadock, V.A. (2007). *Kaplan & Sadock's synopsis of psychiatry*(10th ed.). PA, USA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Salmon, P., & Riessman, C.K. (2008). Looking back on narrative research: An exchange. In M. Andrews, C. Squire & M. Tamboukou (Eds.), *Doing Narrative Research* (pp. 78-85). London: Sage Publishers Ltd.
- Schwandt, T.A. (2000). Three epistemological stances for qualitative inquiry: interpretivism, hermeneutics, and social constructionism. In N.K. Denzin, & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (2nd ed., pp. 189-213). CA, USA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Shanahan, L., & Sobolewski, J.M. (2003). Child effects as family process. In A.C. Crouter & A. Booth (Eds.), *Children's Influence on Family Dynamics: The Neglected Side of Family Relationships* (pp. 237-252). New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.
- Skelton, T., & Valentine, G. (1998). *Cool Places: Geographies of Youth Cultures*.

 London: Routledge. Retrieved November 5, 2010, from http://books.google.co.nz/
- Smith, P.K., Cowie, H., & Blades, M. (2003). *Understanding Children's Development* (4th ed.). MA: Blackwell Publishing.
- Snape, D., & Spencer, L. (2003). The foundations of qualitative research. In J. Ritchie &

- J. Lewis (Eds.), *Qualitative research practice: a guide for social science students and researchers* (pp.1-23). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Speedy, J. (2000). The 'storied' helper: narrative ideas and practices in counselling and psychotherapy. *European Journal of Psychotherapy and Counselling, 3*(3), 361-374. doi: 10.1080/13642530010012011
- Spencer, L., Ritchie, J., & O'Connor, W. (2003). Analysis: practices, principles and processes. In J. Ritchie & J. Lewis (Eds.), *Qualitative research practice: a guide for social science students and researchers* (pp.199-218). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Squire, C. (2000). Narrative and Culture: Introduction. In M. Andrews, S.D. Sclater, C. Squire & A. Treacher (Eds.), *Lines of Narrative: Psychosocial Perspectives* (pp. 13-17). London: Routledge
- Squire, C. (2008). Experience-centred and culturally-oriented approaches to narrative. In M. Andrews, C. Squire & M. Tamboukou (Eds.), *Doing Narrative Research* (pp. 41-63). London: Sage Publishers Ltd.
- Squire, C., Andrews, M., & Tamboukou, M. (2008). Introduction: What is narrative research? In M. Andrews, C. Squire & M. Tamboukou (Eds.), *Doing Narrative Research* (pp. 1-21). London: Sage Publishers Ltd.
- Statistics New Zealand (1999). *New Zealand's Children*. Retrieved from http://www.stats.govt.nz/
- Stewart, M.A. (1995). Effective physician-patient communication and health outcomes: a review. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, *152*(9), 1423–1433. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- Szatmari, P., Archer, L., Fisman, S., & Streiner, D.L. (1994). Parent and Teacher

- Agreement in the Assessment of Pervasive Developmental Disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *24*(6), 703-717. Retrieved from http://www.springerlink.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- The Werry Centre (2009). A Literature Review: Mental Health and Alcohol and other Drug Screening, Assessment and Treatment for Youth Justice Populations.

 Retrieved from http://www.werrycentre.org.nz/
- Thomson, C., Brown, D., Jones, L., Walker, J., Moore, D.W., Anderson, A., Davies, T., Medcalf, J., Glynn T.L., & Koegel, R.L. (2003). Resource Teachers Learning and Behavior: Collaborative Problem Solving to Support Inclusion. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 5(2), 101-111. doi: 10.1177/10983007030050020501
- Waska, R. (2005). A day in the life of a psychotherapist: part one. *Psychodynamic Practice 11*(1), 7-15. doi: 10.1080/14753630400030114
- Weisner, T.S. (2005). Introduction. In T.S. Weisner (Ed.), *Discovering Successful Pathways in Children's Development: Mixed Methods in the Study of Childhood and Family Life* (pp. 1-20). Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Westbrook, M.T., Nordholm, L.A., & McGee, J.E. (1984). Cultural differences in reactions to patient behaviour: A comparison of Swedish and Australian health professionals. *Social Science and Medicine*, *19*(9), 939-947. doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(84)90323-X
- Yingling, S.L. (1997). Mothers of adult women at health risk: Psychological implications.

 Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering.

 Vol.57(9-B), Mar 1997, pp. 5571. Retrieved from

 http://ovidsp.tx.ovid.com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/
- Zafar, A.M., Jawaid, A., Ashraf, H., Fatima, A., Anjum, R., & Qureshi, S.U. (2009).

Psychotherapy as a treatment modality for psychiatric disorders: perceptions of general public of Karachi, Pakistan. *BMC Psychiatry 9*(37), 1-5. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-9-37.

Appendices

Appendix A

Information Sheet

Lead investigator:

Full Name: Jessica Niemand

Position: Masters Student, Massey University

Address: School of Psychology

Private Bag 102 904

North Shore City 0745

Auckland

New Zealand

Telephone: (027) 272 8006

Supervisor:

Full Name: Beverly Haarhoff

Position: Senior Lecturer, School of Psychology, Massey University

Address: Centre for Psychology

Private Bag 102 904

North Shore City 0745

Auckland

New Zealand

Telephone: (09) 414 0800 (extn 41223)

Title:

How do primary caregivers understand the psychological assessment process undergone by their child?

Introduction

I would like to invite you to take part in a study being conducted at Massey University to see what its like for primary caregivers to have their child psychologically assessed. This research is being done through the Centre for Psychology at Massey University and is a student project.

About the study

The aim of this study is to gain an understanding of the way in which primary caregivers make sense of the psychological assessment process undergone by their child. I hope that study will be helpful to you and other primary caregivers like you, because it will

help psychologists to have a better idea of the kind of information that they need to provide primary caregivers who have brought their child in for an assessment. We are hoping that if we understand your perspective better we can increase families' involvement in treatment later on, which, research says, helps to improve the effectiveness of our work.

You have been invited to participate because your child underwent a psychological assessment. We have invited all primary caregivers who meet these criteria.

If you agree to participate you will be interviewed. This can be done at your home, or wherever is more convenient for you. I expect that the interview would take around one hour. If you agree to do the interview I will send you your transcript of your interview to check to make sure it is accurate and to give you an opportunity to take out anything you don't want to include.

I will make sure that it is not possible to identify you in particular in the final report by not including any personal details and by disguising the information in such a way that you are not recognisable. I will let you have a summary of the report once the research is completed.

If you agree to participate in the interviews you do not have to answer all the questions and you may stop the interview at any time. With your permission all interviews will be audiotaped. Any information collected during the interview will be securely stored at the Centre for Psychology.

Once all the interviews have been completed the researcher will interpret the information by highlighting the main ideas expressed in the stories and writing one story that accurately describes all the participants' experiences.

More information on the study can be obtained by contacting either the primary investigator, Jessica Niemand or Dr Bev Haarhoff in the School of Psychology. Both of their details are given at the beginning of this document.

If you need an interpreter one can be provided. Details will be obtained on the

consent form and arrangements made.

You may have a friend, family or whānau support to help you understand the risks

and/or benefits of this study and any other explanation you may require.

We would like to hear from you regarding whether or not you would like to take

part in this study within the month.

Your participation is entirely voluntary (your choice). You do not have to take part

in this study, and if you choose not to take part this will not affect any future care or

treatment. If you do agree to take part in the study, you are free to withdraw from the study

at any time, without having to give a reason, and this will in no way affect your future

healthcare. Participation in this study will be stopped should any harmful effects appear or

if the doctor feels it is not in your best interests to continue.

If you have any questions or concerns about your rights as a participant in this

research study you can contact an independent health and disability advocate. This is a

free service provided under the Health and Disability Commissioner Act.

Telephone: (NZ wide) 0800 555 050 0800 555 050

Free Fax (NZ wide): 0800 2787 7678 (0800 2 SUPPORT)

Email (NZ wide): advocacy@hdc.org.nz

Benefits, risks and inconveniences:

The benefits involved in this study include allowing participants an opportunity to

express their story and experiences. It will also provide participants with information about

their and others' experiences of the same event, which may be of interest to the

participants and they will have the opportunity to contribute to the advancement of

knowledge.

There is, however a risk that being reminded of the experience of having your

child assessed and the events leading up to this may be distressing. This study may also

131

result in extra travel to attend the interview at Massey University, Albany, should you choose to conduct it there. There will be no compensation for these costs.

Confidentiality:

No material that could personally identify you will be used in any reports on this study. All the information collected during the interviews will be kept in a secure location at the Centre for Psychology, Massey University and will be held there for 10 years before being destroyed.

This material will only be seen by the supervisors of this study as well as the primary investigator, Jessica Niemand. Since some caregivers have had their children assessed at Massey it may cause some caregivers to feel anxious about sharing some information, particularly if expressing negative feedback about a therapist, for example. To deal with this a neutral third person, not within the Centre, will be asked to view the interview information after Jessica Niemand has transcribed it and remove all data that identifies the individual and the therapist as well as be available to facilitate any problems that arise (e.g. misconduct of the therapist etc.).

Results:

Each participant will be given a copy of the results of this research. There may be a delay of a few months between the interviews and the completion of the report.

Statement of approval:

This study has received ethical approval from the Health and Disability Northern Y Regional Ethics Committee, ethics reference number NTY/10/04/035.

Please feel free to contact the researcher if you have any questions about this study.

Appendix B

Participant Consent Form – Individual

1)	I have read and I understand the information sheet dated for volunteers taking part in the study designed to explore my understanding of my child's assessment process. I have had the opportunity to discuss this study. I am satisfied with the answers I have been given.	Yes	No	
2)	I have had the opportunity to use whānau support or a friend to help me ask questions and understand the study.	Yes	No	
3)	I understand that taking part in this study is voluntary (my choice), and that I may withdraw from the study at any time, and this will in no way affect my future health care.	Yes	No	
4)	I understand that my participation in this study is confidential and that no material that could identify me will be used in any reports on this study.	Yes	No	
5)	I understand that the investigation will be stopped if it should appear harmful to me.	Yes	No	
6)	I have had time to consider whether to take part in the study.	Yes	No	
7)	I know who to contact if I have any questions about the study in general.	Yes	No	
8)	I consent to my interview being auidotaped.	Yes	No	
9)	I would like the researcher to discuss the outcomes of the study with me.	Yes	No	

Request for interpreter

English	I wish to have an interpreter	Yes	No
Deaf	I wish to have a NZ sign language interpreter		No
Māori	E hiahia ana ahau ki tetahi kaiwhaka Māori/kaiwhaka pakeha korero	Ae	Kao
Cook Island Māori	Ka inangaro au i tetai tangata uri reo	Ae	Kare
Fijian	Au gadreva me dua e vakadewa vosa vei au	lo	Sega
Niuean	Fia manako au ke fakaaoga e taha tagata fakahokohoko kupu		Nakai
Sāmoan	Ou te mana'o ia i ai se fa'amatala upu	loe	Leai
Tokelaun	Ko au e fofou ki he tino ke fakaliliu te gagana Peletania ki na gagana o na motu o te Pahefika	loe	Leai
Tongan	Oku ou fiema'u ha fakatonulea	lo	Ikai
	Other languages to be added following consultation with relevant communities.		

I (full na.	me) hereby consent to take part in this study.
Date:	
Signature:	
Full names of researchers:	
Contact phone number for researchers:	
Project explained by:	
Project role:	
Signature:	
Date:	

This study has received ethical approval from the Health and Disability Northern Y Regional Ethics Committee, ethics reference number NTY/10/04/035.

Appendix C



Letter of Invitation

Dear Sir/Madam

The Centre for Psychology is conducting some research aimed at improving our services. We would like to invite you to participate in a research project being undertaken by one of the Masters students in the School of Psychology, Jessica Niemand. In the attached Information Sheet is all the information on the study to allow you to make an informed decision about whether or not you are prepared to take part in the research.

I will be supervising Jessica's research but in order to ensure that the research does not impact on any future relationship you may have with our service, I will not be given the names of anyone who takes part in the study and any research data that I see will have all potentially identifying data removed from it.

If you have any questions about the research Jessica will be happy to answer these. She can be contacted through the administrator at the Centre for Psychology, Helen McMaster. If you have any issues related to the research that you would like to discuss with a senior member of the School of Psychology, you may contact Dr Bev Haarhoff at 414-0800 (41223) who will also be involved in this research project.

Thank you for your consideration. If you would like to participate, please Jessica Niemand or just sign the attached Consent Form and return it to:

Jessica Niemand School of Psychology Private Bag 102904 NSC Auckland

Yours Sincerely

Dr Kerry Gibson

Appendix D

Interview Guidelines

The method of analysis in this study will involve interviews conducted in a manner similar to that of a conversation. A number of open-ended questions will be decided upon prior to the interviews but these may be adjusted and interviewees may be prompted during the interview to gain further information, in the form of a story if possible. This method of data collection if in line with the narrative methodology employed in this study.

The main questions that will be asked during the interview will include:

"Tell me when you first decided to get help. How did that all happen?"

"How did you understand the assessment process?"

"Did it make sense to you?"

"Did the assessment make any difference to the child's situation?"

"What do you think the psychologist was trying to do?"

"What role do you think you, as a parent, played in this process?"

Prompts may include statements/questions such as:

"Can you remember a time when?"

"Tell me what happened"